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Application for Sale, Transfer, or Merger of a Retail
Public Utility

Pursuant to Texas Water Code § 13.301 and 16 Texas Administrative Code §§ 24.239 and 24.240

Sale, Transfer, or Merger (STM) Application Instructions

IL.

III.

Iv.

COMPLETE: In order for the Commission to find the application sufficient for filing, the Applicant should:

i. Provide an answer to every question and submit any required attachment applicable to the STM request (i.e., agreements or
contracts).

ii. Use attachments or additional pages to answer questions as necessary. If you use attachments or additional pages, reference their
inclusion in the form.

iii. Provide all mapping information as detailed in Part G: Mapping & Affidavits.

FILE: Seven (7) copies of the completed application with numbered attachments. One copy should be filed with no permanent binding,

staples, tabs, or separators; and 7 copies of the portable electronic storage medium containing the digital mapping data.

i. SEND TQO: Public Utility Commission of Texas, Attention: Filing Clerk, 1701 N. Congress Avenue, P.O. Box 13326, Austin,
Texas 78711-3326 (NOTE: Electronic documents may be sent in advance of the paper copy. however thev will not be processed

and added to the Commission’s on-line Interchange until the paper copy is received and file-stamped in Central Records).

The application will be assigned a docket number, and an administrative law judge (ALJ) will issue an order requiring Commission

Staff to file a recommendation on whether the application is sufficient. The ALJ will issue an order after Staff’s recommendation has

been filed:

i. DEFICIENT (Administratively Incomplete): Applicants will be ordered to provide information to cure the deficiencies by a certain
date, usually 30 days from ALJ’s order. Application is not accepted for filing.

ii. SUFFICIENT (Administratively Complete): Applicants will be ordered by the ALJ to give appropriate notice of the application
using the notice prepared by Commission Staff. Application is accepted for filing.

Once the Applicants issue notice, a copy of the actual notice sent and an affidavit attesting to notice should be filed in the docket
assigned to the application. Recipients of notice may request a hearing on the merits.
HEARING ON THE MERITS: An affected party may request a hearing within 30 days of notice. In this event, the application
may be referred to the State Office of Administrative Hearings (SOAH) to complete this request.

TRANSACTION TO PROCEED: at any time following the provision of notice, or prior to 120 days from the last date that proper
notice was given, Commission Staff will file a recommendation for the transaction to proceed as proposed or recommend that the STM
be referred to SOAH for further investigation. The Applicants will be required to file an update in the docket to the ALJ every 30 days
following the approval of the transaction. The transaction must be completed within six (6) months from the ALJ’s order (Note: The
Applicants may request an extension to the 6 month provision for good cause).

. FILE: Seven (7) copies of completed transaction documents and documentation addressing the transfer or disposition of any

outstanding deposits. After receiving all required documents from the Applicants, the application will be granted a procedural schedule
for final processing. The Applicants are requested to consent in writing to the proposed maps and certificates, or tariff if applicable.

VII. FINAL ORDER: The ALJ will issue a final order issuing or amending the applicable CCNs.

FAQ: Terms
Who can use this form? Transferor: Seller
Any retail public utility that provides water or wastewater Transferee: Purchaser

service in Texas.
Who is required to use this form?

A retail public utility that is an investor owned utility (IOU) or a
water supply corporation (WSC) prior to any STM of a water or
sewer system, or utility, or prior to the transfer of a portion of a
certificated service area.

CCN: Cettificate of Convenience and Necessity
STM: Sale, Transfer, or Merger
I0U: Investor Owned Utility
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Transferor: Inline Utilities, LLC

Application Summary

(selling entity)

CCN No.s: 13313 and 21142

IZ Sale IZ Transfer

|:| Merger

Transferee: T&W Water Service Company dba Blue Topaz Utilities

|:| Consolidation |:| Lease/Rental

(acquiring entity)

CCN No.s: 12892 and 21127

m Water M Sewer

County(ies): Harris

[ ] AlLceN

|:| Portion CCN |:| Facilities transfer
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Part A: General Information

1.

Describe the proposed transaction, including the effect on all CCNs involved, and provide details on the existing or expected
land use in the area affected by the proposed transaction. Attach all supporting documentation, such as a contract, a lease, or

proposed purchase agreements:

T&W Water Service Company d/b/a Blue Topaz Utilities (“T&W’) seeks approval of the acquisition of a public drinking water system and sewer
system located in Harris County, Texas owned by Inline Development Corporation under CCN numbers 13313 and 21142. See Attachments 1
and 1A (Confidential) for additional information and Attachment 2 (Confidential) for a copy of the underlying transaction documents. T&W s a
subsidiary of NW Natural Water of Texas, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of NW Natural Water Company, LLC. NW Natural Water Company
LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Northwest Natural Holding Company, a publicly traded company on the New York Stock Exchange. See
Attachment 3 (Confidential) for copies of the appraisal reports provided pursuant to Texas Water Code 13.305 and 16 TAC 24.238.

2.

The proposed transaction will require (check all applicable):

For Transferee (Purchaser) CCN: For Transferor (Scller) CCN:

|:| Obtaining a NEW CCN for Purchaser Cancellation of Seller’'s CCN

Transfer all CCN into Purchaser’s CCN (Merger) Transfer of a Portion of Seller’s CCN to Purchaser
Transfer Portion of CCN into Purchaser’s CCN Only Transfer of Facilitics, No CCN or Customers

| | Transfer all CCN to Purchaser and retain Seller CCN Only Transfer of Customers, No CCN or Facilities
|| Uncertificated area added to Purchaser’s CCN Only Transfer CCN Area, No Customers or Facilities

Part B: Transferor Information

Questions 3 through 5 apply only to the fransferor (current service provider or seller)

A. Name: Inline Utilities, LLC

(individual, corporation, or other legal entity)

|:| Individual |:| Corporation |:| WSC M Other: LLC

B. Mailing Address: (10100 Boudreaux Road, Tomball, Texas 77375

Phone: (281)651-1126 Email: mike.onemartz@gmail.com

C. Contact Person. Please provide information about the person to be contacted regarding this application. Indicate if
this person is the owner, operator, engineer, attorney, accountant, or other title.

Name: Mike Martz Title: Owner

Mailing Address: 10100 Boudreaux Road, Tomball, Texas 77375

Phone: (281)651-1126 Email: mike.onemartz@gmail.com

If the utility to be transferred is an Investor Owned Utility (IOU), for the most recent rate change, attach a copy of the
current tariff and complete A through B:

A. Effective date for most recent rates:  April 3, 2024

B. Was notice of this increase provided to the Public Utility Commission of Texas (Commission) or a predecessor
regulatory authority?

|:| No Yes Application or Docket Number: PUC Docket No. 54729 - STM Application

If the transferor is a Water Supply or Sewer Service Corporation, provide a copy of the current tariff,

Attachment 4 - Tariffs
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For the customers that will be transferred following the approval of the proposed transaction, check all that apply:

|:| There are no customers that will be transferred
Attachment §
(Confidential) - List of

M # of customers with deposits held by the transferor* 871 Customer Deposits

M # of customers without deposits held by the transferor 124

*Attach a list of all customers affected by the proposed transaction that have deposits held, and include a customer
indicator (name or account number), date of cach deposit, amount of each deposit, and any unpaid interest on each deposit.

Part C: Transferee Information

Questions 6 through 10 apply only to the fransferee (purchaser or proposed service provider)

A. Name: |T&W Water Service Company dba Blue Topaz Utilities

(individual, corporation, or other legal entity)

|:| Individual M Corporation |:| WSC |:| Other:

B. Mailing Address: |c/o Deanna Degeyter 12284 FM 3083, Conroe, Texas 77301

Phone: (281) 367-9566 Email: [deanna@bluetopazutilities.com

C. Contact Person. Provide information about the person to be contacted regarding this application. Indicate if this
person is the owner, operator, engineer, attorney, accountant, or other title.

Name: Geoffrey P. Kirshbaum Title: |Attorney

Address: [Terrill & Waldrop - 810 West 10th Street, Austin, Texas 78701

Phone: (512) 474-9100 Email: |gkirshbaum@terrillwaldrop.com

D.  Ifthe transferce is someone other than a municipality, is the transferee current on the Regulatory Assessment Fees
(RAF) with the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ)?

|:| No Yes |:| N/A

E. If the transferee is an IOU, is the transferee current on the Annual Report filings with the Commission?

|:| No Yes |:| N/A

7.

The legal status of the transferee is: Attachment 6 - Corporate Documents

D Individual or sole proprictorship Attachment 6a (Confidential) - Org Chart

D Partnership or limited partnership (atfach Partnership agreement)
M Corporation |

Charter number (as recorded with the Texas Secretary of State): |46041000

D Non-profit, member-owned, member controlled Cooperative Corporation [Article 1434(a) Water Supply or
Sewer Service Corporation, incorporated under TWC Chapter 67]
Charter number (as recorded with the Texas Secretary of State):

|:| Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws established (artach)
D Municipally-owned utility
D District (MUD, SUD, WCID, FWSD, etc.)
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D County
D Affected County (a county to which Subchapter B, Chapter 232, Local Government Code, applies)

D Other (please explain): |

8.  Ifthe transferee operates under any d/b/a, provide the name below:

Name: |Blue Topaz Utilities See Attachment 6 and 6a.

9.  Ifthe transferee’s legal status is anything other than an individual, provide the following information regarding the officers,
members, or partners of the legal entity applying for the transfer:

Name: [Thomas Puttman

Position: President Ownership % (if applicable): [0.00%
Address: [250 SW Taylor St., Portland, Oregon 97204
Phone: Email: |

Name: [Brody Wilson

Position: Treasurer Ownership % (if applicable): [0.00%

Address: |250 SW Taylor St., Portland, Oregon 97204

Phone: Email: |

Name: |Megan Berge

Position: Secretary Ownership % (i applicable): |0.00%

Address: |250 SW Taylor St., Portland, Oregon 97204

Phone: Email: |

Name: |

Position: Ownership % (if applicable)I |

Address: |

Phone: Email: |

10. Financial Information
The transferee Applicant must provide accounting information typically included within a balance sheet, income

statement, and statement of cash flows. If the Applicant is an existing retail public utility, this must include historical
financial information and projected financial information. However, projected financial information is only required if
the Applicant proposes new service connections and new investment in plant, or if requested by Staff. If the Applicant is
a new market entrant and does not have its own historical balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows
information, then the Applicant should establish a five-year projection taking the historical information of the transferor

Applicant into consideration when establishing the projections.

Historical Financial Information may be shown by providing any combination of the following that includes necessa

information found in a balance sheet. income statement. and statement of cash flows:

1. Completed Appendix A;
2. Documentation that includes all of the information required in Appendix A in a concise format; or
3. Audited financial statements issued within 18 months of the application filing date. This may be provided

electronically by providing a uniform resource locator (URL) or a link to a website portal.
Attachment 7 - NW Natural Water 10-K and Attachment 8 - T&W 2023 Annual Report
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Projected Financial Information may be shown by providing any of the following:

1. Completed Appendix B;

2. Documentation that includes all of the information required in Appendix B in a concise format;

3. A detailed budget or capital improvement plan, which indicates sources and uses of funds required, including
improvements to the system being transferred; or

4. A recent budget and capital improvements plan that includes information needed for analysis of the operations
test (16 Tex. Admin. Code § 24.11(e)(3)) for the system being transferred and any operations combined with the

system. This may be provided electronically by providing a uniform resource locator (URL) or a link to a website

ortal.
Attachmerl)lt 9 - Surety Bond Affidavit and Attachment 10 (Confidential) - Capital Improvement Plan

Part D: Proposed Transaction Details

Attachment 2 (Confidential) -
Purchase Agreement
If the transferee Applicant is an investor owned utility (IOU) provide answers to B through D.

11. A. Proposed Purchase Price:  $

B. Transferee has a copy of an inventory list of assets to be transferred (attach):

[INo [ JYes [ ]N/A Attachment 1 - Detailed Responses to STM Application

Total Original Cost of Plant in Service: _$

Accumulated Depreciation:  $

Net Book Value: $

C. Customer contributions in aid of construction (CIAC): Have the customers been billed for any surcharges
approved by the Commission or TCEQ to fund any assets currently used and useful in providing utility service?
Identify which assets were funded, or are being funded, by surcharges on the list of assets.

|:| No |:| Yes

Total Customer CIAC: $
Accumulated Amortization: $

D. Developer CIAC: Did the transferor receive any developer contributions to pay for the assets proposed to be
transferred in this application? If so, identify which assets were funded by developer contributions on the list of assets
and provide any applicable developer agreements.

|:| No |:| Yes

Total developer CIAC:  $
Accumulated Amortization: $

12.  A. Are any improvements or construction required to meet the minimum requirements of the TCEQ or Commission and
to ensure continuous and adequate service to the requested area to be transferred plus any area currently certificated to
the transferee Applicant? Attach supporting documentation and any necessary TCEQ approvals, if applicable.

ﬂ No M Yes

Attachment 10 (Confidential) - Capital Improvement Plan
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B. If yes, describe the source and availability of funds and provide an estimated timeline for the construction of any
planned or required improvements:

T&W intends to rely on a mix of equity and debt provided by its affiliates to finance any planned or
required improvements. See Attachment 9 and Attachment 10 (Confidential).

13.  Provide any other information concerning the nature of the transaction you believe should be given consideration:

This application is being filed subject to the fair market valuation procedures included in Tex. Water
Code 13.305 and 16 Tex. Admin. Code 24.238. Copies of the appraisal reports are included as
Attachment 3 (Confidential) to this application. In addition, see Attachment 1 for additional information
about the transaction.

14.  Complete the following proposed entries (listed below) as shown in the books of the Transferee (purchaser) after the
acquisition. Debits (positive numbers) should equal credits (negative numbers) so that all line items added together equal
zero. Additional entries may be made; the following are suggested only, and not intended to pose descriptive limitations:

Utility Plant in Service: _$
o Attachment 1A (Confidential)
Accumulated Depreciation of Plant:  $ Detailed Responses to STM
Cash: $ Questions
Notes Payable: $
Mortgage Payable: $
(Proposed) Acquisition Adjustment®: $
* Acquisition Adjustments will be subject to review under 16 TAC § 24.41(d) and (¢)
Other (NARUC account name & No.): |
Other (NARUC account name & No.):
15.

Explain any proposed billing change. If the Transferee is an Investor Owned Utility (IOU) and is requesting authorized
acquisition rates under 16 TAC § 24.240 and TWC § 13.3011, the Transferee must also provide all items requested in 16
TAC § 24.240(d)(1)~(6).

T&W does not seek approval of any changes in rates as part of this application. However, T&W
requests that a ratemaking rate base be calculated pursuant to Tex. Water Code 13.305 and 16 Tex.
Admin. Code 24.238 and identified for implementation in a future rate proceeding. See Attachment 1 -
Detailed Responses to STM Application.
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Part E: CCN Obtain or Amend Criteria Considerations

16.

Describe, in detail, the anticipated impact or changes in the quality of retail public utility service in the requested area as a
result of the proposed transaction:

The quality of service will remain at a high level or improve due to the experienced operators employed
by T&W and will meet or exceed current levels. T&W will deal promptly with any service issues which
may arise. See Attachment 1 - Detailed Responses to STM Application.

17.

Describe the transferee’s experience and qualifications in providing continuous and adequate service. This should include,
but is not limited to: other CCN numbers, water and wastewater systems details, and any corresponding compliance
history for all operations.

See Attachment 1 - Detailed Responses to STM Application.

18.

Has the transferee been under an enforcement action by the Commission, TCEQ, Texas Department of Health (TDH), the
Office of the Attorney General (OAG), or the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) in the past five (5) years for non-
compliance with rules, orders, or state statutes? Attach copies of any correspondence with the applicable regulatory
agency(ies)

Z No Yes

Attachment 11 - TCEQ Investigation Reports and Enforcement Actions

19.

Explain how the environmental integrity or the land will be impacted or disrupted as a result of the proposed transaction:

There will be no change with respect to the environmental intergrity of land impact/disruption as a
result of the proposed transaction.

20.

How will the proposed transaction serve the public interest?

See the Company's responses to Question Nos. 1, 16 and 17.

21.

List all neighboring water or sewer utilities, cities, districts (including ground water conservation districts), counties, or
other political subdivisions (including river authorities) providing the same service within two (2) miles from the outer
boundary of the requested arca affected by the proposed transaction:

See Attachment 13.
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Part F: TCEQ Public Water System or Sewer (Wastewater) Information

Complete Part F for EACH Public Water or Sewer system to be transferred subject to approval of the transaction.
Attach a separate sheet with this information if you need more space for additional systems being transferred.

22. A For Public Water System (PWS):
TCEQ PWS Identification Number: 1013271 (7 digit ID)

Name of PWS: |Cottage Gardens

Date of last TCEQ compliance inspection: November 24, 2020 (attach. TCRQ letter)

Subdivisions served: [Cottage Gardens

B. For Sewer service:

TCEQ Water Quality (WQ) Discharge Permit Number:  WQO00 - 13942001 (8 digit ID)

Name of Wastewater Facility: ey
| ilities;

Name of Permitee:

Date of last TCEQ compliance inspection: January 7, 2020 {atfach, TOBCQ (ottee)

Subdivisions Served: |Sugarberry Place, Cottage Gardens

Date of application to transfer permit submitted to TCEQ: Upon approval of this application.

23.  List the number of existing connections, by meter/connection type, to be affected by the proposed transaction:

Water Sewer
Non-metered 27 956 Residential
579 5/8” or 3/4" 37 Commercial
1”7 4” Industrial
1%~ Other Other
Total Water Connections: |579 Total Sewer Connections: (956

24. A.  Arc any improvements required to meet TCEQ or Commission standards?

M No ‘l:l Yes

B. Provide details on each required major capital improvement necessary to correct deficiencies to meet the TCEQ or
Commission standards (attach any engineering reports or TCEQ approval letters):

Description of the Capital Improvement: Estimated Completion Date: | Estimated Cost:

See Attachment 1 - Detailed Responses to STM Questions

See Attachment 10 - Capital Improvement Plan

C. Is there a moratorium on new connections?

@ No ﬂ Yes:

25.  Does the system being transferred operate within the corporate boundaries of a municipality?

[V] No Yes: | \(name of municipality)

If yes, indicate the number of customers within the municipal boundary.

Water: Sewer:
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26. A, Does the system being transferred purchase water or sewer treatment capacity from another source?
@ No |:| Yes: If yes, attach a copy of purchase agreement or contract.

Capacity is purchased from:

Water:

Sewer:

B. Is the PWS required to purchase water to meet capacity requirements or drinking water standards?
@ No |i| Yes

C. What is the amount of water supply or sewer treatment purchased, per the agreement or contract? What is
the percent of overall demand supplied by purchased water or sewer treatment (if any)?

Amount in Gallons Percent of demand

Water:
Sewer:

D. Will the purchase agreement or contract be transferred to the Transferee?

Z No Q Yes:

27.  Does the PWS or sewer treatment plant have adequate capacity to meet the current and projected demands in the requested
area’

D No E Yes:

28.  List the name, class, and TCEQ license number of the operator that will be responsible for the operations of the water or
sewer utility service:

Name (as it appears on license) | Class License No. Water or Sewer
Champ Clark W - A-WO0014467; VWV - A-WW0005989 | Water and Sewer
Nathan Clark W - C-WG0020566; WW - C-WWO0069590 [ Water and Sewer
David Clark W - B-WG0009353; WW - B-\WWW0008826 | Water and Sewer

Part G: Mapping & Affidavits

ALL applications require mapping information to be filed in conjunction with the STM application.
Read question 29 A and B to determine what information is required for your application.

29. A. Forapplications requesting to transfer an entire CCN, without a CCN boundary adjustment, provide the following
mapping information with each of the seven (7) copies of the application:

1. A general location (small scale) map identifying the requested area in reference to the nearest county
boundary, city, or town. The following guidance should be adhered to:

pe If the application requests to transfer certificated service areas for both water and sewer,
Attachment 12 - Mapping separate maps must be provided for each.
ii. A hand drawn map, graphic, or diagram of the requested area is not considered an

acceptable mapping document.
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iii.

To maintain the integrity of the scale and quality of the map, copies must be exact
duplicates of the original map. Therefore, copies of maps cannot be reduced or enlarged
from the original map, or in black and white if the original map is in color.

2. A detailed (large scale) map identifying the requested area in reference to verifiable man-made and
natural landmarks such as roads, rivers, and railroads. The Applicant should adhere to the following

guidance:

i.

ii.

iii.

iv.

The map must be clearly labeled and the outer boundary of the requested area should be
marked in reference to the verifiable man-made or natural landmarks. These verifiable
man-made or natural landmarks must be labeled and marked on the map as well.

Ifthe application requests an amendment for both water and sewer certificated service area,
separate maps need to be provided for each.

To maintain the integrity of the scale and quality of the map, copies must be exact
duplicates of the original map. Therefore, copies of maps cannot be reduced or enlarged
from the original map, or in black and white if the original map is in color.

The outer boundary of the requested area should not be covered by any labels, roads, city
limits or extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ) boundaries.

B. For applications that are requesting to include area not currently within a CCN, or for applications that
require a CCN amendment (any change in a CCN boundary), such as the transfer of only a portion of a
certificated service area, provide the following mapping information with each of the seven (7) copies of

the application:

1. A general location (small scale) map identifying the requested area with enough detail to locate the
requested area in reference to the nearest county boundary, city, or town. Please refer to the mapping
guidance in part A 1 (above).

2. A detailed (large scale) map identifying the requested area with enough detail to accurately locate
the requested area in reference to verifiable man-made or natural landmarks such as roads, rivers, or
railroads. Please refer to the mapping guidance in part A 2 (above).

3. One of the following identifying the requested area:

i.

ii.

iii.

A metes and bounds survey sealed or embossed by either a licensed state land surveyor
or a registered professional land surveyor. Please refer to the mapping guidance in part A
2 (above);

A recorded plat. If the plat does not provide sufficient detail, Staff may request additional
mapping information. Please refer to the mapping guidance in part A 2 (above); or

Digital mapping data in a shapefile (SHP) format georeferenced in either NAD 83 Texas
State Plane Coordinate System (US Feet) or in NAD 83 Texas Statewide Mapping
System (Meters). The digital mapping data shall include a single, continuous polygon
record. The following guidance should be adhered to:
a. The digital mapping data must correspond to the same requested area as
shown on the general location and detailed maps. The requested area must
be clearly labeled as either the water or sewer requested area.

b. A shapefile should include six files (.dbf, .shp, .shx, .sbx, .sbn, and the
projection (.prj) file).

c. The digital mapping data shall be filed on a data disk (CD or USB drive),
clearly labeled, and filed with Central Records. Seven (7) copies of the
digital mapping data is also required.
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Part H: Notice Information

The following information will be used to generate the proposed notice for the application.
DO NOT provide notice of the application until it is found sufficient and the Applicants are ordered to provide notice.

30. Complete the following using verifiable man-made or natural landmarks such as roads, rivers, or railroads to
describe the requested area (to be stated in the notice documents). Measurements should be approximated from the
outermost boundary of the requested area:

The total acreage of the requested area is approximately: 370.6 acres - water and 371.4 acres - sewer

Number of customer connections in the requested area: |557 water connections; 956 sewer connections

Affseted sibdivisian: Cottage Gardens, Sugarberry Place

The closest city or town: Tomball, Texas

Approximate mileage to closest city or town center: 4 Miles

Direction to closest city or town: Northwest

The requested area is generally bounded on the North by: Glen Willow Drive

on the East by: SH 99

on the South by: SH 99

on the West by: HUNfsmith Kohrville Road

31. A copy of the proposed map will be available at: |Terill & Waldrop, 810 West 10th Street, Austin, Texas 78701

32. What effect will the proposed transaction have on an average bill to be charged to the affected customers? Take into
consideration the average consumption of the requested area, as well as any other factors that would increase or
decrease a customer’s monthly bill.

M All of the customers will be charged the same rates they were charged before the transaction.
|:| All of the customers will be charged different rates than they were charged before the transaction.
[ ] higher monthly bill [ ] lower monthly bill

|:| Some customers will be charged different rates than they were charged before
(i.e. inside city limit customers)
[ ] higher monthly bill [ ] lower monthly bill

33. A Transferee requesting approval to charge authorized acquisition rates under 16 TAC § 24.240 must also include the
following information as part of the notice required by 16 TAC §24.239. See 16 TAC § 24.240(¢).

1. An explanation of how intervention differs from protesting a rate increase.
2. A rate schedule showing the existing rates and the authorized acquisition rates.
3. A billing comparison for usage of 5,000 and 10,000 gallons at existing rates and authorized acquisition rates.
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Oath for Transferor {Transferring Entity)

STATE OF Texas

COUNTY OF Harris

; being duly sworn, file this application for sale,
Michael P. Martz o

transfer,

merger, consolidation, acquisition, lease, or

rontal, a5 Inline Utilities, LLC

townir, member of partmership, title as officer of corporation, or authorized representative)
I attest that, in such capacity, | am qualified and authorized to file and verify such application, am
personally familiar with the documents filed with this application, and have complied with all the
requirements contained in the application; and, that all such statements made and matters set forth therein
with respect to Applicant are true and correct. Statements about other parties are made on information and
beliet. I further state that the application is made in good faith and that this application does not duplicate
any filing presently before the Commission.

I further state that I have provided fo the purchaser or transferee a written disclosyre stateinent about any
contriboted property as required under_Texas Water Code $ 13.301(j) and copies of any outstanding
enforcement Orders of the Texas Comunission on Environmental Quality. the Public Unlity Cormmission
of Texas. or Attorney General and have also complied with the notice requirements in Texas Water Code

§ 13.301¢k).

AFFIANT
/@i ity's Authorized Representative)

[ the Affiant to this form is any person other than the sole owner, partner, officer of the Applicant. or its
attorney, a properly veritied Power of Attorney must be enclosed.

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME, a Notary Public in and for the State of Texas

this day the of | L 20|

SEAL

s i,

5500, DANISHA KOZACZRIEWIC?
e@a Ity 132814060
My £
i %«wﬁf y Lommisalon Explres

. August 10, 2026

e et TP,

Janlp~

NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR THE
STATE OF TEXAS

DaniSho M Kozacitiewic=

PRINT OR TYPE NAME OF NOTARY
My cominission expires: 0% / 10 /G}Olg

PUCT Sale, Transfer, Merger
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Qath for Transferee (Acquiring Entity)

STATE OF Texas

COUNTY OF Montgomery

[. Deanna Degeyter being duly sworn, file this application for sale, transfer,
merger, consolidation, acquisition, lease, or rental, as  General Manager

(owner, member of partnership, title as officer of corporation, or authorized representative)
[ attest that, in such capacity, | am qualified and authorized to file and verify such application, am personally familiar with
the documents filed with this application, and have complied with all the requirements contained in the application; and,
that all such statements made and matters set forth therein with respect to Applicant are true and correct. Statements about
other parties are made on information and belief. 1 further state that the application is made in good faith and that this
application does not duplicate any filing presently before the Comimission.

I further state that 1 have been provided with a copy of the 16 TAC § 24.239 Commission rules. 1 am also authorized to
asree and do agree to be bound by and comply with any outstanding enforcement orders of the Texas Commission on
Environmental Quality. the Public Utility Commission of Texas or the Attorney General which have been issued to the
system or facilities being acquired and recognize that 1 will be subject to administrative penalties or other enforcement
actions if I do not comply.

Dopnra— Doogegte—
AFFYANY
(Utility's Authorized Representative)

If the Affiant to this form is any person other than the sole owner, partner. officer of the Applicant. or its attorney, a properly
verified Power of Attorney must be enclosed.

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME. a Notary Public in and for the State of Texas,
thisday the /(DN of [CIPF7] 1, 208§ 1
[J

SEAL

Karla Langreder ]
My Commisslon Explres )
21512028 )

Notary 1D 125393331 ) ———

vvvvvvv — I
NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR THE
STATE OF TEXAS
AARLA L ANCRED EL
PRINT OR TYPE NAME OF NOTARY
My commission expires: 69/ 5-/30 X {K

PUCT Sale, Transfer, Merger
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ATTACHMENT 1
Question No. 1 — Overview of Transaction

Pursuant to Tex. Water Code §§ 13.301 and 13.305, T & W Water Service Company d/b/a Blue
Topaz Utilities (“T & W”) seeks approval of the acquisition of a public drinking water system and sewer
system located in Harris County, Texas owned by Inline Utilities, LLC under CCN numbers 13313 and 21142,
as well as a determination of the ratemaking rate base that will be applicable to the acquired systems
once the acquiring utility files its first rate case after approval of the transaction.

The transaction strictly involves an asset sale/acquisition/transfer between T & W and the
acquired utilities. While legal ownership and responsibility for the assets will be placed under a different
corporate entity, day-to-day utility operations and applicable retail public utility rates will not change as
a result of the proposed transaction or this Application.

The executed documents that support the proposed transaction are included in Attachment 2
(Confidential). Final documents evidencing closing of the transaction will be prepared if the Commission
provides approval for the transaction to close. Existing land uses in the areas affected by the application
are residential. Existing land uses are not anticipated to change as a result of the application.

Question No. 11.B. — Proposed Transaction Details
List of Assets

A list of assets affected by this Application is included in Schedule 2 of the purchase agreement,
Attachment 2 (Confidential) to the Application.

Calculation of Net Book Value

Financial records from the transferor supporting a net book value calculation for the assets to be
transferred are not available. However, the Company seeks to implement the ratemaking rate base
approved by the Commission as part of this proceeding pursuant to Texas Water Code § 13.305. The
negotiated purchase price for the system is higher than the FMV determined by the PUC’s appointed
utility valuation experts pursuant to Texas Water Code § 13.305. Therefore, the FMV amount is the
ratemaking rate base amount for which the Company seeks approval.

T&W 000016



Attachment 1
Page 2 of 2

Question Nos. 16 and 17— Impact on Quality of Service and Public Interest

After the closing, there will be no change to the water or wastewater service or rates for affected
customers as a result of the proposed transaction. While T & W will undertake management of the
acquired systems after the closing, T & W anticipates that its current contract operators, who hold A-D
water and wastewater licenses, will operate the systems.

T & W operates over 30 water systems in Harris, Liberty, and Montgomery counties, Texas, and
holds water CCN No. 12892 and sewer CCN No. 21127. T & W was originally incorporated in 1979. 100%
of T & W’s stock was acquired by NW Natural Water of Texas, LLC in early 2020.

Northwest Natural Holding Company (NYSE: NWN) (NW Natural Holdings) is headquartered in
Portland, Oregon and has been doing business for over 165 years. It owns NW Natural Gas Company and
SiEnergy, which are natural gas utilities; NW Natural Water, a water and wastewater utility business; and
NW Natural Renewables, a renewable fuel business. We have a longstanding commitment to safety,
environmental stewardship and the energy transition, and taking care of our employees and communities.
NW Natural Water owns NW Natural Water of Texas, LLC, which is now the parent of T & W. NW Natural
Holdings, the ultimate parent of T & W, is a publicly-owned company with a market cap of approximately
$1.7 billion, and it has revolving credit facilities totaling approximately $200 million in the aggregate. T &
W, through its parent companies, will be able to provide enhanced investment for the acquired systems
as needed, which will benefit customers served by those systems.

The NW Natural Holdings organization includes NW Natural Gas, SiEnergy, NW Natural Water,
NW Natural Renewables Holdings, LLC, and other business interests. NW Natural Gas is a local natural gas
distribution company serving more than 140 communities through approximately 806,000 meters in
Oregon and Southwest Washington with one of the most modern pipeline systems in the nation. NW
Natural Gas leads the industry with high J.D. Power & Associates customer satisfaction scores. NW Natural
Water currently provides water distribution and wastewater services to a diverse range of communities.
NW Natural Water serves over 190,000 people through approximately 76,400 owned connections and
maintenance services to an additional 24,500 connections.

NW Natural Holdings’ water and gas utility businesses rely on maintenance of and investment in
critical pipe infrastructure to drive organic growth. NW Natural Water and NW Natural Water of Texas,
LLC, including T & W, understand how to plan for and build an efficient pipeline system and how to
maintain that system to ensure safe and reliable service. In addition, both the water distribution and gas
distribution businesses are largely regulated by public utility commissions—a regulatory environment with
which NW Natural Water, NW Natural Water of Texas, LLC, and T & W are familiar. Thus, T & W’s
ownership of the acquired systems will result in a stronger, and more financially sound water company.
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Responses to Questions

filed confidentially in this
docket
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Attachment 2
Purchase Agreement

filed confidentially in this
docket
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Attachment 3

Fair Market Value
Reports and supporting
documents

filed confidentially in this
docket
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Attachment

4

WATER UTILITY TARIFF
Docket No. 54729
Inline Utilities, LLC 21755 1H 45 North, Suite 11
{Utitity Name) {Business Address)
Spring, Texas 77388 (2811 651-1126
{City, State, Zip Code) {Area Code/Telephone)

This tariff is etfective for utility operations under the following Certificate of Convenience and
Necessity:

13313

This tariff is effective in the following counties:

Harris

This tariff is effective in the following cities or unincorporated towns (if any):

None

This tariff is cffective in the following subdivisions or public water systems:

Sugarberry Place. PWS ID No. 1013084
Cottage Gardens, PWS [D No. 1013271

TABLE OF CONTENTS
The above utility lists the following sections of its tariff (if additional pages are needed for a
section, all pages should be numbered consecutively):

SECTION 1.0 -- RATE SCHEDULE .. ..o e e 2
SECTION 2.0 -- SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES . ... 4
SECTION 3.0 -- EXTENSION POLICY ..o e [0

APPENDIX A -- DROUGHT CONTINGENCY PLAN
APPENDIX B -- SAMPLE SERVICE AGREEMENT
APPENDIX C - APPLICATION IFOR SERVICE

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
APPROVED

0
R 0370% & 54729
F T&W 000021

o



Inline Utilities, LLC Water Tariff Page No. 2
{Utility Name)

SECTION 1.0 -- RATE SCHEDULE

Section 1.0] - Rates

Meter Size: Monthly Minimum Charge Gallonage Charge
5/8" or 3/4" $28.00 (Includes 0 gallons) $3.59 per 1,000 gallons
*North Harris County Regional Water Authority (NHCRWA) Pass Through Fee ...... $4.72 per

1,000 gallons. This fee is applicable to the Cottage Gardens Subdivision (PWS # 1013271)
customers only, (Tariff Control No. 32032)

FORM OF PAYMENT: The utility will accept the following forms of payment:

Cash_X _ Check_X_ Money Order_X_ Credit Card___ Other (specify)
THE UTILITY MAY REQUIRE EXACT CHANGE FOR PAYMENTS AND MAY REFUSE TO ACCEPT
PAYMENTS MADE USING MORE THAN $1.00 IN SMALL COINS. A WRITTEN RECEIPT WILL BE GIVEN
FOR CASH PAYMENTS.

REGULATORY ASSE S SMEN T ottt 1.0%
PUC RULES REQUIRE THE UTILITY TO COLLECT A FELE OF ONE PERCENT OF THE RETAIL MONTHLY
BILL AND TO REMIT THE FEE TO THE TCEQ.

Section 1.02 - Miscellaneous Fee

TAP FEE oo $500.00
TAP FEE COVERS THE UTILITY’S COSTS FOR MATERIALS AND LABOR TO INSTALL A STANDARD
RESIDENTIAL 5/8" or 3/4" METER. AN ADDITIONAL FEE TO COVER UNIQUE COSTS IS PERMITTED
IF LISTED ON THIS TARIFF.

TAP FEL (UNIQUE COSES)uurernnrremnniremeserii s ecii st ssiiis s siiis s siiasasiss sasias e ssmassssansssssanssains Actuat Cost
FOR EXAMPLE, A ROAD BORE FOR CUSTOMERS OUTSIDE OF SUBDIVISIONS OR RESIDENTIAL
AREAS.

TAP FIE (LABEE MIETRIT o cos « o ot e s Rl e 5 5408 54058 0505 B0 84106 8588 BI85 05 6 B0 B B8 B B s o B Actual Cost
TAP FEE IS THE UTILITY'S ACTUAL COST FOR MATERIALS AND LABOR FOR METER SIZE
INSTALLED.

METER RELOCATION FEE ..., Actual Relocation Cost. Not to Exceed Tap Fee
THIS FEE MAY BE CHARGED [F A CUSTOMER REQUESTS THAT AN EXISTING METER BE
RELOCATLED.

3% A L I O 2 $25.00

THIS FEE WHICH SHOUL.D REFLECT THE UTILITY'S COST. MAY BE CHARGED IF A CUSTOMER
REQUESTS A SECOND METER TEST WITHIN A TWO-YEAR PERIOD AND THE TEST INDICATES THAT
THE METER [S RECORDING ACCURATELY. THE FEE MAY NOT EXCEED 3$25.

RECONNECTION FEE
THE RECONNECT FEE MUST BE PAID BEFORE SERVICE CAN BE RESTORED TO A CUSTOMER WHO
HAS BEEN DISCONNECTED FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS (OR OTHER REASONS LISTED UNDER
SECTION 2.0 OF THIS TARIFF}):

a) Nonpayment of bill (Maximum $235.00).........ooiiiii e $25.00
b) Customer’s request that service be disconnected .........oovrvvevivviiiiiieinineceneee e $0.00
LITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS

pUBLICUT
Docket No. 534729 APPROVED
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Inline Utilities. [.1LC Water Tariff Page No, 3
{Utility Namc}

SECTION 1.0 - RATE SCHEDULE {Continued)
LI 00 8 N T ——— P $0.00

THE TRANSFER FEE WILL. BE CHARGED FOR CHANGING AN ACCOUNT NAME AT THE SAME
SERVICE LOCATION WHEN THE SERVICE [S NOT DISCONNECTED.

LATE CHARGE [EITHER $5:00 QR 10% OF THE BILL) imem srwarmeaosonmmmron s s 10%
PUC RULES ALLOW A ONE-TIME PENALTY TO BE CHARGED ON DELINQUENT BILLS. A LATL
CHARGE MAY NOT BE APPLIED TO ANY BALANCE TO WHICH THE PENALTY WAS APPLIED IN A
PREVIOUS BILLING.

RETURNED CHECK CHARGE ... 929,00
RETURNED CHECK CHARGES MUST BE BASED ON THE UTILITY'S DOCLUMENTABLE COST.
CUSTOMER DEPOSIT RESIDENTIAL (Maximum $50)....ccoviiimnnnonononee... $30.00
COMMERCIAL & NON-RESIDENTIAL DEPOSIT................. 1/6TH OF ESTIMATED ANNUAL BILL

GOVERNMENTAL TESTING, INSPECTION AND COSTS SURCHARGE
WHEN AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY PUC AND AFTER NOTICE TO CUSTOMERS, THE UTILITY MAY
INCREASE RATES TO RECOVER INCREASED COSTS FOR INSPECTION FEES AND WATER TESTING.
[16 TAC 24.25(b)}2)(G)]

LINE EXTENSION AND CONSTRUCTION CHARGES:
REFER TO SECTION 3.0--EXTENSION POLICY FOR TERMS, CONDITIONS, AND CHARGES WHEN NEW
CONSTRUCTION IS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE SERVICE.

PURCHASED WATER AND/OR DISTRICT FEE PASS THROUGH CLAUSE:

Changes in fees imposed by any wholesale water supplier or underground water district having
jurisdiction over the Utility shall be passed through as an adjustment to the water gallonage charge
according to the formula:

AG= B/(I-L), where:
AG = adjusted gallonage charge, rounded to nearest one cent
B = new gallonage charge by source supplier or conservation district {per 1,000 gallons)
L = system average line loss for preceding 12 months. not to exceed 0.15

if gallons are included in minimum bill you must also adjust your base rate and show your calculations
according to the formula:

Adjusted Base Rate ({ABR) = BR + [(BxN)/(1-L)], where:

ABR = adjusted base rate, rounded to nearest one cent;

BR = approved base rate charge;

B = change in fee (per 1,000 gallons);

N = No. of 1,000 gallons included in the base rate (do not use zero);
L = water loss for preceding 12 months, not to exceed 0.15 (15%).

To implement or modify the Purchased Water/ Underground Water District Fee, the utility must
comply with all notice and other requirements ol 16 TAC § 24.25 (bY(2XF).

Docket Nao. 54729

BUBLIE UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
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Inline Utilities. LLC Water Utility Tariff Page No. 4

SECTION 2.0 -- SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES

The utility will have the most current Public Utility Commission of Texas (Commission or PUC) Rules,
Chapter 24, available at its office for reference purposes. The Rules and this tariff shall be available for
public inspection and reproduction at a reasonable cost. The latest Rules or Commission approved
changes to the Rules superscde any rules or requirements in this tariff.

Section 2.01 - Application for Water Service

All applications for service will be made on the utility's standard application or confract form (attached
in the Appendix to this tariff), will be signed by the applicant, any required fees {deposits, reconnect,
tap, extension fees, etc. as applicable) will be paid and easements, if required, will be granted before
service is provided by the utility. A separate application or contract will be made for each service
location.

Section 2.02 - Refusal of Service

The utility may decline to serve an applicant until the applicant has complied with the regulations of the
regulatory agencies (state and municipal regulations) and for the reasons outlined in the PUC Rules. In
the event that the utility refuses to serve an applicant, the utility will inform the applicant in writing of
the basis of its refusal. The utility is also required to inform the applicant that a complaint may be filed
with the Commission.

Section 2.03 - Feecs and Charges & Easements Required Before Service Can Be Connected

(A) Customer Deposits

I a residential applicant cannot establish credit to the satisfaction of the utility, the applicant may be
required to pay a deposit as provided for in Section 1.02 - Miscellaneous Fees of this tarifl, The utility
will keep records of the deposit and credit interest in accordance with PUC Rules.

Residential applicants 65 years of age or older may not be required to pay deposits unless the applicant
has an oulstanding account balance with the utility or another water or sewer utility which accrued within
the last two vears.

Nonresidential applicants who cannot establish credit to the satistaction of the utility may be required 10
make a deposit that does not exceed an amount equivalent to one-sixth of the estimated annual billings.

Refund of deposit - If service is not connected, or after disconnection of service, the utility will promptly
refund the customer’s deposit plus accrued interest or the balance, if any, in excess of the unpaid bills for
service furnished. The utility may refund the deposit at any time prior to termination of utilily service
but must refund the deposit plus interest for any residential customer who has paid [8 consecutive
billings without being delinquent.

{B) Tap or Reconnect Fees

A new customer requesting service at a location where service has not previously been provided must
pay a tap fee as provided in Section |. A customer requesting service where service has previously been
provided must pay a reconnect fee as provided in Section |,

Docket No. 54729 PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
APFROVED

D

@]
APR 0372014 G 54728
$T&VV000024



[nline Utilities, LL.C Water TarilT Page No. 5
(Utility Name)

SECTION 2.0 - SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Any applicant or existing customer required to pay for any costs not specifically set forth in the rate
schedule pages of this tariff shall be given a written cxplanation of such costs prior to request for payment
and/or commencement of construction. If the applicant or existing customer does not believe that these
costs arc reasonable or necessary, the applicant or existing customer shali be informed of their right to
appeal such costs to the PUC or such other regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the utility's rates
in that portion of the utility's service area in which the applicant's or existing customer’s property(ies) is
{are) located.

Fees in addition to the regular tap fee may be charged if listed specifically in Section | to cover unigue
costs not normally incurred as permitted by 16 TAC § 24.163(a){(1)(C). For example, a road bore for
customers outside a subdivision ot residential arca could be considered a unique cost.

(C) Eascment Reguirement

Where recorded public utility easements on the service applicant’s property do not exist or public road
right-of-way easements are not available to access the applicant’s property, the Utility may require the
applicant to provide it with a permanent recorded public utility easement on and across the applicant's
real property sufficient to provide service to that applicant. Such easement(s} shall not be used for the
construction of production, storage, transmission or pressure facilities unless they are needed for
adequate service to that applicant.

Section 2.04 - Utility Response 1o Applications for Service

After the applicant has met all the requirements, conditions and regulations for service, the utility will
install tap, meter and utility cut-off valve and/or take all necessary actions to initiate service. The utility
will serve each qualified applicant for service within 5 working days unless line extensions or new
facilities are required. 1f construction is required to fill the order and if it cannot be completed within 30
days, the utility will provide the applicant with a written explanation of the construction required and an
expected date of service.

Except for good cause where service has previously been provided, service will be reconnected within
one working day after the applicant has met the requirements for reconnection.

Section 2.05 - Customer Responsibility

The customer will be responsible for furnishing and laying the necessary customer service pipe from the
meter location to the place of consumption. Customers will not be allowed to use the utility's cutoff
valve on the utility's side of the meter. Existing customers may install cutoff valves on their side of the
meter and are encouraged to do so. All new customers may be required to instatl and maintain a cutoff
valve on their side of the meter.

No direct connection between a public water supply system and any potential source of contamination
ot between a public water supply system and a private water source {ex. private well) will be allowed.
A customer shall not connect, or allow any other person or party to connect, onto any water lines on his
premises.

ILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
Docket No. 54729 PUBLIC UT ¢ COMMISS
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Inline Utilities, LLC Water Tariff Page No. 6
{Utility Name)

SECTION 2.0 - SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Section 2.06 - Customer Service Inspections

Applicants for new scrvice connections or facilities which have undergone extensive plumbing
modifications are required to furnish the utility a completed customer service inspection certificate. The
inspection certificate shall certify that the establishment is in compliance with the Texas Commission on
Environmental Quality (TCEQ) Rules and Regulations for Public Water Systems, 30 TAC § 290.46()).
The Utility is not required to perform these inspections for the applicant/customer, but will assist the
applicant/customer in locating and obtaining the services of a certified inspector.

Section 2.07 - Back Flow Prevention Devices

No watcr connection shall be allowed te any residence or establishment where an actual or potential
contamination hazard exists unless the public water facilities are protected from contamination by cither
an approved air gap, backflow prevention assembly, or other approved device. The type of device or
backflow prevention assembly required shall be determined by the specific potential hazard identified in
30 TAC § 290.47(f) Appendix [, Assessment of Hazards and Selection of Assemblies of the TCEQ
Rules and Regulations for Public Water Systems.

The use of a backflow prevention assembly at the service connection shall be considered as additional
backflow protection and shall not negate the use of backflow protection on internal hazards as outlined
and enforced by local plumbing codes. When a customer service inspection certificate indicates that an
adequate internal cross-connection control program is in effect, backflow protection at the water service
entrance or meter is not required.

At any residence or cstablishment where it has been determined by a customer service inspection, that
there is no actual or potential contamination hazard, as referenced in 30 TAC § 290.47(f) Appendix F,
Assessment of Hazards and Selection of Assemblics of the TCEQ Rules and Regulations lor Public
Water Systems, then a backflow prevention assembly or device is not requited. Qutside hose bibs do
require, at a minimum, the installation and maintenance of a working atmaospheric vacuum breaker,

All backflow prevention assemblies or devices shall be tested upon installation by a TCEQ certified
backflow prevention assembly tester and certified to be operating within specifications. Backflow
prevention assemblics which are installed to provide protection against health hazards must also be tested
and certified to be operating within specifications at least annually by a certified backflow prevention
assembly tester.

If the utility determines that a backflow prevention assembly or device is required, the utility will provide
the customer or applicant with a list of TCEQ certified backliow prevention assembly testers. The
customer will be responsible for the cost of installation and testing, if any, of backflow prevention
assembly or device. The customer should contact several qualified installers to compare prices before
installation. The customer must pay for any required maintenance and annual testing and must furnish a
copy of the test results demonstrating that the assembly is functioning properly to the utility within 30
days after the anniversary date of the installation unfess a different date is agreed upon.

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
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Inline Utilities, LLC Water Tariff Page No. 7
{Utility Name)

SECTION 2.0 — SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Section 2.08 - Access to Customer’s Premises

The utility will have the right of access to the customer’s premises at all reasonable times for the purpose
of installing, testing, inspecting or repairing water mains or other equipment used in connection with its
provision of water service, or for the purpose of removing its property and disconnecting lines, and for
all other purposes necessary to the operation of the utility system including inspecting the customer's
plumbing for code, plumbing or tariff violations. The customer shall allow the utility and its personnel
access to the customer's property to conduct any water quality tests or inspections required by law.
Unless necessary to respond to equipment failure, leak or other condition creating an immediate threat
to public health and safety or the continued provision of adequate utility service to others, such entry
upon the customer’s property shall be during normal business hours and the utility personnel will attempt
to notify the customer that they will be working on the customer’s property. The customer may require
any utility representative, employee, contractor, or agent seeking to make such entry identify themselves,
their affiliation with the utility, and the purpose of their entry.

All customers or service applicants shall provide access to meters and utility cutoff valves at all times
reasonably necessary to conduct ordinary utility business and after normal business hours as needed to

protect and preserve the integrity of the public drinking water supply.

Section 2.09 - Meter Requirements, Readings, and Testing

One meter is required for each residential, commercial, or industrial connection. All water sold by the
utility will be billed based on meter measurements. The utility will provide, install, own and maintain
meters to measure amounts of water consumed by its customers.

Meters will be read at monthly intervals and as nearly as possible on the corresponding day of each
monthly meter reading period unless otherwise authorized by the Commission.

Meter tests. The utility will, upon the request of a customer, and, if the customer so desires, in his or her
presence or in that of his or her authorized representative, make without charge a test of the accuracy of
the customer's meter. If the customer asks to observe the test, the test will be made during the utility's
normal working hours at a time convenient to the customer. Whenever possible, the test will be made
on the customer's premises, but may, at the utility's discretion, be made at the utility's testing facility. If
within a period of two years the customer requests a new test, the utility will make the test, but if the
meter is found to be within the accuracy standards established by the American Water Works
Association, the utility will charge the customer a fee which reflects the cost to test the meter up to a
maximum $25 for a residential customer. Following the completion of any requested test, the utility will
promptly advise the customer of the date of removal of the meter, the date of the test, the result of the
test, and who made the test.

Section 2.10 - Billing

(A) Regular Billing
Bills from the utility will be mailed monthly unless otherwise authorized by the Commission. The due

date of bills for utility service wilt be at least sixteen (16) days from the date of issuance.

Docket No. 54729 PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
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Inline Utilities, LLC Water Tariff Page No. 8
{Utility Name)

SECTION 2.0 -- SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES (Continued)

The postmark on the bill or, if there is no postmark on the bill, the recorded date of mailing by the utility
will constitute proof of the date of issuance. Payment for utility service is delinquent if full payment,
including late fees and the regulatory assessment, is not received at the utility or the utility's authorized
payment agency by 5:00 p.m. on the due date. [fthe due date falls on a holiday or weekend, the due date
for payment purposes will be the next workday after the due date.

(B) Late Fees

A late penalty of either $5.00 or 10.0% will be charged on bills received after the due date. The penalty
on delinquent bills will not be applied to any balance to which the penalty was applied in a previous
billing. The utility must maintain a record of the date of mailing to charge the late penalty.

(C) Information on Bill

Each bill will provide all information required by the PUC Rules. For each of the systems it operates,
the utility will maintain and note on the monthly bill a local or toll-free telephone number (or numbers)
to which customers can direct questions about their utility service.

(D) Prorated Bills
If service is interrupted or seriously impaired for 24 consecutive hours or more, the utility will prorate
the monthly base bill in proportion to the time service was not available to reflect this loss of service.

Section 2.11- Pavments

All payments for utility service shall be delivered or mailed to the utility’s business office. 1fthe business
office fails to receive payment prior to the time of noticed disconnection for non-payment of a delinquent
account, service will be terminated as scheduled. Utility service crews shall not be allowed to collect
payments on customer accounts in the field.

Payment of an account by any means that has been dishonored and retumed by the payor or payee's
bank, shall be deemed to be delinquent. All returned payments must be redeemed with cash or valid
money order. 1f a customer has two returned payments within a twelve-month period, the customer shall
be required to pay a deposit if one has not already been paid.

Section 2.12 - Service Disconnection

(A) With Notice

Utility service may be disconnected if the bill has not been paid in full by the date listed on the
termination notice. The termination date must be at least 10 days after the notice is mailed or hand
delivered.

The utility is encouraged to offer a deferred payment plan to a customer who cannot pay an outstanding
bill in full and is willing to pay the balance in reasonable installments. However, a customer's utility
service may be disconnected if a bill has not been paid or a deferred payment agreement entered into
within 26 days from the date of issuance of a bill and if proper notice of termination has been given.

Notice of termination must be a separate mailing or hand delivery in accordance with the PUC Rules.
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[nline Utilities, LLC Water Tariff Page No. 9
{Utility Name)

SECTION 2.0 -- SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES (Continued)

B) Without Notice
Utility service may also be disconnected without notice for reasons as described in the PUC Rules.

Section 2.13 - Reconnection of Service

Utility personnel must be available during normal business hours to accept payments on the day service
is disconnected and the following day unless service was disconnected at the customer's request or due
to a hazardous condition.

Service will be reconnected within 36 hours after the past due bill, reconnect fees and any other
outstanding charges are paid or the conditions which caused service to be disconnected are corrected.

Section 2.4 - Service Interruptions

The utility will make all reasonable efforts to prevent interruptions of service. If interruptions occur, the
utility will re-establish service within the shortest possible time. Except for momentary interruptions
due to automatic equipment operations, the utility will keep a complete record of all interruptions, both
emergency and scheduled and will notify the Commission in writing of any service interruptions
affecting the entire system or any major division of the system lasting more than four hours. The notice
will explain the cause of the interruptions.

Section 2.15 - Quality of Service

The utility will plan, furnish, and maintain production, treatment, storage, transmission, and distribution
facilities of sufficient size and capacity to provide a continuous and adequate supply of water for all
reasonable consumer uses. Unless otherwise authorized by the Commission, the utility will maintain
facilities as described in the TCEQ Rules and Regulations for Public Water Systems.

Section 2.16 - Customer Complaints and Disputes

If a customer or applicant for service lodges a complaint, the utility will promptly make a suitable
investigation and advise the complainant of the results. Service will not be disconnected pending
completion of the investigation. If the complainant is dissatisfied with the utility's response, the utility
must advise the complainant that he has recourse through the PUC complaint process. Pending
resolution of a complaint, the commission may require continuation or restoration of service.

The utility will maintain a record of all complaints which shows the name and address of the
complainant, the date and nature of the complaint and the adjustment or disposition thereof, for a period
of two years after the final settlement of the complaint.

In the event of a dispute between a customer and a utility regarding any bill for utility service, the utility
will conduct an investigation and report the results to the customer. If the dispute is not resolved, the
utility will inform the customer that a complaint may be filed with the Commission.

Section 2.17 - Customer Liability

Customer shall be liable for any damage or injury to utility-owned property shown to be caused by the
customer.
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Inline Utilities, LL.C Water Tariff Page No. 10
(Utility Name})

SECTION 3.0--EXTENSION POLICY

Section 3.01 - Standard Extension Requirements

Line Extensions and Construction Charges: No Contribution in Aid of Construction may be required of
any customer except as provided for in this approved extension policy.

The Utility is not required to extend service to any applicant outside of its certified service area and will
only do so under terms and conditions mutually agreeable to the Utility and the applicant, in compliance
with PUC rules and policies, and upon extension of the Utility's certified service area boundaries by the
PUC.

The applicant for service will be given an itemized statement of the costs, options such as rebates to the
customer, sharing of construction costs between the utility and the customer, or sharing of costs between
the customer and other applicants prior to beginning construction.

The Utility is not required to extend service to any applicant outside of its certificated service area and
will only do so under terms and conditions mutually agreeable to the Utility and the applicant, in
compliance with PUC rules and policies, and upon extension of the Utility's certificated service area
boundaries by the PUC.

Section 3.02 - Costs Utilities and Service Applicants Shal! Bear

Within its certified area, the utility will pay the cost of the first 200 feet of any water main or distribution
line necessary to extend service to an individual residential customer within a platted subdivision.

However, if the residential customer requesting service purchased the property after the developer was
notified in writing of the need to provide facilities to the utility, the utility may charge for the first 200
feet. The utility must also be able to document that the developer of the subdivision refused to provide
facilities compatible with the utility's facilities in accordance with the utility's approved extension policy
after receiving a written request from the utility.

Residential customers will be charged the equivalent of the costs of extending service to their property
from the nearest transmission or distribution line even if that line does not have adequate capacity to
serve the customer. However, if the customer places unique, non-standard service demands upon the
system, the customer may be charged the additional cost of extending service to and throughout their
property. including the cost of all necessary transmission and storage facilities necessary to meet the
service demands anticipated to be created by that property.

Unless an exception is granted by the PUC, the residential service applicant shall not be required to pay
for costs of main extensions greater than 2" in diameter for water distribution and pressure wastewater
collection lines and 6" in diameter for gravity wastewater lines.

Exceptions may be granted by the PUC if:

e adequate service cannot be provided to the applicant using the maximum line sizes listed due to
distance or elevation, in which case, it shall be the utility’s burden to justify that a larger diameter
pipe is required for adequate service;

e or larger minimum line sizes are required under subdivision platting requirements or building
codes of municipalities within whose corporate limits or extraterritorial jurisdiction the point of
use is located; or the residential service applicant is [ocated outside the CCN service area.
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Inline Utilities, LLC Water Tariff Page No. 1]
(Utility Name)

SECTION 3.0 -- EXTENSION POLICY (Continued)

IF an exception is granted, the Utility shall establish a proportional cost plan for the specific extension or
a rebate plan which may be limited to seven years to return the portion of the applicant's costs for
oversizing as new customers are added to ensure that future applicants for service on the line pay at least
as much as the initial service applicant.

For purposes of determining the costs that service applicants shall pay, commercial customers with
service demands greater than residential customer demands in the certified area, industrial, and
wholesale customers shall be treated as developers. A service applicant requesting a one-inch meter for
a lawn sprinkler system to service a residential lot is not considered nonstandard service.

Ifan applicant requires service other than the standard service provided by the utility, such applicant will
be required to pay all expenses incurred by the utility in excess of the expenses that would be incurred
in providing the standard service and connection beyond 200 feet and throughout his property including
the cost of all necessary transmission facilities.

The utility will bear the full cost of any over-sizing of water mains necessary to serve other customers
in the immediate area. The individual residential customer shall not be charged for any additional
production, storage, or treatment facilities. Contributions in aid of construction may not be required of
individual residential customers for production, storage, treatment or transmission facilities unless
otherwise approved by the Commission under this specific extension policy.

Section 3.03 - Contributions in Aid of Construction

Developers may be required to provide contributions in aid of construction in amounts sufficient to
furnish the development with all facilities necessary to provide for reasonable local demand requirements
and to comply with TCEQ minimum design criteria for facilities used in the production, transmission,
pumping, or treatment of water or TCEQ minimum requirements. For purposes of this subsection, a
developer is one who subdivides or requests more than two meters on a piece of property. Commercial,
industrial, and wholesale customers will be treated as developers.

Any applicant who places unique or non-standard service demands on the system may be required to
provide contributions in aid of construction for the actual costs of any additional facilities required to
maintain compliance with the TCEQ minimum design criteria for water production, treatment, pumping,
storage and transmission.

Any service extension to a subdivision (recorded or unrecorded) may be subject to the provisions and
restrictions of 16 TAC §24.163(d). When a developer wishes to extend the system to prepare to service
multiple new connections, the charge shall be the cost of such extension, plus a pro-rata charge for
facilities which must be committed to such extension compliant with the TCEQ minimum design criteria.
As provided by 16 TAC § 24.163(d)4), for purposes of this section, commercial, industrial, and
wholesale customers shall be treated as developers.
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Inline Utilities, LLC Water Tariff Page No. 12
{Utility Name}

SECTION 3.0 -- EXTENSION POLICY (Continued)

A utility may only charge a developer standby fees for unrecovered costs of facilities committed to a
developer’s property under the following circumstances:
e Under a contract and only in accordance with the terms of the contract; or
e if service is not being provided to a lot or lots within two years after installation of facilities
necessary to provide service to the lots has been completed and if the standby fees are included
on the utilities approved tariff after a rate change application has been filed. The fees cannot be
billed to the developer or collected until the standby fees have been approved by the commission
or executive director.
e for purposes of this section, a manufactured housing rental community can only be charged
standby fees under a contract or if the utility installs the facilities necessary to provide
individually metered service to each of the rental lots or spaces in the community.

Section 3.04 - Appealing Connection Costs

The imposition of additional extension costs or charges as provided by Sections 3.0 - Extension Policy
of this tariff shall be subject to appeal as provided in this tariff, PUC rules, or the rules of such other
regulatory authority as may have jurisdiction over the utility's rates and services. Any applicant required
to pay for any costs not specifically set forth in the rate schedule pages of this tariff shall be given a
written explanation of such costs prior to payment and/or commencement of construction. If the
applicant does not believe that these costs are reasonable or necessary, the applicant shall be informed
of the right to appeal such costs to the PUC or such other regulatory authority having jurisdiction over
the utility's rates in that portion of the utility's service area in which the applicant’s property(ies) is
located.

Section 3.05 - Applying for Service

The Utility will provide a written service application form to the applicant for each request for service
received by the Utility's business offices. A separate application shall be required for each potential
service location if more than one service connection is desired by any individual applicant. Service
application forms will be available at the Utility's business office during normal weekday business hours.
Service applications will be sent by prepaid first-class United States mail to the address provided by the
applicant upon request. Completed applications should be returned by hand delivery in case there are
questions which might delay fulfilling the service request. Completed service applications may be
submitted by mail if hand delivery is not possible.

Where a new tap or service connection is required, the service applicant shall be required to submit a
written service application and request that a tap be made. A diagram, map, plat, or written metes and
bounds description of precisely where the applicant desires each tap or service connection is to be made
and, if necessary, where the meter is to be installed, along the applicant's property line may also be
required with the tap request. The actual point of connection and meter installation must be readily
accessible to Utility personnel for inspection, servicing, and meter reading while being reasonably secure
from damage by vehicles and mowers. If the Utility has more than one main adjacent to the service
applicant's property, the tap or service connection will be made to the Utility's nearest service main with
adequate capacity to service the applicant's full potential service demand.
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
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Inline Utilities, LLC Water Tariff Page No. 13
{Utility Name)

SECTION 3.0 -- EXTENSION POLICY (Continued)

Beyond the initial 200 feet, the customer shall bear only the equivalent cost of extending from the nearest
main. Ifthe tap or service connection cannot be made at the applicant's desired location, it will be made
atl another location mutually acceptable to the applicant and the Utility. If no agreement on location can
be made, the applicant may refer the matter to the PUC for resolution.

Section 3.06 - Qualified Service Applicant

A "qualified service applicant” is an applicant who has: (1) met all of the Utility's requirements for
service contained in this tariff, PUC rules and/or PUC order, (2) has made payment or made arrangement
for payment of tap fees, (3) has provided all easements and rights-of-way required to provide service to
the requested location, (4) delivered an executed customer service inspection certificate to the Utifity, if
applicable, and (5) has executed a customer service application for each location to which service is
being requested.

The Utility shall serve each qualified service applicant within its certilied service area as soon as practical
afier receiving a completed service application.  All service requests will be fulfilled within the time
limits prescribed by PUC rules once the applicant has met all conditions precedent to achieving
"qualified service applicant” status. If a scrvice request cannot be fulfilled within the required period.
the applicant shall be notitied in writing of the delay, its cause and the anticipated date that service will
be available. The PUC service dates shall not become applicable until the service applicant has met all
conditions precedent to becoming a qualified service applicant as defined by PUC rules.

Section 3.07 - Developer Requirecments

As a condition of service to a new subdivision, the Utility shall require a developer (as delined by PUC
rule) to provide permanent recorded public utility easements as a condition of service to any location
within the developert's property.
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APPENDIX A - DROUGH'T CONTINGENCY PLAN

“This page incorporates by reference the utility's Drought Contingency Plan, as approved and
periodically amended by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality.”
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APPENDIX B - SAMPLE SERVICE AGREEMENT
(Utility Must Attach Blank Copy)
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APPENDIX C -- APPLICATION FOR SERVICE
(Utility Must Attach Blank Copy)
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SEWER UTILITY TARIFF

Docket Number 54729
Inline Utilities, L1.C 21755 1H 45 North. Suite |1
(Utility Name) {Business Address)
Spring, Texas 77388 (2811 651-1126
(City, State, Zip Code) (Area Code/Telephone}

This tariff is effective for utility operations under the following Certificate of Convenience and
Necessity:

21142

This tarilT is effective in the following counties:

Harris

This tariff is effective in the following cities or unincorporated towns (if any):
N/A

This tariff is effective in the following subdivisions or systems:

Sugarberry Place and Cottage Gardens, WQ0013942-001]

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The above utility lists the following sections of its tariff (if additional pages are needed for a
section, all pages should be numbcred consecutively):

SECTION 14 = RATE SCHEDULLE & i 05 55 1 cnnmmasnmnmonnsmssnmmms 2.2.00605 658 16 6 55 55 5 5.5 5 58 5755555 0505 2
SECTION 2.0 -- SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES ... 4
SECTION 3.0 -- EXTENSION POLICY L.ttt e nen g ee e 9

APPENDIX A -- APPLICATION FOR SERVICE
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[nline Utilities, LLC Sewer Utility Tarift Page No. 2
(Utility Name)

SECTION 1.0 -- RATE SCHEDULE
Section 1.01 - Rates

Meter Size Monthly Minimum Charee Gallonage Charee
5/8" or 3/4" $25.00 (Includes 0 gallons) $3.59 per 1000 pallons

FORM OF PAYMENT: The utility will accept the following forms of payment:

Cash_X | Check_X , Money Order_ X , Credit Card , Other (specify)
THE UTILITY MAY REQUIRE EXACT CHANGE FOR PAYMENTS AND MAY REFUSE TO ACCEPT
PAYMENTS MADE USING MORE THAN $1.00 IN SMALL COINS, A WRITTEN RECEIPT WILL BL GIVEN
FOR CASH PAYMENTS

REGULATORY ASSESSMENT = oo o coppgme s s sy o o o o s s 2 s 1.0%
TCEQ RULES REQUIRE THE UTILITY TO COLLECT A FEE OF ONE PERCENT OF THE RETAIL MONTHLY
BILL.

Section 1.02 - Miscellaneous [Fees

TAP FEE ..o oot e e e e e e s $500.00
TAP FEE COVEERS THE UTILITY'S COSTS FOR MATERIALS AND LABOR TO INSTALL A STANDARD
RESIDENTIAL 5/8” or 3/4" METER. AN ADDITIONAL FEE TO COVER UNIQUE COSTS 15 PERMITTED I
LISTED ON TS TARIFF.

TAP FEE (THLGLIS GOBYEY w1515 15 5 5 75500050.5050.50585 05 8805 50.0503.05.05. 85,555 400 0 16 6 56 0 1 5565 56 55 5 52 Actual Cost
FOR EXAMPLE, A ROAD BORE FOR CUSTOMERS OUTSIDE OF SUBDIVISIONS OR RESIDENTIAL AREAS.

TAP FEE {LArge MELEIY veeveviiiiiiiiirorinieciieeiteeereie s eesses e snessnsasssassseesseneeeneeseeesineaan Actual Cost
TAP FEE IS THE GTILITY'S ACTUAL COST FOR MATERIALS AND LABOR FOR METER SIZE INSTALLED.

RECONNECTION FEE
THE RECONNECT FEL MUS T BE PAID BEFORE SERVICE CAN BE RESTORED TO A CUSTOMER WHO HAS
BEEN DISCONNECTED FOR THE POLLOWING REASCONS (OR OTHER REASONS LISTED UNDER SECTION
20 OF TLIS TARIFF):
a) Nonpayment of bill (Maximum $25.00) ..o $25.00

b) Customer's request that service be disconnected ..., $25.00
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[nline Utitities, LI.C Sewer Utility Tariff Page No. 3
(Utility Name)

SECTION 1.0 - RATE SCHEDULE (Continued)

Section 1.02 - Miscellaneous Fees (Continued)

THE TRANSFER FEE WILL BE CHARGED FOR CHANGING AN ACCOUNT NAME AT THE SAME SERVICE
LOCATION WHEN THE SERVICFE [S NOT DISCONNECTED

LATE CHARGE (Either $5.00 OR 10% of the bill) ..ot 10%
TCEQ RULES ALLOW A ONE-TIME PENALTY TQ BE CHARGED ON DELINQUENT BILLS. A LATE
CHARGE MAY NOT BE APPLIED TO ANY BALANCE TO WHICH THE PENALTY WAS APPLIED IN A

PREVIOUS BILLING.

RETURNEDR CHECK CEARGE. ;5 g o5 u u sesssesssmsommssmmsammsosommsmmmmmmmsasmues 5 % & w5 & 5 & 5560 $20.00
RETURNED CHECK CHARGES MUST BE BASED ON THE UTILITY'S DOCUMENTABLE COST.

CUSTOMER DEPOSIT RESIDENTIAL (Maximum $50) ...c.cccccvinniinnnnniniennnn. $50.00

COMMERCIAL & NON-RESIDENTIAL DEPOSIT ................ 1/6TH OF EST. ANNUAL BILL

GOVERNMENTAL TESTING, INSPECTION AND COSTS SURCHARGE
WHEN AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY TCEQ AND AFTER NOTICE TO CUSTOMERS. THE UTILITY MAY
INCREASE RATES TO RECOVER INCREASED COSTS FOR INSPECTION FEES AND WATER TESTING. [16
TAC 24.21{K}2)]

LINE EXTENSION AND CONSTRUCTION CHARGES:
REFER TO SECTION 3.0--EXTENSION POLICY FOR TERMS, CONDITIONS, AND CHARGES WIIEN NEW
CONSTRUCTION 1S NECESSARY TO PROVIDE SERVICE.
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Inline Utilities, LLC Sewer Utility Tariff Page No. 4
(Utility Name)

SECTION 2.0 -- SERVICE RULLES AND POLICIES

The utility will have the most current Public Utility Commission of Texas (PUC or Commission)
Rules relating to Water and Wastewater Utility regulations, available at its office for reference
purposes. The Rules and this tariff shall be available for public inspection and reproduction at a
reasonable cost. The latest Rules or commission approved changes to the Rules supersede any
rules or requirements in this tarift.

Section 2.01 - Application tfor Sewer Service

All applications for service will be made on the utility's standard application or contract form
(attached in the Appendix to this tariff), will be signed by the applicant, any required fees {deposits,
reconncct, tap, extension fees, etc. as applicable) will be paid and easements, il required, will be
granted before service is provided by the utility. A separate application or contract will be madc
for each service location.

Section 2.02 - Refusal of Service

The utility may decline to serve an applicant until the applicant has complied with the regulations
of the regulatory agencies (state and municipal regulations) and for the reasons outlined in the
PUC Rules. In the event that the utility refuses to serve an applicant, the utility will inform the
applicant in writing of the basis of its refusal. The utility is also required to inform the applicant
that a complaint may be filed with the Commission.

Section 2.03 - Fees and Charges & Easements Required Before Service Can Be Connected

(A} Customer Deposits

If a residential applicant cannot establish credit to the satisfaction of the utility, the applicant may
be required to pay a deposit as provided for in Section 1.02 - Miscellaneous Fees of this tariff. The
utility will keep records of the deposit and credit interest in accordance with PUC Rules.

Residential applicants 65 years of age or older may not be required to pay deposits unless the
applicant has an outstanding account balance with the utility or another water or sewer utility
which accrued within the last two vears.

Nonresidential applicants who cannot establish credit to the satisfaction of the utility may be
required to make a deposit that does not exceed an amount equivalent to one-sixth of the estimated
annual billings.

Refund of deposit - If service is not connected, or after disconnection of service, the utility will
promptly refund the customer's deposit plus accrued interest or the balance, if any, in excess of the
unpaid bills for service furnished. The utility may refund the residential customer’s deposit at any
time prior to termination of utility service but must refund the deposit plus interest for any
residential customer who has paid 18 consecutive billings without being delinquent.
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Inline Utilities. LLC Sewer Ultility Tariff Page No. 5
(Utility Name)

SECTION 2.0 — SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(B) Tap or Reconnect Fees

A new customer requesting service at a location where scrvice has not previously been provided
musl pay a tap fee as provided in Section !. A customer requesting service where service has
previously been provided must pay a reconnect fee as provided in Section 1. Any applicant or
existing customer required to pay for any costs not specifically set forth in the rate schedule pages
of this tariff shall be given a written explanation of such costs prior to request for payment and/or
commencement of construction. 1f the applicant or existing customer docs not believe that these
costs are reasonable or necessary, the applicant or existing customer shall be informed of their
right to appcal such costs to the PUC or such other regulatory authority having jurisdiction over
the utility's rates in that portion of the utility's service area in which the applicant's or existing
customer's property (ies) is located.

Fees in addition to the regular tap fec may be charged to cover unique costs not normally incurred
as permitted by § 24.86(a}(1)(C) if they are listed on this approved tariff. For example, a road bore
for customers outside a subdivision or residential area could be considered a unique cost.

(C) Easement Requirement

Where recorded public utility easements on the service applicant’s property do not exist or public
road right-of-way easements are not available to access the applicant’s property, the Utility may
require the applicant to provide it with a permanent recorded public utility easement on and across
the applicant's real property sufficient to provide service to that applicant, Such eascment(s) shall
not be used for the construction of production, storage, transmission or pressure facilities unless
they are needed for adequate service to that applicant.

Section 2.04 - Utility Response to Applications for Service

After the applicant has met all the requirements, conditions and regulations for service, the utility
will install tap and utility cut-off and/or take all necessary actions to initiate service. The utility
will serve each qualified applicant for service within 5 working days unless line extensions or new
facilitics are required. 1l construction is required to fill the order and if it cannot be completed
within 30 days, the utility will provide the applicant with a written explanation of the construction
required and an expected date of service.

Except for good cause where service has previously been provided, service will be reconnected
within one working day afier the applicant has met the requirements for reconnection.

Section 2.05 - Customer Responsibility

The customer will be responsible for furnishing and laying the necessary customer service pipe
from the tap location to the place of consumption. Customers will not be allowed to use the utility's
cutoff.

2.06 Access to Customer's Premises

All customers or service applicants shall provide access to utility cutoffs at all times reasonably
necessary to conduct ordinary utility business and after normal business hours as needed to protect
and preserve the integrity of the public drinking water supply.
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Inline Utilities, LLC Sewer Utility Tariff Page No. 6
(Utility Name)

SECTION 2.0 - SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Section 2.07 - Back Flow Prevention Devices

No water connection shall be made to any establishment where an actual or potential
contamination or system hazard exists without an approved air gap or mechanical backflow
prevention assembly. The air gap or backflow prevention assembly shall be installed in accordance
with the American Water Works Association (AWWA) standards C510, C511 and AWWA
Manual Mi4 or the University Of Southern California Manual Of Cross-Connection Control,
current edition. The backflow assembly installation by a licensed plumber shall occur at the
customer's expense.

The back flow assembly shall be tested upon installation by a recognized prevention assembly
tester and certified to be operating within specifications. Back flow prevention assemblies which
are installed to provide protection against high health hazards must be tested and certified to be
operating within specifications at least annually by a recognized back flow prevention device
tester. The maintenance and testing of the back flow assembly shall occur at the customer’s
expense.

Section 2.10 - Billing

(A) Regular Billing

Bills from the utility will be mailed monthly unless otherwise authorized by the Commission. The
due date of bills for utility service will be at least sixteen (16) days from the date of issuance. The
postmark on the bill or, if there is no postmark on the bill, the recorded date of mailing by the
utility will constitute proof of the date of issuance. Payment for utility service is delinquent if full
payment, including late fees and the regulatory assessment, is not received at the utility or the
utility's authorized payment agency by 5:00 p.m. on the due date. Ifthe due date falls on a holiday
or weekend, the due date for payment purposes will be the next workday after the due date.

(B) Late Fees

A late penalty of either $5.00 or 10.0% will be charged on bills received after the due date. The
penalty on delinquent bills will not be applied to any balance to which the penalty was applied in
a previous billing. The utility must maintain a record of the date of mailing to charge the late
penalty.

(C)Information on Bill

Each bill will provide all information required by the PUC Rules. For each of the systems it
operates, the utility will maintain and note on the monthly bill a local or toll-free telephone number
(or numbers) to which customers can direct questions about their utility service.

(D) Prorated Bills

If service is interrupted or seriously impaired for 24 consecutive hours or more, the utility will
prorate the monthly base bill in proportion to the time service was not available to reflect this loss
of service.

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TENAS )
APPROVED

Docket No. 54729

APk 037204 54129

T&W 000042

-MxOO0



Inline Utilities, L..C Sewer Utility Tarilf Page No. 7
(Utility Name)

SECTION 2.0 -- SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Section 2.11- Payiments

All payments for utility service shall be delivered or mailed to the utility's business office. If the
business office fails to receive payment prior o the time of noticed disconnection for non-payment
of a delinquent account, service will be terminated as scheduled. Utility service crews shall not
be allowed to collect payments on customer accounts in the field.

Payment of an account by any means that has becn dishonored and returned by the payor or payee's
bank shall be deemed to be delinquent. All returned payments must be redcemed with cash or
valid money order. If a customer has two returned payments within a twelve month period, the
customer shall be required to pay a deposit if one has not already been paid.

Section 2.12 - Service Disconnection

(A) With Notice

Utility service may be disconnected if the bill has not been paid in full by the date listed on the
termination notice. The termination date must be at least 10 days after the notice is mailed or hand
delivered.

The utility is encouraged to offer a deferred payment plan to a customer who cannot pay an
outstanding bill in full and is willing to pay the balance in reasonable installments. However, a
customer's utility service may be disconnected if a bill has not been paid or a deferred payment
agreement entered into within 26 days from the date of issuance of a bill and if proper notice of
termination has been given.

Notice of termination must be a separate mailing or hand delivery in accordance with the PUC
Rules.

(B) Without Notice
Utility service may also be disconnected without notice (or reasons as described in the PUC Rules.

Section 2.13 - Reconnection of Service
Utility personnel must be available during normal business hours to accept payments on the day
service is disconnected and the following day unless service was disconnected at the customer's
request or due to a hazardous condition.

Service will be reconnected within 24 hours after the past due bill, reconnect fees and any other
outstanding charges are paid or the conditions which caused service to be disconnected are
corrected.

Section 2.14 - Service [nterruptions

The utility will make all reasonable etforts to prevent interruptions of service. I interruptions
oceur, the utility will re-establish service within the shortest possible time. Except for momentary
interruptions due to automatic equipment operations, the utility will keep a complete record of all
interruptions, both emergency and scheduled and will notily the Commission in writing of any
service interruptions affecting the cntire system or any major division of the system lasting more
than four hours. The notice will explain the cause of the interruptions.

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
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Inline Utilities, LL.C Sewer Utility Tariff Page No. 8
(Utility Name}

SECTION 2.0 -- SERVICE RULES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Section 2.135 - Quality of Service

The utility will plan, furnish, and maintain and operate production, treatment, storage,
transmission, and collection facilities of sufficient size and capacity to provide continuous and
adequate service for all reasonable consumer uses and to treat sewage and discharge effluent of
the quality required by its discharge permit issued by the Commission. Unless otherwise
authorized by the Commission, the utility will maintain facilities as described in the PUC Rules.

Section 2.16 - Customer Complaints and Disputes

If a customer or applicant for service lodges a complaint, the utility will promptly make a suitable
investigation and advise the complainant of the results. Service will not be disconnected pending
completion of the investigation. If the complainant is dissatisfied with the utility's response. the
utility must advise the complainant that he has recourse through the PUC complaint process.
Pending resolution of a complaint, the commission may require continuation or restoration of
service.

The utility will maintain a record of all complaints which shows the name and address of the
complainant, the date and nature of the complaint and the adjustment or disposition thereof, for a
period of two years after the final settlement of the complaint.

In the event of a dispute between a customer and a utility regarding any bill for utility service, the
utility will conduct an investigation and report the results to the customer. If the dispute is not

resolved, the utility will inform the customer that a complaint may be filed with the Commission.

Section 2.17 - Customer Liability

Customer shall be liable tfor any damage or injury to utility-owned property shown to be caused
by the customer.

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAD
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Inline Utilities. LLC Sewer Utility Tariff Page No. 9
(Utility Name)

SECTION 3.0 -- EXTENSION POLICY

Section 3.0l - Standard Extension Reguircments

Line Extension and Construction Charges: No Contribution in Aid of Construction may be
required of any customer cxcept as provided for in this approved extension poliey.

The Utility is not required 10 extend service to any applicant outside of its certified service area
and will only do so under terms and conditions mutually agreeable to the Utility and the applicant,
in compliance with PUC rules and policies, and upon cxtension of the Utility's certified scrvice
area boundaries by the PUC.

The applicant for service will be given an itemized statement of the costs, options such as rebates
to the customer, sharing of construction costs betwceen the utility and the customer, or sharing of
costs belween the customer and other applicants prior to beginning construction.

The Utility is not required to cxtend service to any applicant outside of its certificated service area
and will only do so under terms and conditions mutually agreeable to the Utility and the applicant,
in compliance with PUC rules and policies, and upon extension of the Utility's certificated service
area boundaries by the PUC.

Section 3.02 - Costs Utilities and Service Applicants Shall Bear

Within its certified area, the utility will pay the cost of the first 200 feet of any water main or
distribution line necessary to extend service to an individual residential customer within a platted
subdivision.

However, if the residential customer requesting service purchased the property after the developer
was notified in writing of the need to provide facilities to the utility, the utility may charge for the
first 200 feet. The utility must also be able to document that the developer of the subdivision
refused to provide facilities compatible with the utility's facilities in accordance with the utility's
approved extension policy after receiving a written request from the utility.

Residential customers will be charged the equivalent of the costs of extending service to their
property from the nearest collection line even if that line does not have adequate capacity 1o serve
the customer. However, if the customer places unique, non-standard service demands upon the
system, the customer may be charged the additional cost of extending service to and throughout
their property, including the cost of all necessary transmission and storage facilities necessary to
meet the service demands anticipated to be created by that property.

Unless an exception is granted by the PUC, the residential service applicant shall not be required
1o pay for costs of main extensions greater than 6" in diameter for gravity wastewater lines.

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
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Inline Utilities. LLC Sewer Utility Tariff Page No, 10
(Utility Name)

SECTION 3.0 -- EXTENSION POLICY {Continued)

Exceptions may be granted by the PUC if:

¢ adequate service cannot be provided to the applicant using the maximum line sizes
listed due to distance or elevation, in which case, it shall be the utility’s burden to justify
that a larger diameter pipe is required for adequate service;

¢ o larger minimum linc sizes are required under subdivision platting requirements or
building codes of municipalities within whose corporate limits or extraterritorial
jurisdiction the point of use is located; or the residential service applicant is located
outside the CCN service area.

If an exception is granted, the Utility shall establish a proportional cost plan for the specific
extension or a rebate plan which may be limited to seven years to return the portion of the
applicant's costs for oversizing as new customers are added to ensure that future applicants for
service on the line pay at least as much as the initial service applicant.

For purposes of determining the costs that service applicants shall pay, commercial customers with
service demands greater than residential customer demands in the certified area, industrial, and
wholesale customers shall be treated as developers.

If an applicant requires service other than the standard service provided by the utility, such
applicant will be required to pay all expenses incurred by the utility in excess of the expenses that
would be incurred in providing the standard service and connection beyond 200 feet and
throughout his property including the cost of all necessary transmission facilities.

The utility will bear the full cost of any over-sizing of sewer mains necessaty to serve other
customers in the immediate area. The individual residential customer shall not be charged for any
additional treatment facilities. Contributions in aid of construction of individual residential
customers for production, storage, treatment or transmission facilities unless otherwise approved
by the Commission under this specific extension policy.

Section 3.03 - Contributions in Aid of Construction

Developers may be required to provide contributions in aid of construction in amounts sutficient
to furnish the development with all facilities necessary to provide for reasonable local demand
requirements and to comply with TCEQ minimum design criteria for facilities used in the
production, collection, fransmission, pumping, or treatment of sewage or TCEQ minimum
requirements. For purposes of this subsection, a developer is one who subdivides or requests more
than two meters on a piece of property. Commercial, industrial, and wholesale customers will be
treated as developers.

Any applicant who places unique or non-standard service demands on the system may be required
to provide contributions in aid of construetion for the actual costs of any additional facilities
required to maintain compliance with the TCEQ minimum design criteria for water production,
treatment, pumping, storage and transmission.

BlRUE BFLTY CORMNSSION OF TEXAS
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Inline Utilities, LLC Sewer Utility Tarift Page No. 11
(Utility Name)

SECTION 3.0 -- EXTENSION POLICY (Continued)

Any service extension to a subdivision {recorded or unrecorded) may be subject to the provisions
and restrictions of § 24.86(d). When a developer wishes to extend the system to prepare to service
multiple new connections, the charge shall be the cost of such extension, plus a pro-rata charge lor
facilities which must be committed to such extension compliant with the TCEQ minimum desigh
criteria. As provided by § 24.85(e)(3)}, for purposes of this section, commercial, industrial, and
wholesale customers shall be treated as developers.

A utility may only charge a developer standby fees for unrecovered costs of facilities committed
to a developer’s property under the following circumstances:
* Under a contract and only in aceordance with the terms of the contract; or
s if service is not being provided to a lot or lots within two years after installation of
facilities necessary to provide service to the lots has been completed and if the
standby fees are included on the utilities approved tarift after a rate change
application has been filed. The fees cannot be billed to the developer or collected
until the standby fees have been approved by the commission or executive director.
» For purposes of this section, a manufactured housing rental community can only be
charged standby fees under a contract or if the utility installs the facilities necessary
to provide individually metered service to each of the rental lots or spaces in the
community.

Section 3.04 - Appealing Connection Costs

The imposition of additional extension costs or charges as provided by Sections 3.0 - Exicnsion
Policy of this tariff shall be subject to appeal as provided in this tariff, PUC rules, or the rules of
such other regulatory authority as may have jurisdiction over the utility's rates and scrvices. Any
applicant required to pay for any costs not specifically set forth in the rate schedule pages of this
tariff shall be given a written explanation of such costs prior to payment and/or commencement of
construction. [If the applicant does not belicve that these costs are reasonable or necessary, the
applicant shall be informed of the right to appeal such costs to the PUC or such other regulatory
authority having jurisdiction over the utility's rates in that portion of the utility's service area in
which the applicani's property(ies) is located.

Section 3.05 - Applying for Service

The Utility will provide a written service application form to the applicant for each request for
service received by the Utility's business offices. A separate application shall be required for each
potential service location if more than one service connection is desired by any individual
applicant. Service application forms will be available at the Utility's business office during normal
weekday business hours. Service applications will be sent by prepaid first class United States mail
to the address provided by the applicant upon request. Completed applications should be returned
by hand delivery in case there are questions which might delay fulfilling the service request.
Completed service applications may be submitted by mail if hand delivery is not possible.

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION OF TEXAS
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[nline Utilities. LLC Sewer Utility Taritf Page No. 12
(Utility Name)

SECTION 3.0 -- EXTENSION POLICY (Continued)

Where a new tap or service connection is required, the service applicant shall be required to submit
awritten service application and request that a tap be made. A diagram, map, plat, or written metes
and bounds description of precisely where the applicant desires each tap or service connection is
to be made and, 1l necessary, where the meter is to be installed, along the applicant’s property line
may also be required with the tap request. The actual point of connection and meter installation
must be readily accessible 1o Utility personnel for inspection, servicing, and meter reading while
being reasonably secure from damage by vehicles and mowers. If the Utility has more than one
main adjacent to the service applicant's property, the tap or service conneection will be made to the
Utility's nearest service main with adequate capacity to service the applicant's full potential service
demand. Beyond the initial 200 feet, the customer shall bear only the equivalent cost of extending
from the nearest main. 1f the tap or service connection cannot be madc at the applicant's desired
tocation, it will be madc at another location mutually acceptable to the applicant and the Utility.
I no agrecment on location can be made, the applicant may refer the matter to the PUC for
resolution.

Section 3.06 - Qualified Service Applicant

A "qualified service applicant” is an applicant who has: (1) met all of the Utility's requirements
for service contained in this tariff, PUC rules and/or PUC order, (2) has made payment or madce
arrangement for payment of tap fees, (3} has provided all easemcnts and rights-of-way required
10 provide service to the requested location, (4) delivered an executed customer service inspection
certificate to the Ulility, if applicable, and (5) has cxecuted a customer service appiication for each
location to which service is being requested.

The Utility shall serve each qualified service applicant within its certified service area as soon as
practical after recciving a completed service application. All service requests will be fullilled
within the time limits prescribed by PUC rules once the applicant has met all conditions precedent
to achicving "qualified service applicant” status. If a service request cannot be fullilled within the
required period, the applicant shall be notified in writing of the delay, its cause and the anticipated
date that service will be available. The PUC service dates shall not become applicable until the
service applicant has met all conditions precedent to becoming a qualified service applicant as
defined by PUC rules.

Section 3.07 - Developer Requirements
As a condition of service t¢ a new subdivision, the Utility shall require a developer (as defined by
PUC rule) to provide permanent recorded public utility easements as a condition of service to any
location within the developet's property.
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APPENDIX A -- SAMPLE SERVICE AGREEMENT
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Attachment

6

ife

Franchise Tax Account Status
As of : 04/17/2025 13:22:49

This summary page is designed to satisfy standard business needs. If you need to reinstate or terminate a
business with the Texas Secretary of State, you must
obtain a certificate specific to that purpose.

T & W WATER SERVICE COMPANY

Texas Taxpayer Number
Mailing Address

© Right to Transact Business in
Texas

State of Formation

SOS Registration Status
(SOS status updated each business
day)

Effective SOS Registration Date
Texas SOS File Number
Registered Agent Name

Registered Office Street Address

17420569893
PO BOX 2927 CONROE, TX 77305-2927

ACTIVE

>

ACTIVE

01/18/1979

0046041000

C T CORPORATION SYSTEM

1999 BRYAN ST., STE. 900 DALLAS, TX 75201
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OfTice of the Secretary of State Filed in the Office of the
. . Secretary of State of Texas
ggpﬁrat'f;ﬁsgiemo" Filing #: 46041000 9/20/2021
U BOL Document #: 1080415550003
Austin, Texas 78711-3697 Image Generated Electronically
(Form 503) for Web Filing

ASSUMED NAME CERTIFICATE
FOR FILING WITH THE SECRETARY OF STATE

1. The assumed name under which the business or protessional service is or is to be conducted or
rendered is:

Blue Topaz Utilities

2. The name of the entity as stated in its certiticate of formation, application for registration, or
comparable document is:

T & WWATER SERVICE COMPANY

3. The state, country, or other jurisdiction under the laws of which it was incorporated, organized
or associated is TEXAS

4. The period, not to exceed 10 years, during which the assumed name will be used is : 10

year]s[

5. The entity is a : Domestic For-Profit Corporation

6. The entity's principal office address is:
PO Box 2927, Conroe, TX, USA 77305

7. The county or counties where business or professional services are being or are to be conducted
or rendered under such assumed name are:

ALL COUNTIES

8. The undersigned, if acting in the capacity of an attorney-in-fact of the entity, certifies that the
entity has duly authorized the attorney-in-fact in writing to execute this document. The undersigned
signs this document subject to the penalties imposed by law for the submission of a materially talse
or fraudulent instrument.

T & WWATER SERVICE COMPANY
Name of the entity

By: Shawn M. Filippi, Corporate Secretary of T & W Water Service Company
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Signature of officer, general partner, manager,
representative or atlorney-in-fact of the entity

FILING OFFICE COPY
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Jose A. Esparza
Deputy Sccretary of State

Corporations Seclion
P.O.Box 13697
Austin. Texas 78711-3697

Office of the Secretary of State

CERTIFICATE OF FILING
OF

T & W WATER SERVICE COMPANY
File Number: 46041000
Assumed Name:
Blue Topaz Utilities

The undersigned, as Deputy Secretary of State of Texas, hereby certifies that the assumed name certificate
for the above named entity has been received in this office and filed as provided by law on the date shown
below.

ACCORDINGLY the undersigned, as Deputy Secretary of State, and by virtue of the authority vested in
the secretary by law hereby issues this Certificate of Filing.

Dated: 09/20/2021

Effective: 09/20/2021

g e
o e c";/” m—..-,;_._j-_,._ P
l\u__ <.__,,,»~*" g

Jose A. Esparza
Deputy Secretary of State

Come visit us on the imternet af AHps: SUWW, 808, feXas. gov:
Phone: (312} 463-3335 Fax: (512) 463-3709 Dial: 7-1-1 for Relay

Servic
Prepared byv: WEBSUBSCRIBER TID: 10342 Document: 10804155

80054



DOCKET 54758

APPLICATION OF T & W WATER

SERVYICE COMPANY DBA BLUE TOPAZ
UTILITIES TO AMEND ITS CERTIFICATE OF
CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY IN

FORT BEND COUNTY

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION

OF TEXAS

R R o R R

SUPPLEMENT TO APPLICATION OF T & W WATER SERVICE COMPANY DBA
BLUE TOPAZ UTILITIES TO AMEND ITS CERTIFICATE OF CONVENIENCE AND
NECESSITY AND FOR APPROVAL OF NAME CHANGE

T & W Water Service Company (T & W or the Applicant) hereby submits this supplement to their
application tiled on March 15, 2023, tor Commission approval of the amendment to its Certiticate
of Convenience and Necessity (CCN) Numbers 12892 and 21127 in Fort Bend County.
Furthermore, with this supplement, the Applicant requests approval of it name change from T &
W Water Service Company to T & W Water Service Company dba Blue Topaz Utilities.

L Request for Name Change

T & W Water Service Company is a public utility providing water and wastewater utility service
under CCN Nos. 12892 and 21127, respectively. On September 20, 2021, T & W Water Service
Company filed for and was issued through the Texas Secretary of State the assumed name of T &
W Water Service Company dba Blue Topaz Utilities. The Assumed Name Certificate as filed of
record with the Secretary of State is attached hereto (See Attachment 1).

After conferring with Staff of the Public Utility Commission of Texas (Commission Staff), the
Applicant requests that the request for name change be processed parallel with the CCN
amendment application and that Commission Staft be able to use the Applicant’s unapproved yet
correct legal name of T & W Water Service Company dba Blue Topaz Utilities for purposes of its
recommended notice forms of the CCN amendment application.

IL. Reliel Requested

For these reasons the Applicant requests approval of the CCN amendment application as
supplemented, along with its request for approval for the name change.

Respecttully submitteds

Houston, Texas 77 l s
Telephone: 713-416-5353
jerry(@broadacrelle.com
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OfTice of the Secretary of State Filed in the Office of the
. . Secretary of State of Texas
ggpﬁrat'f;ﬁsgiemo" Filing #: 46041000 9/20/2021
U BOL Document #: 1080415550003
Austin, Texas 78711-3697 Image Generated Electronically
(Form 503) for Web Filing

ASSUMED NAME CERTIFICATE
FOR FILING WITH THE SECRETARY OF STATE

1. The assumed name under which the business or protessional service is or is to be conducted or
rendered is:

Blue Topaz Utilities

2. The name of the entity as stated in its certiticate of formation, application for registration, or
comparable document is:

T & WWATER SERVICE COMPANY

3. The state, country, or other jurisdiction under the laws of which it was incorporated, organized
or associated is TEXAS

4. The period, not to exceed 10 years, during which the assumed name will be used is : 10

year]s[

5. The entity is a : Domestic For-Profit Corporation

6. The entity's principal office address is:
PO Box 2927, Conroe, TX, USA 77305

7. The county or counties where business or professional services are being or are to be conducted
or rendered under such assumed name are:

ALL COUNTIES

8. The undersigned, if acting in the capacity of an attorney-in-fact of the entity, certifies that the
entity has duly authorized the attorney-in-fact in writing to execute this document. The undersigned
signs this document subject to the penalties imposed by law for the submission of a materially talse
or fraudulent instrument.

T & WWATER SERVICE COMPANY
Name of the entity

By: Shawn M. Filippi, Corporate Secretary of T & W Water Service Company
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Signature of officer, general partner, manager,
representative or atlorney-in-fact of the entity

FILING OFFICE COPY

T&W 000058



Attachment 6a
Organizational Chart

filed confidentially in this
docket

000000000



Attachment

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number 1-38681 Commission file number 1-15973
Q i ) .
E
4%} NW Notural | 4%)» NW Natural
HOLDINGS™
NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY
(Exact hame of registrant as specified in its charter) (Exact hame of registrant as specified in its charter)
Oregon 82-4710680 Oregon 93-0256722
(State or other jurisdiction of I.R.S. Employer (State or other jurisdiction of I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.) incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
250 S.W. Taylor Street Portland Oregon 97204 250 S.W. Taylor Street Portland Oregon 97204

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (503) 226-4211

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (503) 226-4211

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Name of each exchange

Registrant Title of each class Trading Symbol oh which registered
Northwest Natural Holding Company Common Stock NWN New York Stock Exchange
Northwest Natural Gas Company None None None
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None.
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY Yes No O NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY Yes O No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY Yes [} No NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY Yes [} No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY Yes No O NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).

NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY Yes No O NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer,"
"accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY
Large Accelerated Filer
Accelerated Filer
Non-accelerated Filer
Smaller Reporting Company Smaller Reporting Company
Emerging Growth Company Emerging Growth Company
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section
13(a) of the Exchange Act. J
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.
NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY Yes No O NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY Yes O No
Ifts;ecuriti?s are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial
statements.
NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY Yes O No NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY Yes O No
Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant
recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b).
NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY Yes O No

NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY
Large Accelerated Filer
Accelerated Filer
Non-accelerated Filer

oooo0X
Oo0ox OO

NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY Yes O No

T&W 000060



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
NORTHWEST NATURAL HOLDING COMPANY Yes O No

As of the end of the second quarter of 2024, the aggregate market value of the shares of Common Stock of Northwest Natural Holding Company (based upon the closing price of these shares on the New York Stock Exchange
on June 30, 2024) held by non-affiliates was $1,380,245,550.

NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS COMPANY Yes O No

At February 18, 2025, 40,238,495 shares of Northwest Natural Holding Company's Common Stock (the only class of Common Stock) were outstanding. All shares of Northwest Natural Gas Company's Common Stock (the only
class of Common Stock) outstanding were held by Northwest Natural Holding Company.

This combined Form 10-K is separately filed by Northwest Natural Holding Company and Northwest Natural Gas Company. Information contained in this document relating to Northwest Natural Gas Company is filed by
Northwest Natural Holding Company and separately by Northwest Natural Gas Company. Northwest Natural Gas Company makes no representation as to information relating to Northwest Natural Holding Company or its
subsidiaries, except as it may relate to Northwest Natural Gas Company and its subsidiaries.

Northwest Natural Gas Company meets the conditions set forth in General Instruction (1)(1)(a) and (b) of Form 10-K and is therefore filing this report with the reduced disclosure format.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of Northwest Natural Holding Company's Proxy Statement, to be filed in connection with the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, are incorporated by reference in Part Ill.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ACC

AFUDC

AQCI /AOCL
ASC

ASU

Average Weather
=l

CAP

CCA

CNG

CODM

Core NGD Customers
Cost of Gas

CPP
Decoupling

Degree Day
Demand Cost
ECRM

Energy Corp

EPA

EPS

ESPP

FASB

FERC

Firm Service

FMBs

General Rate Case
GHG

Interruptible Service

Interstate Storage Services

IPUC

IRA
IRP
KB

Arizona Corporation Commission; the entity that regulates NW Holdings' regulated water and wastewater businesses in Arizona with respect to rates and terms
of service, among other matters

Allowance for Funds Used During Construction

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accounting Standards Codification

Accounting Standards Update as issued by the FASB

The 25-year average of heating degree days based on temperatures established in our last Oregon general rate case
Billion cubic feet, a volumetric measure of natural gas, where one Bcf is roughly equal to 10 million therms
Compliance Assurance Process with the Internal Revenue Service

Climate Commitment Act enacted by the State of Washington

Compressed Natural Gas

Chief Operating Decision Maker, which for accounting purposes is defined as an individual or group of individuals responsible for the allocation of resources and
assessing the performance of the entity's business units

Residential, commercial, and industrial customers receiving firm service from the Natural Gas Distribution business

The delivered cost of natural gas sold to customers, including the cost of gas purchased, gas storage costs, gas reserves costs, gas commodity derivative
contracts, pipeline demand costs, seasonal demand cost balancing adjustments, renewable natural gas and its attributes, including renewable thermal certificate
costs, and regulatory gas cost deferrals

Climate Protection Program established by the Environmental Quality Commission of the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality

A natural gas billing rate mechanism, also referred to as a conservation tariff, which is designed to allow a utility to encourage residential and small commercial
customers to conserve energy

The number of degrees that the average outdoor temperature falls below or exceeds a base value in a given period of time
A component in NGD customer rates representing the cost of securing firm pipeline capacity, whether the capacity is used or not

Environmental Cost Recovery Mechanism, a billing rate mechanism for recovering prudently incurred environmental site remediation costs allocable to
Washington customers through NGD customer billings

Northwest Energy Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Northwest Natural Gas Company

Environmental Protection Agency

Earnings per share

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Financial Accounting Standards Board

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission; the entity regulating interstate storage services offered by the Mist gas storage facility

Natural gas service offered to customers under contracts or rate schedules that will not be disrupted to meet the needs of other customers
First Mortgage Bonds

A periodic filing with state or federal regulators to establish billing rates for utility customers

Greenhouse gases

Natural gas service offered to customers (usually large commercial or industrial users) under contracts or rate schedules that allow for interruptions when
necessary to meet the needs of firm service customers

The portion of the Mist gas storage facility not used to serve NGD customers, instead serving utilities, third-party marketers, and electric generators

Public Utility Commission of Idaho; the entity that regulates NWW Holdings' regulated water businesses in Idaho with respect to rates and terms of service, among
other matters

Inflation Reduction Act of 2022
Integrated Resource Plan
Kelso-Beaver Pipeline, of which 10% is owned by KB Pipeline Company, a subsidiary of NNG Financial Corporation
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LNG

LTIP
Moody's
NAV
NGD

NGD Margin

NNG Financial

NW Holdings

NW Natural

NW Natural Renewables
NVWN Energy

NWWN Gas Reserves
NVWN Gas Storage
NVWN Water

ODEQ

OPEIU

OPUC

PGA

PHMSA
PUCT

RNG
RNG Hold Co
ROE

ROR

RSU

RTC

S&P

Sales Service
SEC

SOFR

SRRM

Therm
Transportation Service

TSA
U.S. GAAP

Liquefied Natural Gas, the cryogenic liquid form of natural gas. To reach a liquid form at atmospheric pressure, natural gas must be cooled to approximately
negative 260 degrees Fahrenheit

Long Term Incentive Plan
Moody's Investors Service, Inc., credit rating agency
Net Asset Value

Natural Gas Distribution, a segment of Northwest Natural Holding Company and Northwest Natural Gas Company that provides regulated natural gas
distribution services to residential, commercial, and industrial customers in Oregon and Southwest Washington

A financial measure used by NW Natural's CODM consisting of NGD operating revenues less the associated cost of gas, revenue taxes, and environmental
recoveries

NNG Financial Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NW Holdings

Northwest Natural Holding Company

Northwest Natural Gas Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NW Holdings

NW Natural Renewables Holdings, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NWW Holdings

NW Natural Energy, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NW Holdings

NWN Gas Reserves LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Energy Corp

NW Natural Gas Storage, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NVWWN Energy

NW Natural Water Company, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NWW Holdings

Oregon Department of Environmental Quality

Office and Professional Employees International Union Local No. 11, AFL-CIO, the Union which represents NW Natural's bargaining unit employees

Public Utility Commission of Oregon; the entity that regulates our Oregon natural gas and regulated water businesses with respect to rates and terms of service,
among other matters; the OPUC also regulates the Mist gas storage facility's intrastate storage services

Purchased Gas Adjustment, a regulatory mechanism primarily used to adjust natural gas customer rates to reflect changes in the forecasted cost of gas and
differences between forecasted and actual gas costs from the prior year

U.8S. Department of Transportation's Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration

Public Utility Commission of Texas; the entity that regulates NV Holdings' regulated water and wastewater businesses in Texas with respect to rates and terms
of service, among other matters

Renewable Natural Gas, a source of natural gas derived from organic materials which may be captured, refined, and distributed on natural gas pipeline systems
NW Natural RNG Holding Company, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Northwest Natural Gas Company

Return on Equity, @ measure of corporate profitability, calculated as net income or loss divided by average common equity. Authorized ROE refers to the equity
rate approved by a regulatory agency for use in determining utility revenue requirements

Rate of Return, a measure of return on utility rate base. Authorized ROR refers to the rate of return approved by a regulatory agency and is generally discussed
in the context of ROE and capital structure

Restricted Stock Unit

Renewable Thermal Certificate

Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC, a credit rating agency and a subsidiary of S&P Global Inc.

Service provided whereby a customer purchases both natural gas commodity supply and transportation from the NGD business
U.8. Securities and Exchange Commission

Secured Overnight Financing Rate

Site Remediation and Recovery Mechanism, a billing rate mechanism for recovering prudently incurred environmental site remediation costs allocable to Oregon
through NGD customer billings, subject to an earnings test

The basic unit of natural gas measurement, equal to one hundred thousand British thermal units

Service provided whereby a customer purchases natural gas directly from a supplier but pays the utility to transport the gas over its distribution system to the
customer’s facility

Transportation Security Administration
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
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WARM An Oregon billing rate mechanism applied to natural gas residential and commercial customers to adjust for temperature variances from average weather

WUTC Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission, the entity that regulates our Washington natural gas and regulated water businesses with respect to rates
and terms.of service, among other matters

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which are subject to the safe harbors created by such Act. Forward-
looking statements can be identified by words such as anticipates, assumes, may, intends, plans, projects, seeks, should, believes, estimates, expects, will, could, and similar references (including the
negatives thereof) to future periods, although not all forward-looking statements contain these words. Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the
following:

« plans, projections and predictions;

*  objectives, goals, visions or strategies;

* assumptions, generalizations and estimates;

* ongoing continuation of past practices or patterns;

«  future events or performance;

« trends;

*  risks;

* uncertainties;

+  timing and cyclicality;

« economic conditions, including impacts of inflation and interest rates, recessionary risk, and general economic uncertainty;

* earnings and dividends;

«  capital expenditures and allocation;

«  capital markets or access to capital;

*  capital or organizational structure;

«  matters related to climate change and our role in decarbonization or a low-carbon future;

+ renewable natural gas, environmental attributes related thereto, and hydrogen;

« our strategy to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and the efficacy of communicating that strategy to shareholders, investors, stakeholders and communities;
« the policies and priorities of the current presidential administration and U.S. Congress;

« the policies and priorities of the officials elected in the 2024 presidential and congressional elections;

« growth;

«  customer rates;

« pandemic and related illness or quarantine and economic conditions related thereto or resulting therefrom;

« labor relations and workforce succession;

* commodity costs;

« desirability and cost competitiveness of natural gas;

*  gas reserves;

« operational performance and costs;

* energy policy, infrastructure and preferences;

*  public policy approach and involvement;

« efficacy of derivatives and hedges;

« liquidity, financial positions, and planned securities issuances;

«  valuations;

«  project and program development, expansion, or investment;

*  business development efforts, including new business lines such as unregulated renewable natural gas, and acquisitions and integration thereof;
« implementation and execution of our water strategy;

« pipeline capacity, demand, location, and reliability;

« adequacy of property rights and operations center development;

« technology implementation and cybersecurity practices;

«  competition;

«  procurement and development of gas (including renewable natural gas) and water supplies;

« estimated expenditures, supply chain and third party availability and impairment;

*  supply chain disruptions;

«  costs of compliance, and our ability to include those costs in rates;

«  customers bypassing our infrastructure;

«  credit exposures and credit ratings or changes in credit ratings;

« uncollectible account amounts;

« rate or regulatory outcomes, recovery or refunds, and the availability of public utility commissions to take action;

« impacts or changes of the new presidential administration, executive orders, laws, rules and regulations, or legal challenges related thereto, including energy climate related legislation;
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« tax liabilities or refunds, including effects of tax legislation;

« levels and pricing of gas storage contracts and gas storage markets;

« outcomes, timing and effects of potential claims, litigation, regulatory actions, and other administrative matters;

«  projected obligations, expectations and treatment with respect to, and the impact of new legislation on, retirement plans;
« international, federal, state, and local efforts to regulate, in a variety of ways, greenhouse gas emissions, and the effects of those efforts;
« geopolitical factors, including the ongoing conflicts in Europe and the Middle East;

« availability, adequacy, and shift in mix, of gas and water supplies;

« effects of new or anticipated changes in critical accounting policies or estimates;

« approval and adequacy of regulatory deferrals;

« effects and efficacy of regulatory mechanisms; and

« environmental, regulatory, litigation and insurance costs and recoveries, and timing thereof.

Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions regarding our business, the economy, and other future conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the
future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks, and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict. Our actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking
statements. We therefore caution you against relying on any of these forward-looking statements. They are neither statements of historical fact nor guarantees or assurances of future performance.
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements are discussed at Iltem 1A “Risk Factors” of Part | and Item 7 and Item 7A,
“Management’s Discussfon and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk’, respectively, of Part || of this report.

Any forward-looking statement made in this report speaks only as of the date on which it is made. Factors or events that could cause actual results to differ may emerge from time to time, and it is not
possible for us to predict all of them. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except as
may be required by law.
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PART I

FILING FORMAT

This annual report on Form 10-K is a combined report being filed by two separate registrants: Northwest Natural Holding Company (NWV Holdings), and Northwest Natural Gas Company (NW Natural).
Except where the content clearly indicates otherwise, any reference in the report to "we," "us" or "our" is to the consolidated entity of NWW Holdings and all of its subsidiaries, including NW Natural, which
is a distinct SEC registrant that is a wholly-owned subsidiary of NW Holdings. Each of NW Holdings' subsidiaries is a separate legal entity with its own assets and liabilities. Information contained herein
relating to any individual registrant or its subsidiaries is filed by such registrant on its own behalf. Each registrant makes representations only as to itself and its subsidiaries and makes no other
representation whatsoever as to any other company.

Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K includes separate financial statements (i.e. balance sheets, statements of comprehensive income, statements of cash flows, and statements of equity) for NW

Holdings and NW Natural, in that order. References in this discussion to the "Notes" are to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this report. The Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements are presented on a combined basis for both entities except where expressly noted otherwise. All Items other than Item 8 are combined for the reporting companies.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

OVERVIEW

NW Holdings is a holding company headquartered in Portland, Oregon and owns NW Natural, NW Natural Water Company, LLC (NWN Water), NW Natural Renewables Holdings, LLC, a non-regulated
subsidiary established to pursue non-regulated renewable natural gas activities, and other businesses and activities. NW Natural is NW Holdings’ largest subsidiary.

NW Natural distributes natural gas to residential, commercial, and industrial customers in Oregon and southwest Washington. NW Natural and its predecessors have supplied gas service to the public
since 1859, was incorporated in Oregon in 1910, and began doing business as NW Natural in 1997. NW Natural's natural gas distribution activities are reported in the natural gas distribution (NGD)
segment. All other business activities, including certain gas storage activities, water and wastewater businesses, non-regulated renewable natural gas activities and other investments and activities are
aggregated and reported as "other" at their respective registrant.

Our mission is to provide safe, reliable and affordable utility services and renewable energy in a sustainable way to better the lives of the communities we serve. We support our mission by following our
core values of service ethic, integrity, safety, caring, and environmental stewardship.

NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTION (NGD) SEGMENT

Both NW Holdings and NW Natural have one reportable segment, the NGD segment, which is operated by NW Natural. NGD provides natural gas service through approximately 806,000 meters in
Oregon and southwest Washington. Approximately 88% of customers are located in Oregon and 12% are located in southwest Washington.

NW Natural has been allocated an exclusive service territory by the Oregon Public Utility Commission (OPUC) and Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (WUTC), which includes the
major population centers in western Oregon, including the Portland metropolitan area, most of the Willamette Valley, the Coastal area from Astoria to Coos Bay, and portions of Washington along the
Columbia River. Major businesses located in NW Natural's service territory include retail, manufacturing, and high-technology industries.

Customers

The NGD business serves residential, commercial, and industrial customers with no individual customer accounting for more than 10% of NW Natural's or NW Holdings' revenues. On an annual basis,
residential and commercial customers typically account for approximately 60% of NGD volumes delivered and approximately 90% of NGD margin. Industrial customers largely account for the remaining
volumes and margin.
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The following table presents summary meter information for the NGD segment as of December 31, 2024:

Number of Meters % of Volumes % of Margin
Residential 735,117 38 % 65 %
Commercial 69,362 23 % 25%
Industrial 1,050 39 % 6 %
Other™® N/A N/A 4 %
Total 805,529 100 % 100 %

(' NGD margin is also affected by other items, including miscellaneous revenues, gains or losses from NW Natural's gas cost incentive sharing mechanism, other margin adjustments, and other regulated services.

Generally, residential and commercial customers purchase both their natural gas commodity (gas sales) and natural gas delivery services from the NGD business. Industrial and some large commercial
customers also purchase the gas commodity either from NW Natural or directly from a third-party gas marketer or supplier. Gas commodity cost is primarily a pass-through cost to customers; therefore,
profit margins are not significantly affected by an industrial customer's decision to purchase gas from NW Natural or from third parties. Industrial and large commercial customers may also select
between firm and interruptible service levels, with firm services generally providing higher profit margins compared to interruptible services.

To help manage gas supplies, tariffs are designed to provide some certainty regarding industrial and commercial customers' volumes by requiring an annual service election, special rates or possible
restrictions for changes between elections.

We estimate natural gas was in approximately 63% of single-family residential homes in NW Natural's service territory in 2024. Customer growth in our region comes mainly from the following sources:
single-family housing, both new construction and conversions; multifamily housing new construction; and commercial buildings, both new construction and conversions. Single-family new construction
has consistently been our largest source of growth. Continued customer growth is closely tied to consumer preference for natural gas, the comparative price of natural gas to electricity and fuel oil,
regulations and building codes permitting the use of natural gas in new construction and conversions, and the economic health of our service territory.

Competitive Conditions
In its service areas, the NGD business has no direct competition from other natural gas distributors. However, it competes with other forms of energy in each customer class. This competition among

energy suppliers is based on price, efficiency, reliability, performance, preference, perceptions, market conditions, building codes, technology, federal, state, and local energy policy, and environmental
impacts.

For residential and small to mid-size commercial customers, the NGD business competes primarily with providers of electricity, fuel oil, and propane.

In the industrial and large commercial markets, the NGD business competes with all forms of energy, including competition from wholesale natural gas marketers. In addition, large industrial customers
could bypass NW Natural's natural gas distribution system by installing their own direct pipeline connection to the interstate pipeline system. NW Natural has designed custom transportation service
agreements with several large industrial customers to provide transportation service rates that are competitive with the customer’s costs of installing their own pipeline.

Seasonality of Business

The NGD business is seasonal in nature due to higher gas usage by residential and commercial customers during the cold winter heating months. Other categories of customers experience similar
seasonality in their usage but to a lesser extent.

Regulation and Rates

The NGD business is subject to regulation by the OPUC and WUTC. These regulatory agencies authorize rates and allow recovery mechanisms to provide the opportunity to recover prudently incurred
capital and operating costs from customers, while also earning a reasonable return on investment for investors. In addition, the OPUC and WUTC also regulate the system of accounts and issuance of
securities by NW Natural.

NW Natural files general rate cases and rate tariff requests periodically with the OPUC and WUTC to establish approved rates, an authorized return on equity (ROE), an overall rate of return (ROR) on
rate base, an authorized capital structure, and other revenue/cost deferral and recovery mechanisms.

NW Natural is also regulated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). Under NW Natural's Mist interstate storage certificate with FERC, NW Natural is required to file either a petition for
rate approval or a cost and revenue study every five years to change or justify maintaining the existing rates for the interstate storage service.

For further discussion on our most recent general rate cases, see Part |l, ltem 7, "Results of Operations—Regulatory Matters—Regulation and Rates."
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Gas Supply
NW Natural strives to secure sufficient, reliable supplies of natural gas to meet the needs of customers at the lowest reasonable cost, while maintaining price stability, managing gas purchase costs
prudently and supporting our core value of environmental stewardship. This is accomplished through a comprehensive strategy focused on the following items:
Reliability - ensuring gas resource portfolios are sufficient to satisfy customer requirements under extreme cold weather conditions;
« Diverse Supply - providing diversity of supply sources;
+ Diverse Contracts - maintaining a variety of contract durations, types, and counterparties;
« Cost Management and Recovery - employing prudent gas cost management strategies; and
+  Environmental Stewardship - striving to reduce the carbon content and environmental impacts of the energy we deliver.

Reliability.
To support system reliability, the NGD business has developed a risk-based methodology in which it uses a planning standard to serve the highest firm sales demand day in any year with 99% certainty.

The projected maximum design day firm NGD customer sales is approximately 10 million therms. Of this total, the NGD business is currently capable of meeting approximately 55% of the requirements
with gas from storage located within or adjacent to its service territory, while the remaining supply requirements would come from gas purchases under firm gas purchase contracts and recall
agreements.

NW Natural segments transportation capacity, which is a natural gas transportation mechanism under which a shipper can leverage its firm pipeline transportation capacity by separating it into multiple
segments with alternate delivery routes. The reliability of service on these alternate routes will vary depending on the constraints of the pipeline system. For those segments with acceptable reliability,
segmentation provides a shipper with increased flexibility and potential cost savings compared to traditional pipeline service. The NGD business relies on segmentation of firm pipeline transportation
capacity that flows from Stanfield, Oregon to various points south of Molalla, Oregon.

We believe gas supplies would be sufficient to meet existing NGD firm customer demand in the event of maximum design day weather conditions.

The following table shows the sources of supply projected to be used to satisfy the design day sales for the 2024-25 winter heating season:

Therms in millions Therms Percent
Sources of NGD supply:
Firm supply purchases 34 34 %
Mist underground storage (NGD only) 33 33 %
Company-owned LNG storage 1.8 18 %
Pipeline segmentation capacity 06 6 %
Off-system storage contract 015 5%
Recall agreements 03 3%
Peak day citygate deliveries 0.1 1%
Total 10.0 100 %

The OPUC and WUTC have Integrated Resource Planning (IRP) processes in which utilities define different future scenarios and corresponding resource and compliance strategies in an effort to
evaluate supply and demand resource and compliance requirements, consider uncertainties in the planning process and the need for flexibility to respond to changes, and establish a plan for providing
reliable service while meeting carbon compliance obligations within frameworks that emphasize least cost and risk.

NW Natural generally files a full IRP biennially for Oregon and Washington with the OPUC and the WUTC, respectively, and files updates in Oregon between filings. The OPUC acknowledges NW
Natural's action plan, whereas the WUTC provides notice that the IRP has met the requirements of the Washington Administrative Code. OPUC acknowledgment of the IRP does not constitute
ratemaking approval of any specific resource acquisition strategy or expenditure. For additional information see Part II, Item 7, "Results of Operations—Regulatory Matters."

Diversity of Supply_Sources
NW Natural purchases gas supplies primarily from the Alberta and British Columbia provinces of Canada and multiple receipt points in the U.S. Rocky Mountains to protect against regional supply
disruptions and to take advantage of price differentials. For 2024, 60% of gas supply came from Canada, with the balance primarily coming from the U.S. Rocky Mountain region. We believe gas

supplies available in the western United States and Canada are adequate to serve NGD customer requirements for
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the foreseeable future. NW Natural continues to evaluate the long-term supply mix based on projections of gas production and pricing in the U.S. Rocky Mountain region as well as other regions in North
America.

NW Natural supplements firm gas supply purchases with gas withdrawals from gas storage facilities, including underground reservoirs and LNG storage facilities. Storage facilities are generally injected
with natural gas during the off-peak months in the spring and summer, and the gas is withdrawn for use during peak demand months in the winter.

The following table presents the storage facilities available for NGD business supply:

Maximum Daily

Deliverability (therms in Designed Storage
millions) Capacity (Bcf)
Gas Storage Facilities
Owned Facility
Mist, Oregon (Mist Facility)™® 33 12.8
Mist, Oregon (North Mist Facility)@ 1.3 41
Contracted Facility
Jackson Prairie, Washington® 0.5 1.9
LNG Facilities
Owned Facilities
Newport, Oregon 0.8 1.0
Portland, Oregon 1.0 06
Total 6.9 19.6

() The Mist gas storage facility has a total maximum daily deliverability of 5.3 million therms and a total designed storage capacity of about 17.5 Bcf, of which 3.3 million therms of daily deliverability and 12.8 Bcf of storage
capacity are reserved for NGD business customers.

@ The North Mist facility is contracted to exclusively serve Portland General Electric, a local electric utility, and may not be used to serve other NGD customers. See "North Mist Gas Storage Facility" below for more
information.

(3 The storage facility is located near Chehalis, Washington and is contracted from Northwest Pipeline, a subsidiary of The Williams Companies.

The Mist facility serves NGD segment customers and is also used for non-NGD purposes, primarily for contracts with gas storage customers, including utilities, third-party marketers, and electric
generators. Under regulatory agreements with the OPUC and WUTC, gas storage at Mist can be developed in advance of NGD customer needs but is subject to recall when needed to serve such
customers as their demand increases. When storage capacity is recalled for NGD purposes it becomes part of the NGD segment. As of May 1, 2024, 0.2 million therms per day of deliverability and 1.15
Bcf of associated non-utility Mist gas storage capacity was recalled to serve core customers. Customer rate increases related to this recall began on November 1, 2024. The North Mist facility is
contracted for the exclusive use of Portland General Electric, a local electric utility, and may not be used to serve other NGD customers. See "North Mist Gas Storage Facility" below.

Diverse Contract Durations and Types
NW Natural has a diverse portfolio of short-, medium-, and long-term firm gas supply contracts and a variety of contract types including firm and interruptible supplies as well as supplemental supplies
from gas storage facilities.

The majority of our gas supply contracts include year-round, winter-only, summer-only, and monthly baseload supplies, and daily spot purchases. We also maintain options to call on additional daily
supplies during the winter heating season.

During 2024, a total of 822 million therms were purchased under contracts with durations as follows:

Contract Duration (primary term) Percent of Purchases
Long-term (one year or longer) 31 %
Short-term (more than one month, less than one year) 45
Spot (one month or less) 24
Total 100 %

During 2024, there was one supplier that provided 10% or more of the NGD business gas supply requirements. No other individual supplier provided 10% or more of the NGD business gas supply
requirements.

Gas Cost Management
The cost of gas sold to NGD customers primarily consists of the following items, which are included in annual Purchased Gas Adjustment (PGA) rates: gas purchases from suppliers; charges from
pipeline companies to transport gas to our distribution

1
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system; gas storage costs; gas reserves costs; gas commodity derivative contracts; and renewable natural gas and its attributes, including renewable thermal certificates. Costs to comply with
Washington's Climate Commitment Act (CCA) are included in the cost of gas for Washington customers. We expect that costs to comply with Oregon's Climate Protection Program (CPP) and any similar
program that may be enacted in our service territory will also be included in the cost of gas.

The NGD business employs a number of strategies to mitigate the cost of gas sold to customers. The primary strategies for managing gas commodity price risk include:

*  negotiating fixed prices directly with gas suppliers;

*  negotiating financial derivative contracts that: (1) effectively convert floating index prices in physical gas supply contracts to fixed prices (referred to as commodity price swaps); or (2) effectively set
a ceiling or floor price, or both, on floating index priced physical supply contracts (referred to as commodity price options such as calls, puts, and collars); and

*  buying physical gas supplies at a set price and injecting the gas into storage for price stability and to minimize pipeline capacity demand costs.

NW Natural also contracts with an independent energy marketing company to capture opportunities regarding storage and pipeline capacity when those assets are not serving the needs of NGD
business customers. Asset management activities provide opportunities for cost of gas savings for customers and incremental revenues for NW Natural through regulatory incentive-sharing
mechanisms. These activities, net of the amount shared, are included in other for segment reporting purposes.

Gas Cost Recovery,

Mechanisms for gas cost recovery are designed to be fair and reasonable, with an appropriate balance between the interests of customers and NW Natural. In general, natural gas distribution rates are
designed to recover the costs of, but not to earn a return on, the gas commodity sold. Risks associated with gas cost recovery are minimized by resetting customer rates annually through the PGA and
aligning customer and shareholder interests through the use of sharing, weather normalization, and conservation mechanisms in Oregon. See Part I, Item 7, "Results of Operations—Regulatory
Matters" and "Results of Operations—Business Segment—Natural Gas Distribution Operations—Cost of Gas".

Environmental Stewardship

Part of our gas supply strategy is working to reduce the carbon content and the environmental impacts of the energy we deliver. To that end, NW Natural developed and implemented an emissions
screening tool that uses Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) data to calculate the relative emissions intensity of gas producer operations and prioritize purchases from lower emitting producers. In
2019, we began using this emissions intensity screening tool alongside other purchasing criteria such as price, credit worthiness and geographic diversity. We view this as a cost-neutral way to reduce
carbon emissions associated with our natural gas supply.

NW Natural is focused on taking steps to lower its emissions on behalf of customers by purchasing environmental attributes that are generated by the production of renewable natural gas (RNG). Under
Oregon Senate Bill 98, NW Natural can purchase RNG or invest in RNG facilities, which generate these environmental attributes known as Renewable Thermal Certificates (RTCs). In 2019, the
Washington State legislature also passed a bill supporting RNG procurement, House Bill 1257. The RTCs work like renewable energy certificates, or RECs, used in electricity markets. RTCs are verified
and certified by the Midwest Renewable Energy Tracking System (M-RETS). The M-RETS Renewable Thermal Tracking System issues one RTC for every dekatherm of RNG injected into the gas
system. NW Natural enters into contracts for the purchase of RNG and RTCs either through periodic request for proposals or through formal offerings or informal requests. See Part Il, Item 7, "Results
of Operations—Reguiatory Matters".

In addition to purchases of RNG, NW Natural has piloted a hydrogen blend in pipelines serving its Sherwood Operations and Training Center. NW Natural has successfully tested a blend of up to 20%
hydrogen. The tests met the safety protocols established by PHMSA Part 192. Additionally, NW Natural is focused on developing several hydrogen pilots for industrial and commercial customers to
support their decarbonization goals.

NW Natural is subject to the requirements of the Washington CCA cap-and-invest program, and will be subject to Oregon's CPP. NW Natural has modeled pathways to compliance with the CCA and
CPP in its most recent IRP. While costs associated with each possible compliance pathway differ, we intend to pursue recovery of the costs associated with these programs in rates.

Transportation of Gas Supplies

NW Natural's gas distribution system is reliant on a single, bi-directional interstate transmission pipeline to bring gas supplies into the natural gas distribution system. Although dependent on a single
pipeline, the pipeline’s gas flows into the Portland metropolitan market from two directions: (1) the north, which brings supplies from the British Columbia and Alberta supply basins; and (2) the east,
which brings supplies from Alberta as well as the U.S. Rocky Mountain supply basins.

NW Natural incurs monthly demand charges related to firm pipeline transportation contracts. These contracts have expiration dates ranging from 2025 to 2061. The largest pipeline agreements are with
Northwest Pipeline. NW Natural actively works with Northwest Pipeline and others to renew contracts in advance of expiration to ensure gas transportation capacity is sufficient to meet customer needs.
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Rates for interstate pipeline transportation services are established by FERC within the U.S. and by Canadian authorities for services on Canadian pipelines.

Gas Distribution
Safety and the protection of employees, customers, and our communities are, and will remain, top priorities. NW Natural constructs, operates, and maintains its pipeline distribution system and storage
operations with the goal of ensuring natural gas is delivered and stored safely, reliably, and efficiently.

NW Natural has one of the most modern distribution systems in the country with no identified cast iron pipe or bare steel main. Since the 1980s, NW Natural has taken a proactive approach to
replacement programs and partnered with the OPUC and WUTC on progressive regulation to further safety and reliability efforts for the distribution system. In the past, NWW Natural had a cost recovery
program in Oregon that encompassed programs for cast iron replacement, bare steel replacement, transmission integrity management, and distribution integrity management programs as appropriate.

Natural gas distribution businesses are likely to be subject to greater federal and state regulation in the future. Additional operating and safety regulations from the U.S. Department of Transportation’s
Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA) are currently under development. In January 2025, PHMSA released the final rulemaking: Gas Pipeline Leak Detection and Repair.
The rulemaking includes congressional mandates from the PIPES (Protecting our Infrastructure of Pipelines and Enhancing Safety) Act of 2020 to reduce methane emissions from new and existing gas
transmission, distribution, gathering, underground storage, and LNG facilities. The unpublished rulemaking was placed on a regulatory freeze by the new presidential administration and is expected to
undergo additional review and amendment. In September 2023, PHMSA issued a notice of proposed rulemaking: Safety of Gas Distribution Pipelines and Other Pipeline Safety Initiatives. The proposed
rulemaking requires operators to update distribution integrity management programs, emergency response plans, operations and maintenance manuals, and other safety practices. NW Natural does not
foresee a significant impact of these rulemakings on our business given the modern materials used in our system.

North Mist Gas Storage Facility.
The North Mist gas storage facility began operations in 2019. The North Mist facility provides long-term, no-notice underground gas storage service and is dedicated solely to Portland General Electric
(PGE) under a 30-year contract with options to extend up to an additional 50 years upon mutual agreement of the parties. PGE uses the facility to fuel its gas-fired electric power generation facilities.

North Mist includes a reservoir providing 4.1 Bef of available storage, a compressor station with a contractual capacity of 120,000 dekatherms of gas deliverability per day, no-notice service that can be
drawn on rapidly, and a 13-mile pipeline to connect to PGE's Port Westward gas plants in Clatskanie, Oregon.

The facility is included in rate base under an established tariff schedule with revenues recognized consistent with the schedule. Billing rates are updated annually to the forecasted depreciable asset
level and forecasted operating expenses.

There are additional expansion opportunities in the Mist storage field. Any expansion would be based on market demand, cost effectiveness, available financing, receipt of future permits, and other
rights.

OTHER

Certain businesses and activities of NW Holdings and NWV Natural are aggregated and reported as other for segment reporting purposes.

NW Natural

The following businesses and activities are aggregated and reported as other under NW Natural, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NW Holdings:
« 4.7 Bcef of the Mist gas storage facility contracted to other utilities, third-party marketers, and electric generators;

« natural gas asset management activities; and

« appliance retail center operations.

Mist Gas Storage
The Mist gas storage facility began operations in 1989. It is a 17.5 Bcf facility with 12.8 Bcf used to provide gas storage for the NGD business. The remaining 4.7 Bcf of the facility is contracted with
other utilities, third-party marketers, and electric generators with these results reported in other.

The overall facility consists of seven depleted natural gas reservoirs, 21 injection and withdrawal wells, a compressor station, dehydration and control equipment, gathering lines, and other related
facilities. The capacity at Mist provides multi-cycle gas storage services to customers in the interstate and intrastate markets. The interstate storage services are offered under a limited jurisdiction
blanket certificate issued by FERC. Under NW Natural's interstate storage certificate with FERC, NW Natural is required to file either a petition for rate approval or a cost and revenue study every five
years to change or justify maintaining the
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existing rates for the interstate storage service. Intrastate firm storage services in Oregon are offered under an OPUC-approved rate schedule as an optional service to certain eligible customers. Gas
storage revenues from the 4.7 Bef are derived primarily from firm service customers who provide energy-related services, including natural gas distribution, electric generation, and energy marketing.
The Mist facility benefits from limited competition as there are few storage facilities in the Pacific Northwest region. Therefore, NW Natural has the ability to acquire high-value, multi-year contracts.

Asset Management Activities

NW Natural contracts with an independent energy marketing company to provide asset management services, primarily through the use of natural gas commodity exchange agreements and natural gas
pipeline capacity release transactions. The results of these activities are included in other, except for the asset management revenues allocated to NGD business customers pursuant to regulatory
agreements, which are reported in the NGD segment.

NW Holdings

These include the following businesses and activities aggregated under NW Holdings:

«  NW Natural Water Company, LLC (NWN Water) and its water and wastewater utility operations and water services business;

*«  NWN Water's equity investment in Avion Water Company, Inc.;

*  NW Natural Renewables Holdings, LLC and its non-regulated renewable natural gas activities;

« aminority interest in the Kelso-Beaver Pipeline held by our wholly-owned subsidiary NNG Financial Corporation (NNG Financial); and
« holding company and corporate activities, including business development activities, as well as adjustments made in consolidation.

NW Natural Water

NVWN Water currently serves an estimated 190,000 people through approximately 76,000 water and wastewater connections across six states. NWN Water continues to grow though customer additions
within or near its service territories, and continues to pursue acquisitions. See further discussion about the status of water general rate cases in Part Il, ltem 7, "Results of Operations—Regulatory
Matters—Water and Wastewater Ulilities."

The water and wastewater utilities primarily serve residential and commercial customers. Water distribution operations are seasonal in nature with peak demand generally during warmer summer
months, while wastewater is less seasonally affected. Entities generally operate in exclusive service territories with no direct competitors. Water distribution customer rates are regulated by state utility
commissions while the wastewater businesses we own consist of some state regulated systems and some systems that are not rate regulated by utility commissions.

NVWN Water launched its services business in April 2023. This business provides operations and maintenance services to water and wastewater system owners and works to create value by leveraging
shared personnel, technology and expertise to support delivery of clean, reliable water at a reasonable cost. Today, NWN Water provides operations and maintenance services to approximately 25,000
connections.

NW Natural Renewables

NW Natural Renewables is an unregulated subsidiary of NWW Natural Holdings established to pursue unregulated RNG activities. In September 2021, a subsidiary of NW Natural Renewables, Ohio
Renewables, and a subsidiary of EDL, a global producer of sustainable distributed energy, executed agreements to secure RNG supply from two production facilities that are designed to convert landfill
waste gases to RNG (EDL Facilities). The first facility was completed and commenced delivery of RNG to Ohio Renewables in September 2024. Upon reaching this milestone, Ohio Renewables paid
$26.0 million to the EDL subsidiary. The second facility was completed and commenced delivery of RNG to Ohio Renewables in December 2024 at which time Ohio Renewables made an additional
payment of $25.4 million to the EDL subsidiary.

Alongside these development agreements, Ohio Renewables and the subsidiary of EDL executed agreements for Ohio Renewables to purchase up to an annual specified amount of RNG produced by
the EDL Facilities over a 20-year period at a contractually specified price. Ohio Renewables has contracted to sell the supply obtained from EDL at fixed-prices to investment grade counterparties.

Ohio Renewables has contracted to sell RNG produced by the EDL Facilities up to certain specified volumes in each of calendar years 2024 through 2026 to an investment-grade counterparty. We
currently estimate RNG volumes to be sold pursuant to this agreement to be approximately 2,430,000 MMbtu over the life of the agreement, provided that such amounts of RNG are produced by the
EDL Facilities during that period.

Ohio Renewables additionally has contracted to sell a fixed-volume of RNG under a long-term agreement with an investment-grade utility beginning in 2025 and extending through 2042. Amounts to be
delivered under this agreement are estimated to be 112,500 MMbtu in 2025, 375,000 MMbtu in 2026, 1,950,000 MMbtu annually in 2027 through 2034, and 2,775,000 MMbtu annually in years 2035
through 2042. Under the current contract, if less than 75% of the contracted volumes of RNG are not delivered on an annual basis, Ohio Renewables is obligated to pay the per MMbtu price for volumes
between the amount delivered and 75% of the contracted volumes on an annual basis.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Properties and Facilities

NW Natural owns, or previously owned, properties and facilities that are currently being investigated that may require environmental remediation and are subject to federal, state, and local laws and
regulations related to environmental matters. These laws and regulations may require expenditures over a long time frame to address certain environmental impacts. Estimates of liabilities for
environmental costs are difficult to determine with precision because of the various factors that can affect their ultimate disposition. These factors include, but are not limited to, the following:

« the complexity of the site;

« changes in environmental laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local levels;

« the number of regulatory agencies or other parties involved,

+ new technology that renders previous technology obsolete, or experience with existing technology that proves ineffective;

« the level of remediation required,

« variations between the estimated and actual period of time that must be dedicated to respond to an environmentally-contaminated site; and

« the application of environmental laws that impose joint and several liabilities on all potentially responsible parties.

NW Natural has received recovery of a portion of such environmental costs through insurance proceeds, seeks the remainder of such costs through customer rates, and believes recovery of these costs
is probable. In both Oregon and Washington, NW Natural has mechanisms to recover expenses. Oregon recoveries are subject to an earnings test. See Part |l, Item 7, "Results of Operations—
Regulatory Matters—Rate Mechanisms—£Environmental Cost Deferral and Recovery', and Note 2 and Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in ltem 8 of this report for more information.

Greenhouse Gas Matters
For information concerning greenhouse gas matters, see Part |I, Item 7, “Results of Operations—Environmental Regulation and Legislation Matters.”

HUMAN CAPITAL

Our core values of integrity, safety, caring, service ethic, and environmental stewardship guide how we engage with customers, stakeholders, shareholders, and communities. We actively work to foster
these values in our employee culture and to nurture an inclusive and equitable environment that provides opportunities, prioritizes health and safety, encourages respect and trust, and supports growth
and learning. We aim to recruit and retain employees who share our core values and reflect our communities.

Employees
At December 31, 2024, our workforce consisted of the following:
NW Natural:
Unionized employees™ 626
Non-unionized employees 649
Total NW Natural 1,275
Other Entities:
Water and wastewater company employees 172
Other 5
Total other entities 177
Total Employees 1,452

M Members of the Office and Professional Employees International Union (OPEIU) Local No. 11, AFL-CIO.

NW Natural's labor agreement with members of OPEIU covers wages, benefits, and working conditions. In May 2024, NW Natural's unionized employees ratified a collective bargaining agreement that
is in effect June 1, 2024 through May 31, 2028, and is effective thereafter from year to year unless either party serves notice of its intent to negotiate modifications to the collective bargaining agreement.
The terms of the collective bargaining agreement include the following items: a 6% wage increase effective June 1, 2024 and scheduled wage increases effective December 1 in the first year and each
subsequent year of 4%; a 401(k) contribution of 4% for employees hired after our pension plan was closed on December 31, 2009; and a 401(k) match of 50% of the first 8% of savings. During calendar
year 2024, NW Natural did not incur any work stoppages (strikes or lockouts), and therefore, experienced zero idle days for the year.

Certain subsidiaries may receive services from employees of other subsidiaries. Those services are generally charged to the entity receiving those services. When such services involve regulated
entities, those entities receiving services are generally
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charged rates pursuant to shared services agreements that are filed with the applicable state regulatory commission, as applicable.

Safety

Safety is one of our greatest responsibilities to employees. In managing the business, we strive to foster a safety culture focused on prevention, open communication, collaboration, and a strong service
and safety ethic. We believe employee safety is critical to our success. A portion of executives’ compensation is tied to achieving our identified safety metrics, and our Board of Directors regularly
reviews company safety metrics and receives reports on matters of health and safety. NW Natural’s health and safety policies and procedures are designed to comply with all applicable regulations, but
we also work to go beyond compliance by striving to incorporate information we learn from benchmarking, peer reviews, and industry best practices.

As part of our commitment to employee health and safety, we maintain regular training programs, emergency preparedness procedures, and training and procedures to identify hazards and handle high-
risk emergency situations. Employees complete classroom instruction and hands-on, scenario-based training at our training town facility in Oregon that allows employees to experience realistic
situations in a controlled environment. We also host natural gas safety training events for first responders, which are designed to prepare those first responders and NW Natural field employees to
deliver an integrated, seamless response in the event of an emergency that involves or affects the natural gas system. We also have a learning management system that provides virtual training options
and more efficiency and flexibility in how we train.

To attract employees and meet the needs of our workforce, NW Natural strives to offer competitive compensation and benefits packages to employees. The benefits package options vary depending on
type of employee and date of hire. NW Natural continuously looks for ways to support employees’ work-life balance and well-being and this is reflected in physical, mental and financial wellness
programs to meet the needs of our employees and help them care for their families. Benefits available to employees during 2024 included, among others: healthcare and other insurance coverages,
wellness resources, retirement and savings plans, paid time off programs, and flexible and hybrid work schedules, where possible, employee resource groups, and culture and community-focused
resources and opportunities, and employee recognition programs and discounts.

Talent Attraction and Development

In order to implement our business strategy and serve our customers, we depend upon our continuing ability to attract and retain talented professionals-and a technically skilled workforce, and being
able to transfer the knowledge and expertise of our workforce to new and increasingly diverse employees as our older workforce retires. A significant portion of our workforce is currently eligible or will
reach retirement eligibility within the next five years, and therefore, we are focused on efforts to attract, train, and retain appropriately qualified and skilled workers to prevent loss of institutional
knowledge or skills gaps.

NW Natural seeks to provide its employees with growth and development opportunities through programs designed to build skills and relationships. These programs currently include: (i) a culturally
relevant mentoring program that creates opportunities for career growth by building relationships; (ii) a tuition assistance program for qualified educational pursuits; (iii) an internal class that provides
participants with a big-picture understanding of the industry and company operations, equipping them to see how they contribute to NW Natural's success and identify opportunities for career growth;,
(iv) internal and external continuing educational courses relevant to areas of expertise; and (v) ongoing management and leadership training programs.

We regularly monitor employee engagement and satisfaction through a variety of tools, including our annual engagement survey that is designed to enable company leaders to gather valuable feedback
and guidance from employees.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
We have a longstanding commitment to creating a diverse and inclusive culture that reflects and supports the communities we serve, and believe a diverse, equitable, and inclusive workforce at all
levels contributes to long-term success. Our efforts in recruiting, promoting, and retaining diverse talent, building inclusive teams, and creating a culture that embraces differences are elements of our

workforce strategy.

INFORMATION ABOUT OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

For information concerning executive officers, see Part IIl, Item 10.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

NW Holdings and NW Natural file annual, quarterly and current reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The SEC maintains an Internet site where reports,
proxy statements, and other information filed can be read, copied, and requested online at its website (www.sec.gov). In addition, we make available, free of charge, on our website

(www nwnaturalholdings.com), our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section
13(a) or 15(d) and proxy materials filed under Section 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically
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file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. We intend to use our website as a means of disclosing material non-public information and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation
FD. Accordingly, investors should monitor our website, in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and webcasts. We have included our website address as an
inactive textual reference only. Information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this annual report on Form 10-K.

NW Holdings and NW Natural have adopted a Code of Ethics for all employees, officers, and directors that is available on our website. We intend to disclose revisions and amendments to, and any
waivers from, the Code of Ethics for officers and directors on our website. Our Corporate Governance Standards, Director Independence Standards, charters of each of the committees of the Board of
Directors, and additional information about NW Holdings and NW Natural are also available at the website. Copies of these documents may be requested, at no cost, by writing or calling Shareholder
Services, Northwest Natural Holding Company, 250 S.W. Taylor Street, Portland, Oregon 97204, telephone 503-220-2402.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s business and financial results are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are not within our control, which could adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. Additional risks and uncertainties that are not currently known to us or that are not currently believed by us to be material may also harm our businesses,
financial condition, and results of operations. VWhen considering any investment in NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s securities, investors should carefully consider the following information, as well as
information contained in the caption "Forward-Looking Statements", Item 7A, and our other documents filed with the SEC. This list is not exhaustive and the order of presentation does not reflect
management’s determination of priority or likelihood. Additionally, our listing of risk factors that primarily affects one of our businesses does not mean that such risk factor is inapplicable to our other
businesses.

Legal, Regulatory and Legislative Risks

REGULATORY RISK. Regulation of NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s regulated businesses, including changes in the regulatory environment, failure of regulatory authorities to approve rates which
provide for timely recovery of costs and an adequate return on invested capital, or an unfavorable outcome in regulatory proceedings may adversely impact NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s financial
condition and results of operations.

The OPUC and WUTC have general regulatory authority over NW Natural’'s gas business in Oregon and Washington. In January 2025, NW Holdings acquired SiEnergy Operating, LLC (SiEnergy),
which is regulated by the Railroad Commission of Texas. NW Holdings’ regulated water utility businesses are generally regulated by the public utility commission in the state in which a water business is
located. These public utility commissions have broad regulatory authority, including: the rates charged to customers; authorized rates of return on rate base, including ROE; the amounts and types of
securities that may be issued by our regulated utility companies, like NW Natural; services our regulated utility companies provide and the manner in which they provide them; the nature of investments
our utility companies make; deferral and recovery of various expenses, including, but not limited to, pipeline replacement, environmental remediation and compliance costs, capital, information
technology and other investments, commodity hedging expense, and certain employee benefit expenses such as pension costs; transactions with affiliated interests; regulatory adjustment mechanisms
such as weather adjustment mechanisms, and other matters. The OPUC also regulates actions investors may take with respect to our utility companies, NW Natural and NW Holdings. Similarly, FERC
has regulatory authority over NW Natural's interstate storage services. Expansion of our businesses generally results in regulation by other regulatory authorities. For example, certain of NW Holdings’
water companies are regulated in Idaho, Texas and Arizona, and in 2025, we acquired SiEnergy, which is regulated by the Railroad Commission of Texas.

The costs that are deemed recoverable in rates and prices regulators allow us to charge for regulated utility service, and the maximum FERC-approved rates FERC authorizes us to charge for interstate
storage and related transportation services, are the most significant factors affecting both NW Natural's and NW Holdings’ financial position, results of operations and liquidity. State utility regulators
have the authority to disallow recovery of costs they find imprudently incurred or otherwise disallowed, and rates that regulators allow may be insufficient for recovery of costs we incur. We expect to
continue to make expenditures to expand, improve and safely operate our gas and water utility distribution and gas storage systems, and to work toward reducing emissions from our gas systems.
Regulators can deny recovery of those costs. Furthermore, while each applicable state regulator has established an authorized rate of return for our regulated utility businesses, we may not be able to
achieve the earnings level authorized. Moreover, in the normal course of business we may place assets in service or incur higher than expected levels of operating expense before rate cases can be
filed to recover those costs (this is commonly referred to as regulatory lag). The failure of any regulatory commission to approve requested rate increases on a timely basis to recover costs or to allow an
adequate return could adversely impact NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

As companies with regulated utility businesses, we frequently have dockets open with our regulators, including NW Natural's general rate case filed with the OPUC in December 2024. The regulatory
proceedings for these dockets typically involve multiple parties, including governmental agencies, consumer, environmental, and other advocacy groups, and other third parties. Each party advocates for
the interests that they represent, which may include lower rates, additional regulatory oversight over the company, limitations on growth or phasing out of the gas system, decisions that favor
electrification, or advancing other interests.
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We cannot predict the timing or outcome of these proceedings, or the effects of those outcomes on NW Holdings’ and NW Natural's results of operations and financial condition.

REGULATION, COMPLIANCE AND TAXING AUTHORITY RISK. NW Holdings and NW Natural are subject to governmental reguiation, and compliance with local, state and federal requirements,
including taxing requirements, and unforeseen changes in or interpretations of such requirements could affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural's financial condition and results of operations.

NW Holdings and NW Natural are subject to regulation by federal, state and local governmental authorities. We are required to comply with a variety of laws and regulations and to obtain authorizations,
permits, approvals and certificates from governmental agencies in various aspects of our business. Significant changes in federal, state, or local governmental leadership can accelerate or amplify
changes in existing laws or regulations, or the manner in which they are interpreted or enforced. For instance, the 2024 United States Presidential election has resulted in and may result in further
leadership changes in many federal administrative agencies. Moreover, the 2024 election resulted in Republican control of the presidency and both houses of Congress, which may result in a wide
range of new policies, executive orders, rules, initiatives and other changes to fiscal, tax, regulation, trade, environmental, climate and other federal policies, many of which have components that affect
the energy and utilities sectors. Similarly, we could continue to face significant legislative, regulatory and other policy changes at the state level or in the local jurisdictions in which we operate. For
example, the Oregon legislature is considering possible legislation aimed at addressing utility customer rate impacts and utility regulatory oversight. Ve cannot predict the impact of any such legislation
on our rate structure, process or ability to apply regulatory accounting mechanisms. As we continue to expand our businesses into new states, we may be subject to additional legal, regulatory or taxing
requirements. For example, certain of NW Holdings’ water companies are regulated in Idaho, Texas and Arizona, and in 2025, we acquired SiEnergy, a gas utility located in Texas. In addition, foreign
governments may implement changes to their policies, in response to changes to U.S. policy or otherwise. Although we cannot predict the impact, if any, of these changes to our businesses, they could
adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations. Until we know what policy changes are made and how those changes impact our businesses and the
business of our competitors over the long term, we will not know if, overall, we will benefit from them or will be negatively affected by them.

We cannot predict changes in laws, regulations, interpretations or enforcement or the impact of such changes. Additionally, any failure to comply with existing or new laws and regulations could result in
fines, penalties or injunctive measures. For example, under the Energy Policy Act of 2005, the FERC may assess civil penalties under the Natural Gas Act for violations of FERC's requirements up to
nearly $1.6 million per day for each violation. In addition, as we expand our businesses and the regulatory environment for our businesses increases in complexity, the risk of inadvertent noncompliance
may also increase. Changes in regulations, the imposition of additional regulations, and the failure to comply with laws and regulations could negatively influence NW Holdings’ or NW Natural's
operating environment and results of operations. There is uncertainty as to how our regulators will reflect the impact of the legislation and other government regulation in rates. The resulting ratemaking
treatment may negatively affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, changes in federal, state, local or foreign tax laws and their related regulations, or differing interpretations or enforcement of applicable law by a federal, state, local or foreign taxing
authority, could result in substantial cost to us and negatively affect our results of operations. Tax law and its related regulations and case law are inherently complex and dynamic. Disputes over
interpretations of tax laws may be settled with the taxing authority in examination, through programs like the Compliance Assurance Process (CAP), upon appeal or through litigation. Our judgments
may include reserves for potential adverse outcomes regarding tax positions that have been or plan to be taken that may be subject to challenge by taxing authorities. Changes in laws, regulations or
adverse judgments and the inherent difficulty in quantifying potential tax effects of business decisions may negatively affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, certain tax assets and liabilities, such as deferred tax assets and regulatory tax assets and liabilities, are recognized or recorded by NW Holdings or NW Natural based on certain
assumptions and determinations made based on available evidence, such as projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If these assumptions and
determinations prove to be incorrect, the recorded results may not be realized, which may negatively impact the financial results of NW Holdings and NW Natural.

REPUTATIONAL RISKS. 7o the extent that customers, legislators, or regulators have or develop a negative opinion of our businesses, NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.

A number of factors can affect customers’, legislators’, regulators’, and other third parties’ perception of us or our business including: service interruptions or safety concerns due to failures of equipment
or facilities or from other causes, and our ability to promptly respond to such failures; our ability to safeguard sensitive customer information; the timing and magnitude of rate increases; and volatility of
rates. Customers', legislators', and regulators' opinions of us can also be affected by media coverage, including social media, which may include information, whether factual or not, that could damage
the perception of natural gas, our brand, or our reputation.

Although we believe that natural gas serves an important role in helping our region reduce GHG emissions and move to a more resilient lower-carbon energy system, certain advocacy groups have
opposed the use of natural gas as a fuel source altogether and have pursued policies that limit, restrict, or impose additional costs on, the use of natural gas in a variety of contexts.
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Concerns raised about the use of natural gas include the potential for natural gas explosions or delivery disruptions, methane leakage along production, transportation and delivery systems, and end-
use equipment, and contribution of natural gas energy use to GHG emission levels and global warming. Similarly, concerns have also been raised regarding the use of RNG or hydrogen in place of
conventional natural gas. In addition, studies and claims by advocacy groups contend that there are detrimental indoor public health effects associated with the use of natural gas, which may also
impact public perception. Shifts in public sentiment due to these concerns or others that may be raised may impact further legislative initiatives, regulatory actions, and litigation, as well as behaviors and
perceptions of customers, investors, lawmakers, and regulators.

If customers, legislators, regulators, or other third parties have or develop a negative opinion of us and our services, or of natural gas as an energy source generally, this could make it more difficult for
us to achieve policy, legislative or regulatory outcomes supportive of our business. Negative opinions could also result in reduced customer growth, sales volumes reductions, increased use of other
sources of energy, or difficulties in accessing capital markets. Any of these consequences could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

REGULATORY ACCOUNTING RISK. /n the future, NW Holdings or NW Natural may no longer meet the criteria for continued application of regulatory accounting practices for all or a portion of our
regulated operations.

If we can no longer apply regulatory accounting, we could be required to write off our regulatory assets and precluded from the future deferral of costs not recovered through rates at the time such
amounts are incurred, even if we are expected to recover these amounts from customers in the future.

The criteria for the application of regulatory accounting is highly specific, and legislative or regulatory changes to our rate structure or processes could impact our ability to apply regulatory accounting in
the future.

Growth and Strategic Risks
STRATEGIC TRANSACTION RISK. NW Holdings’ and NW Natural's ability to successfully complete strategic transactions is subject to significant risks, which could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or
NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

From time to time, NW Holdings and NW Natural have pursued and may continue to pursue strategic transactions including mergers, acquisitions, combinations, divestitures, joint ventures, business

development projects or cther strategic transactions, including, but not limited to, investments in RNG projects on a regulated basis by NW Natural and on a non-regulated basis by NW Holdings, as well

as acquisitions by NW Holdings in the water, wastewater and water services, or in the gas or other utility sectors. Any such transactions involve substantial risks, including the following:

*  such transactions that are contracted for may fail to close for a variety of reasons;

« the result of such transactions may not produce revenues, earnings or cash flow at anticipated levels, which could, among other things, result in the impairment of any investments or goodwill
associated with such transactions;

* acquired businesses or assets could have environmental, permitting, or other problems for which contractual protections prove inadequate;

« our forecasts and projections regarding customer and business growth, financial performance, or economic and market conditions may prove to be incorrect;

« there may be difficulties in integration or higher than expected operation costs of new businesses;

« there may exist liabilities that were not disclosed to us, that exceed our estimates, or for which our rights to indemnification from the seller are limited;

« we may be unable to obtain the necessary regulatory or governmental approvals to close a transaction or receive approvals granted subject to terms that are unacceptable to us;

* we may be unable to achieve the anticipated regulatory treatment of any such transaction as part of the transaction approval or subsequent to closing the transaction; or

* we may be unable to avoid a disposition of assets for a price that is less than the book value of those assets.

One or more of these risks could affect NW Holdings’ and NW Natural's financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. For example, in January 2025, we completed the acquisition of
SiEnergy, and while we consider this acquisition to be an important component of our growth strategy, we may face unexpected costs or challenges associated with integration of the business or
otherwise fail to achieve the expected benefits of the transaction.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT RISK. NW Holdings’ and NW Natural's business development projects may not be sticcessful or may encounter unanticipated obstacles, costs, changes or delays that
could result in a project being unsuccessful or becoming impaired, which could negatively impact NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Business development projects involve many risks. We are currently engaged in several business development projects, including, but not limited to, several water, wastewater, water services and RNG
projects, non-regulated investments in RNG projects, and purchasing, marketing and reselling of RNG and its associated attributes. We may also engage in other business development projects such
as investments in additional long-term gas reserves, gas storage projects, CNG refueling stations, power to gas, power generation, hydrogen projects, carbon capture projects, geothermal projects or
other similar projects. Our business development activities are subject to uncertainties and changed circumstances and may not reach the scale expected,
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be successful or perform as anticipated. Additionally, we may not be able to obtain required governmental permits and approvals to complete our projects in a cost-efficient or timely manner, potentially
resulting in delays or abandonment of the projects. We could also experience issues such as: technological challenges; ineffective scalability; failure to achieve expected outcomes; unsuccessful
business models; startup and construction delays; construction cost overruns; reliance on or inability to direct third parties; disputes with contractors or other third parties; the inability to negotiate
acceptable agreements such as rights-of-way, easements, construction, gas supply or other material contracts; failure or delay in receiving applicable permits; changes in customer demand, perception
or commitment; public opposition to projects; marketing risk and changes in market regulation, behavior or prices, market volatility or unavailability, including markets for RNG and its associated
attributes or other environmental attributes; the inability to receive expected tax or regulatory treatment (including any applicable tax incentives or credits for renewable fuels); and operating cost
increases. Additionally, we may be unable to finance our business development projects at acceptable costs or within a scheduled time frame necessary for completing the project. Any of the foregoing
risks, if realized, could result in business development efforts failing to produce expected financial results and the project investment becoming impaired, and such failure or impairment could have an
adverse effect on NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

JOINT PARTNER RISK. /nvesting in business development projects through partnerships, joint ventures or other business arrangements affects our ability to manage certain risks and could adversely
impact NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We use joint ventures and other business arrangements to manage and diversify the risks of certain development projects and investments, including NW Natural's gas reserves agreements, certain
RNG projects, and certain of NW Holdings’ subsidiaries’ unregulated RNG projects and water platform investments. For example, in 2020, NW Natural began a partnership with BioCarbN to invest up to
an estimated $38 million in four separate RNG development projects that access biogas derived from water treatment at Tyson Foods' processing plants, subject to approval by all parties. NW Holdings
or NW Natural currently has and may further acquire or develop part-ownership interests in other projects in the future, including but not limited to, natural gas, water, wastewater, water services, RNG,
or hydrogen projects. Under these arrangements, we may not be able to fully direct the management and policies of the business relationships, and other participants in those relationships may act
contrary to our interests, including making operational decisions that could negatively affect our costs and liabilities. In addition, other participants may withdraw from the project, divest important assets,
become financially distressed or bankrupt, be subject to additional regulatory or legal requirements, or have economic or other business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours. We have in the
past and may in the future become involved in disputes with our business partners, which could result in additional cost or divert management’s attention.

NW Natural's gas reserves arrangements, which operate as a hedge backed by physical gas supplies, involve a number of risks, including: gas production that is significantly less than the expected
volumes, or no gas volumes; operating costs that are higher than expected; inherent risks of gas production, including disruption to operations or a complete shut-in of the field; and one or more
participants in one of these gas reserves arrangements becoming financially insolvent or acting contrary to NW Natural's interests. For example, Jonah Energy, the counterparty in NW Natural's gas
reserves arrangement, no longer maintains any company credit ratings. Although NW Natural intends to continue monitoring Jonah Energy’s financial condition and take appropriate actions to preserve
NW Natural's interests, it does not control Jonah Energy’s financial condition or continued performance under the gas reserves arrangement. The cost of the original gas reserves venture is currently
included in customer rates and additional wells under that arrangement are recovered at specific costs, the occurrence of one or more of these risks could affect NV Natural's ability to recover this
hedge in rates. Further, new gas reserves arrangements have not been approved for inclusion in rates, and regulators may ultimately determine to not include all or a portion of future transactions in
rates. The realization of any of these situations could adversely impact NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

CUSTOMER GROWTH RISK. NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’'s NGD margin, earnings and cash flow may be negatively affected if we are unable to sustain customer growth rates in our NGD segment.

NW Natural's NGD margins and earnings growth have largely depended upon the sustained growth of its residential and commercial customer base due, in part, to the new construction housing market,
conversions of customers to natural gas from other energy sources and growing commercial use of natural gas. Building codes recently enacted and others under consideration in our territory may have
the effect of reducing our natural gas customer growth rate. For example, building codes implemented in Washington, if determined to be valid, would have the effect of restricting or eliminating the use
of gas space and water heating in new commercial and residential construction, or otherwise increasing the cost of new home construction incorporating natural gas. Certain jurisdictions in Oregon and
Washington are considering similar measures. While we expect these types of codes to be subject to legal challenge, we cannot predict the outcome of any such challenge. Other regulations may
impact growth; for example, in connection with the resolution of NW Natural's general rate case, on October 25, 2024, the OPUC issued an order ordering the phase out of NWW Natural's line extension
allowance by November 1, 2027. We are not currently able to quantify the extent to which limitations on natural gas use, or declining line extension allowances provided in rates to cover construction
costs for new services, will affect new meter additions, or to what extent carbon compliance costs included in rates will affect the competitiveness of our business and the demand for natural gas service.
Insufficient customer growth, for economic, political, public perception, policy, or other reasons could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s utility margin, earnings and cash flows.
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RISK OF COMPETITION. Our NGD business is subject to increased competition which could negatively affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s results of operations.

In the residential and commercial markets, our natural gas distribution businesses compete primarily with suppliers of electricity, fuel oil, and propane. In the industrial market, we compete with suppliers
of all forms of energy. Competition among these forms of energy is based on price, efficiency, reliability, performance, market conditions, technology, federal, state and local governmental regulation,
actual and perceived environmental impacts, and public perception. Technological improvements such as electric heat pumps, batteries or other alternative technologies, or building code or other
regulations or restrictions affecting the cost or ability to use certain gas appliances, could erode our competitive advantage. If natural gas prices are high relative to other energy sources, or if the cost,
environmental impact or public perception of such other energy sources improves relative to natural gas, it may negatively affect our ability to secure new customers or retain our existing customers,
which could have a negative impact on our customer growth rate and NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s results of operations.

Our natural gas storage operations compete primarily with other storage facilities and pipelines. Increased competition in the natural gas storage business could reduce the demand for our natural gas
storage services, drive prices down for our storage business, and adversely affect our ability to renew or replace existing contracts at rates sufficient to maintain current revenues and cash flows, which
could adversely affect NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Operational Risks

OPERATING RISK. Transporting and storing gas and liquid fuels and distributing gas and liquid fuels and, water and wastewater involves numerous risks that may result in accidents and other
operating risks and costs, some or all of which may not be fully covered by insurance, and which could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.

NW Holdings and NW Natural are subject to all of the risks and hazards inherent in the businesses of gas and liquid transmission, distribution and storage, water distribution, and water and wastewater

services including:

+ earthquakes, wildfires, floods, storms, landslides and other severe weather incidents and natural hazards;

* leaks or losses of gases or liquids, or contamination of gases or liquids by chemicals or compounds, as a result of the malfunction of equipment or facilities or otherwise;

«  operator errors or damages from third parties;

* negative performance by our storage reservoirs, facilities, or wells that could cause us to fail to meet expected or forecasted operational levels or contractual commitments to our customers or other
third parties;

«  problems maintaining, or the malfunction of, pipelines, biodigester facilities, wellbores and related equipment and facilities that form a part of the infrastructure that is critical to the operation of our
facilities;

«  presence of chemicals or other compounds in the gases or liquids we deliver that could adversely affect the performance of the system or end-use equipment;

« failure of gas or water storage reservoirs;

* inadequate supplies of RNG, natural gas or water or contamination of water supplies;

« operating costs that are substantially higher than expected;

«  supply chain disruptions, including unexpected price increases, or supply restrictions beyond the control of our suppliers;

« migration of gas through faults in the rock or to some area of the reservoir where existing wells cannot drain the gas effectively, resulting in loss of the gas;

*  blowouts (uncontrolled escapes of gas from a pipeline or well) or other accidents, fires and explosions; and

« risks and hazards inherent in the drilling operations associated with the development of gas storage facilities, and wells.

For example, TC Pipelines, LP (TC Pipelines) has identified the presence of a chemical substance, dithiazine, at several facilities on the system of its subsidiary, Gas Transmission Northwest (GTN),
and those of some upstream and downstream connecting pipeline facilities. A portion of NW Natural's gas supplies from Canada are transported on GTN'’s pipelines. TC Pipelines reports that dithiazine
can drop out of gas streams in a powdery form at some points of pressure reduction (for example, at a regulator), and that in incidents where a sufficient quantity of the material accumulates in certain
places, improper functioning of equipment can occur, which can result in increased preventative and corrective action costs. While NW Natural has not detected significant quantities of dithiazine on its
system to date, we continue to monitor and could discover increased levels of dithiazine or other compounds on NW Natural's system that could affect the performance of the system or end-use
equipment.

These and other operational risks could result in disruption of service, personal injury or loss of human life, damage to and destruction of property and equipment, pollution or other environmental
damage, breaches of our contractual commitments, and may result in curtailment or suspension of operations, which in turn could lead to significant costs and lost revenues. Further, because our
pipeline, storage and distribution facilities are in or near populated areas, including residential areas, commercial business centers, and industrial sites, any loss of human life or adverse financial
outcomes resulting from such events could be significant. We could be subject to lawsuits, claims, and criminal and civil enforcement actions. Additionally, we may not be able to maintain the level or
types of insurance we desire, and the insurance coverage we do obtain may contain large deductibles or fail to cover certain hazards or cover all potential losses. The occurrence of any operating risks
not covered by insurance could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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SAFETY REGULATION RISK. NW Holdings and NW Natural may experience increased federal, state and focal regulation of the safety of our systems and operations, which could adversely affect NW
Holdings’ or NW Natural’s operating costs and financial results.

The safety and protection of the public, our customers and our employees is and will remain our top priority. We are committed to consistently monitoring, maintaining, and upgrading our distribution
systems and storage operations to ensure that RNG, natural gas and water is acquired, stored and delivered safely, reliably and efficiently. Natural gas operators are subject to robust, ongoing federal,
state and local regulatory oversight, which intensifies in response to incidents. For example, the 2020 Protecting our Infrastructure of Pipelines and Enhancing Safety Act (PIPES Act) prompted PHSMA
to issue three rulemakings impacting transmission lines, gathering lines, and valve automation in response to past incidents in other parts of the country. Regulations issued in 2024 by PHMSA contain
requirements related to the detection and repair of leaks and safety of gas distribution pipelines.

In addition, our workplaces are subject to the requirements of the Department of Transportation, through the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, and the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration, as well as state and local statutes and regulations that regulate the protection of the health and safety of workers. The failure to comply with these requirements or general industry
standards, including keeping adequate records or preventing occupational injuries or exposure, could expose us to civil or criminal liability, enforcement actions, and regulatory fines and penalties that
may not be recoverable through our rates and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We intend to work diligently with industry associations and federal and state regulators to comply with these regulations and other new laws. We expect there to be increased costs associated with
compliance, and those costs could be significant. If these costs are not recoverable in our customer rates, they could have a negative impact on NW Holdings’ and NW Natural's operating costs and
financial results.

RELIANCE ON THIRD PARTIES TO SUPPLY OR OPTIMIZE NATURAL GAS, RNG AND ENVIRONMENTAL ATTRIBUTES OR CREDITS RISK. We rely on third parties to supply or optimize natural
gas, RNG, storage or pipeline capacity, and environmental attributes or credits in our NGD segment, and limitations on our ability to obtain supplies, engage in effective optimization, or failure to receive
expected supplies, could have an adverse impact on NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial results.

Our ability to secure natural gas, RNG and environmental attributes or credits depends upon its ability to purchase and receive delivery of them from third parties. We, and in some cases our suppliers,
do not have control over the availability of natural gas, RNG or environmental attributes or credits, competition for those supplies, disruptions in those supplies, priority allocations on transmission
pipelines, markets for those supplies, or pricing and other terms related to such supplies. Additionally, third parties that we may rely on may fail to deliver supplies for which it has contracted. For
example, in October, 2018, a 36-inch pipeline near Prince George, British Columbia owned by Enbridge ruptured, disrupting natural gas flows from Canada into VWashington while the ruptured pipeline
and an adjacent pipeline were assessed and the ruptured pipeline was repaired. Once repaired, pressurization levels for those pipelines were reduced for a significant period of time for assessment and
testing. If we are unable or limited in our ability to obtain natural gas, RNG or environmental attributes or credits from our current suppliers or new sources, we may not be able to meet customers' gas
requirements or regulatory or compliance requirements, and would likely incur costs associated with actions necessary to mitigate service disruptions or regulatory compliance, which could significantly
and negatively impact NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s results of operations.

We also contract with an independent energy marketing company to provide asset management services regarding storage and pipeline capacity when those assets are not serving the needs of NGD
business customers. We may not be able to fully direct these transactions, or the counterparty to these arrangements may act contrary to our interests, become financially distressed or have economic
or other business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours. Failure to effectively optimize our assets could result in a negative impact on NW Holdings' and NW Natural’s financial condition,
revenues and results of operations.

SINGLE TRANSPORTATION PIPELINE RISK. NW Natural relies on a single pipeline company for the transportation of gas fto its service territory, a disruption, limitation, or inadequacy of which could
adversely impact its ability to meet customers’ gas requirements, which could significantly and negatively impact NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s results of operations.

NW Natural's distribution system is directly connected to a single interstate pipeline, which is owned and operated by Northwest Pipeline. The pipeline’s gas flows are bi-directional, transporting gas into
the Portland metropolitan market from two directions: (1) the north, which brings supplies from the British Columbia and Alberta supply basins; and (2) the east, which brings supplies from the Alberta
and the U.S. Rocky Mountain supply basins. If there is a rupture or inadequate capacity in, or supplies to maintain adequate pressures in, the pipeline, NWW Natural may not be able to meet its
customers’ gas requirements and we would likely incur costs associated with actions necessary to mitigate service disruptions, both of which could significantly and negatively impact NW Holdings’ and
NW Natural's results of operations.

THIRD PARTY PIPELINE RISK. NW Natural’'s gas storage business depends on third-party pipelines that connect our storage facilities to interstate pipelines, the failure or unavailability of which could
adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Our gas storage facilities are reliant on the continued operation of a third-party pipeline and other facilities that provide delivery options to and from our storage facilities. Because we do not own all of
these pipelines, their operations are not within our control. If the third-party pipeline to which we are connected were to become unavailable for current or future withdrawals or injections of natural gas
due to repairs, damage to the infrastructure, lack of capacity or other reasons, our ability to operate efficiently and satisfy our customers’ needs could be compromised, thereby potentially having an
adverse impact on NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

WORKFORCE RISK. NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s businesses are heavily dependent on being able to attract and retain qualified employees and maintain a competitive cost structure with market-
based salaries and employee benefits, and workforce disruptions could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s operations and results.

NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s ability to implement our business strategy and serve our customers is dependent upon our continuing ability to attract and retain diverse, talented professionals and a
technically skilled workforce, and being able to transfer the knowledge and expertise of our workforce to new and increasingly diverse employees as our largely older workforce retires. A significant
portion of our workforce is currently eligible or will reach retirement eligibility within the next five years, which will require that we attract, train and retain skilled workers to prevent loss of institutional
knowledge or skills gaps. We face competition for qualified personnel with specific skillsets. This competition may result in increased pressure on wages or other challenges in recruiting or retaining
personnel. Without an appropriately skilled workforce, our ability to provide quality service and meet our regulatory requirements will be challenged and this could negatively impact NW Holdings' and
NW Natural's earnings. Additionally, approximately half of NWW Natural workers are represented by the OPEIU Local No. 11 AFL-CIO and are covered by a collective bargaining agreement that extends
to May 31, 2028. Disputes with the union representing NW Natural employees over terms and conditions of their agreement, or failure to timely and effectively renegotiate the agreement upon its
expiration, could result in instability in our labor relationship or other labor disruptions or work stoppages that could impact the timely delivery of gas and other services from our utility and storage
facilities, which could strain relationships with customers and state regulators and cause a loss of revenues. The collective bargaining agreements may also limit our flexibility in dealing with NW
Natural’'s workforce, and the ability to change work rules and practices and implement other efficiency-related improvements to successfully compete in today’s challenging marketplace, which may
negatively affect NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

Environmental Risks
ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY RISK. Certain of NW Natural's, and possibly NW Holdings’, properties and facilities may pose environmental risks requiring remediation, the costs of which are difficult to
estimate and which could adversely affect NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

NW Natural owns, or previously owned, properties that require environmental remediation or other action. NW Holdings or NW Natural may now, or in the future, own other properties that require
environmental remediation or other action. NW Natural and NW Holdings accrue all material loss contingencies relating to these properties. A regulatory asset at NW Natural has been recorded for
estimated costs pursuant to a deferral order from the OPUC and WUTC. In addition to maintaining regulatory deferrals, NWW Natural settled with most of its historical liability insurers for only a portion of
the costs it has incurred to date and expects to incur in the future. To the extent amounts NW Natural recovered from insurance are inadequate and it is unable to recover these deferred costs in utility
customer rates, NW Natural would be required to reduce its regulatory assets which would result in a charge to earnings in the year in which regulatory assets are reduced. In addition, in Oregon, the
OPUC approved the SRRM, which limits recovery of deferred amounts to those amounts which satisfy an annual prudence review and an earnings test that requires NW Natural to contribute additional
amounts toward environmental remediation costs above approximately $10 million in years in which NW Natural earns above its authorized ROE. To the extent NW Natural earns more than its
authorized ROE in a year, it would be required to cover environmental expenses greater than the $10 million with those earnings that exceed its authorized ROE. The OPUC ordered a review of the
SRRM in 2018 or when we obtain greater certainty of environmental costs, whichever occurred first. We submitted information for review in 2018, and believe we could be subject to further review.
Similarly, in October 2019, the WUTC authorized an ECRM, which allows for recovery of certain past deferred and future prudently incurred remediation costs allocable to Washington through
application of insurance proceeds and collections from customers, subject to an annual prudence determination. These ongoing prudence reviews, or with respect to the SRRM, the earnings test, or the
periodic review could reduce the amounts NW Natural is allowed to recover, and could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NWW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Moreover, we may have disputes with regulators and other parties as to the severity of particular environmental matters, what remediation efforts are appropriate, whether natural resources were
damaged, and the portion of the costs or claims NW Natural or NW Holdings should bear. We cannot predict with certainty the amount or timing of future expenditures related to environmental
investigations, remediation or other action, the portions of these costs allocable to NW Natural or NW Holdings, or disputes or litigation arising in relation thereto.

Environmental liability estimates are based on current remediation technology, industry experience gained at similar sites, an assessment of probable level of responsibility, and the financial condition of
other potentially responsible parties. However, it is difficult to estimate such costs due to uncertainties surrounding the course of environmental remediation, the preliminary nature of certain site
investigations, natural recovery of the site, unavoidable limitations associated with environmental investigations and remedial technologies, evolving science, the application of environmental laws that
impose joint and several liabilities on all
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potentially responsible parties, and changes in federal, state or local environmental statutes, regulations or policies. These uncertainties and disputes arising therefrom could lead to further adversarial
administrative proceedings or litigation, with associated costs and uncertain outcomes, all of which could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION COMPLIANCE RISK. NW Holdings and NW Natural are subject to environmental regulations, compliance with which or failure to comply with, could adversely affect
our operations or financial restlts.

NW Holdings and NW Natural are subject to laws, regulations and other legal requirements enacted or adopted by federal, state and local governmental authorities relating to protection of the
environment, including those legal requirements that govern discharges of substances into the air and water, the management and disposal of hazardous substances and waste, groundwater quality
and availability, plant and wildlife protection, the emitting of greenhouse gases, and other aspects of environmental regulation. For example, our natural gas operations are subject to reporting
requirements to a number of governmental authorities including, but not limited to, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (ODEQ), and the
Washington State Department of Ecology regarding greenhouse gas emissions. Ve are also required to reduce emissions of GHGs over time in accordance with the recently issued Oregon Climate
Protection Program (CPP) and the Washington Climate Commitment Act (CCA). We expect that compliance with any form of regulation of GHG emissions will require additional resources and legislative
or regulatory tools and will increase costs. The developing and changing guidance to implement the CCA and CPP, evolving carbon credit markets and other regulatory tool options, decades-long
timeframes for compliance, likely changing and evolving laws and energy policy, and evolving technological advancements, all make it difficult to accurately predict long-term tools for and costs of
compliance. Increased compliance costs or additional operating restrictions resulting from current and future additional environmental regulations at the local, state or national level may or may not be
recoverable in customer rates, through insurance or otherwise. If these costs are not recoverable, or if these regulations reduce the desirability, availability, or cost-competitiveness of natural gas, they
could have an adverse effect on NW Holdings’ or NW Natural's operations or financial condition. Furthermore, failure to comply with such laws or regulations could subject us to possible enforcement
actions, financial liability or litigation, any of which could adversely affect NWW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE RISK. Our businesses may be subject to physical risks associated with climate change, all of which could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Climate change may cause physical risks, including an increase in sea level, intensified storms, water scarcity, wildfire susceptibility and intensity and changes in weather conditions, such as changes in
precipitation, average temperatures and extreme wind or other extreme weather events or climate conditions. Moreover, a significant portion of the nation’s gas infrastructure is located in areas
susceptible to storm damage that could be aggravated by wetland and barrier island erosion, which could give rise to gas supply interruptions and price spikes. Fire risk is also significant in the western
United States, including in our service territory, and may be elevated by warmer air temperatures, drought, wind and land management practices. Climate change may increase the likelihood and
magnitude of damages that may be caused by fires, which may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

These and other physical changes could result in disruptions to natural gas production and transportation systems potentially increasing the cost of gas and affecting our natural gas businesses’ ability
to procure or transport gas to meet customer demand. These changes could also affect our distribution systems resulting in increased maintenance and capital costs, disruption of service, regulatory
actions and lower customer satisfaction. Similar disruptions could occur in NW Holdings’ water utility and unregulated RNG businesses. To the extent we are unable to recover these costs, or if higher
rates resulting from our recovery of such costs result in reduced demand for our services, our future business, financial condition, or financial results could be adversely impacted. Additionally, to the
extent that climate change adversely impacts the economic health or weather conditions of our service territory directly, it could adversely impact customer demand or our customers’ ability to pay. Such
physical risks could have an adverse effect on NW Holdings’ or NW Natural's financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

PUBLIC PERCEPTION AND POLICY RISK. Changes in public sentiment or public policy with respect to natural gas, including through local, state or federal laws or legisiation or other regulation
(including ballot initiatives, executive orders or regulatory codes) or litigation, could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

There are a number of international, federal, state, and local legislative, legal, regulatory and other initiatives being proposed and adopted in an attempt to measure, control or limit the effects of global
warming and climate change, including greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions such as carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, and methane. Legislation or other forms of public policy or regulation that aim to reduce
GHG emissions at the federal, state, or local level have and could continue to take a variety of forms including, but not limited to, GHG emissions limits, reporting requirements, carbon taxes,
requirements to purchase carbon credits, building codes, increased efficiency standards, additional charges to fund energy efficiency activities or other regulatory actions, and incentives or mandates to
conserve energy, or use renewable energy sources. Federal, state, or local governments may provide tax advantages and other subsidies to support alternative energy sources, withdraw funding from
fossil fuel sources, mandate the use of specific fuels or technologies, prohibit the use of natural gas, or promote research into new technologies to reduce the cost and increase the scalability of
alternative energy sources. For example, during his administration, former President Biden issued a number of executive orders, and a wide range of federal agencies took action aimed at addressing
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climate change and other environmental matters. Federal legislation passed under the Biden administration, such as the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (IRA), included several climate and energy
provisions. Upon taking office in January, 2025, President Trump issued several executive orders aimed at revoking Biden-era climate policies. We expect there to be a number of additional changes
related to climate policy under the Trump Administration, including additional executive orders, federal regulations, programs and other federal actions, however, we cannot currently predict when or if
the Trump Administration or Congress will act, the form of the action, the extent to which any such action may replace or revoke prior administration policies, or the impact of those actions on our
business.

At the state level, effective beginning in 2023, the State of Washington enacted the Climate Commitment Act (CCA), which establishes a comprehensive program that provides an overall limit for GHG
emissions from major sources in the state and declines yearly to 95% below 1990 levels by 2050. NW Natural is currently subject to the CCA. Similarly, in Oregon, In November 2024, the ODEQ issued
final cap and reduce rules for its Climate Protection Program (CPP), which became effective January 1, 2025. The CPP establishes a program to limit GHG emissions from covered entities, including
natural gas utilities, by 50% by 2035 and 90% by 2050 from a 2017-2019 baseline. In addition, the State of Washington has implemented, and the State of Oregon and some local jurisdictions have
considered or are considering, building codes that could have the effect of disfavoring or disallowing natural gas in residential or commercial new construction or conversions, including locations within
our service territory. For example, the Eugene City Council continues to develop a plan to address GHG emissions, align incentives around GHG emissions and to engage in a number of actions,
including identifying potential revenue sources, like a gas supplier tax. Similarly, some jurisdictions and advocates are evaluating restricting the use of natural gas and certain natural gas appliances
inside homes contending that there are detrimental indoor health effects associated with the use of natural gas.

Such current or future legislation, regulation or other initiatives (including executive orders, ballot initiatives or ordinances) could impose on our natural gas businesses operational requirements or
restrictions, additional charges to fund energy efficiency initiatives, or levy a tax based on carbon content. In addition, certain jurisdictions, including San Francisco, Seattle, and New York have enacted
measures to ban or discourage the use of new natural gas hookups in residential or other buildings. Other jurisdictions, including several in our service territory, have considered or are currently
considering similar restrictions or other measures discouraging the use of natural gas, such as limitations or bans on the use of natural gas in new construction, requiring the conversion of buildings to
electric heat, or adopting policies or incentives to encourage the use of electricity in lieu of natural gas. Such restrictions could adversely impact customer growth or usage and could adversely impact
our ability to recover costs and maintain reasonable customer rates. In addition, certain states, cities, local jurisdictions and private parties have initiated lawsuits against companies related to climate
change impacts, GHG emissions or climate-related disclosures. We have been named as a defendant in two such legal proceedings, each as described in more detail in Note 17 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. While we intend to diligently defend against such claims, we cannot predict the outcome of such litigation. Such climate-related claims or actions could be costly to defend and
could negatively impact our business, reputation, financial condition, and results of operations.

NW Natural believes natural gas has an important role in moving the Pacific Northwest to a lower carbon future, and to that end is developing programs and measures to reduce carbon emissions.
However, NW Natural’s efforts may not happen quickly enough to keep pace with legislation or other regulation, legal changes or public sentiment, or may be more costly or not be as effective as
expected. Any of these initiatives, or our unsuccessful response to them, could result in us incurring additional costs to comply with the imposed policies, regulations, restrictions or programs, provide a
cost or other competitive advantage to energy sources other than natural gas, reduce demand for natural gas, restrict our customer growth, impose costs or restrictions on end users of natural gas,
impact the prices we charge our customers, increase the likelihood of litigation, reduce our access to capital, impose increased costs on us associated with the adoption of new infrastructure and
technology to respond to such requirements which may or may not be recoverable in customer rates, and could negatively impact public perception of our services or products that negatively diminishes
the value of our brand, all of which could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

Business Continuity and Technology Risks
BUSINESS CONTINUITY RISK. NW Holdings and NW Natural may be adversely impacted by local or national disasters, pandemics, political unrest, terrorist activities, cyber-attacks or data breaches,
and other extreme events to which we may not be able to promptly respond, which could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural's operations or financial condition.

Local or national disasters (including but not limited to earthquakes, wildfires, floods, storms, landslides), pandemics, political unrest, terrorist activities, cyber-attacks and data breaches, power outages,
and other extreme events are a threat to our assets and operations. Companies in critical infrastructure industries face a heightened risk due to being the target of, and having heightened exposure to,
acts of terrorism or sabotage, including physical and security breaches of our physical infrastructure and information technology or operational technology systems in the form of cyber-attacks or other
forms of attacks. These attacks could, among other things, target or impact our technology or mechanical systems that operate our distribution, transmission or storage facilities and result in a disruption
in our operations, damage to our system and inability to meet customer requirements. In addition, the threat of terrorist activities could lead to increased economic instability and volatility in the price of
RNG, natural gas or other necessary commodities that could affect our operations. Threatened or actual national disasters, pandemics or terrorist activities may also disrupt capital or bank markets and
our ability to raise capital or obtain debt financing, or impact our suppliers or our customers directly, including increasing volatility in the price of natural gas or reducing demand for natural gas or water.
Local disaster, pandemics, or civil unrest could result in disruption of our infrastructure or facilities, increase our operating
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costs, or result in part of our workforce being unable to operate or maintain our infrastructure or perform other tasks necessary to conduct our business. Local disruption may also limit our ability to
collect on overdue accounts or disconnect gas or water service for nonpayment beyond an amount or period of time acceptable to us. A slow or inadequate response to events may have an adverse
impact on our operations and earnings. Ve may not be able to maintain sufficient insurance to cover all risks associated with local and national disasters, pandemic illnesses, terrorist activities, cyber-
attacks and other attacks or events. Additionally, large scale natural disasters or terrorist attacks could destabilize the insurance industry making the insurance we do have unavailable, which could
increase the risk that an event could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural's operations or financial results. Similarly, business disruptions may limit, delay or block public utility commissions’
ability to approve or authorize applications or other requests we may make with respect to our regulated businesses. Any of these occurrences, or the resulting economic effects could have a material
adverse effect on our business, outlook, financial condition, and results of operations and cash flows.

RELIANCE ON TECHNOLOGY RISK. NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s efforts to integrate, consolidate and streamline each of their operations has resulted in increased reliance on technology, the
failure of which could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

NW Holdings and NW Natural have undertaken, and will continue to undertake, a variety of initiatives to integrate, standardize, centralize and streamline operations. These efforts have resulted in
greater reliance on technological tools such as, at NW Natural: an enterprise resource planning system, technology associated with gas operations, a digital dispatch system, an automated meter
reading system, a web-based ordering and tracking system, and other similar technological tools and initiatives. Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to anticipate and adapt to
technological changes ina cost-effective manner and to offer, on a timely basis, services that meet customer demands and evolving industry standards. New technologies may emerge that could be
superior to, or may not be compatible with, some of our existing technologies, and may require us to make significant expenditures to remain competitive. Ve continue to implement technology to
improve our business processes and customer interactions. In addition, our various existing information technology systems require periodic modifications, upgrades and/or replacement. For example,
NW Natural has recently implemented upgrades to its SAP system and intends to replace its customer information system in the near future.

There are various risks associated with these systems in addition to upgrades and replacements, including hardware and software failure, communications failure, data distortion or destruction,
unauthorized access to data, misuse of proprietary or confidential data, unauthorized control through electronic means, programming mistakes and other inadvertent errors or deliberate human acts. In
addition, we are dependent on a continuing flow of important components and appropriately skilled individuals to maintain and upgrade our information technology systems. Our suppliers have
previously faced disruptions, such as during the COVID-19 pandemic, and may face additional production or import delays due to natural disasters, strikes, lock-outs, political unrest, pandemics or other
such circumstances. Technology services provided by third-parties also could be disrupted due to events and circumstances beyond our control which could adversely impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Any modifications, upgrades, system maintenance or replacements subject us to inherent costs and risks, including potential disruption of our internal control structure, substantial capital expenditures,
additional administrative and operating expenses, retention of sufficiently skilled personnel to implement and operate the new systems, and other risks and costs of delays or difficulties in transitioning to
new systems or of integrating new systems into our current systems. In addition, the difficulties with implementing new technology systems may cause disruptions in our business operations and have
an adverse effect on our business and operations, if not anticipated and appropriately mitigated. There is also risk that we may not be able to recover all costs associated with projects to improve our
technological capabilities, which may adversely affect NWW Holdings’ or NW Natural's financial condition and results of operations.

CYBERSECURITY RISK. NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s status as an infrastructure services provider coupled with its reliance on technology could result in a security breach which could adversely
affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

Although we take precautions to protect our technology systems and are not aware of any material security breaches to date, there is no guarantee that the procedures we have implemented to protect
against unauthorized access to secured data and systems, including our operational technology and information technology systems, are adequate to safeguard against all security breaches or other
cyberattacks. Additionally, the facilities and systems of clients, suppliers and third-party service providers also could be vulnerable to cyber risks and attacks, and such third party systems may be
interconnected to our systems. Therefore, an event caused by cyberattacks or other malicious act at an interconnected third party could impact our business and facilities similarly. As these potential
cyber security attacks become more common and sophisticated, we could be required to incur costs to strengthen our systems or maintain insurance coverage against potential losses. Moreover, a
variety of regulatory agencies are focused on cybersecurity risks, and specifically in critical infrastructure sectors. For example, the Transportation Security Administration (TSA) has published security
directives and in November 2024, proposed formal rules mandating cybersecurity actions for critical pipeline owners and operators. Failure to meet the requirements of these directives or other
cybersecurity regulations could result in fines or other penalties. We are continuing to evaluate the potential costs of implementation of these directives, and there is no assurance that we will be able to
continue to recover in rates costs associated with such compliance.
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In addition, our businesses could experience breaches of security pertaining to sensitive customer, employee, and vendor information maintained by us in the normal course of business, which could
adversely affect our reputation, diminish customer confidence, disrupt operations, materially increase the costs we incur to protect against these risks, and subject us to possible financial liability or
increased regulation or litigation. All of these risks could adversely affect NV Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

Einancial and Economic Risks
HOLDING COMPANY DIVIDEND RISK. As a holding company, NW Holdings depends on its operating subsidiaries, including NW Natural, to meet financial obligations and the ability of NW Holdings to
pay dividends on its common stock is dependent on the receipt of dividends and other payments from its subsidiaries, including NW Natural.

As a holding company, NW Holdings’ only significant assets are the stock and membership interests of its operating subsidiaries, which at this time is primarily NW Natural. NWW Holdings’ direct and
indirect subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities, managed by their own boards of directors, and have no obligation to pay any amounts to their respective shareholders, whether through
dividends, loans or other payments. The ability of these companies to pay dividends or make other distributions on their common stock is subject to, among other things: their results of operations, net
income, cash flows and financial condition, as well as the success of their business strategies and general economic and competitive conditions; the prior rights of holders of existing and future debt
securities and any future preferred stock issued by those companies; and any applicable legal restrictions.

In addition, the ability of NW Holdings’ subsidiaries to pay upstream dividends and make other distributions is subject to applicable state law and regulatory restrictions. Under the OPUC and WUTC
regulatory approvals for the holding company formation, if NvW Natural ceases to comply with credit and capital structure requirements approved by the OPUC and WUTC, it will not, with limited
exceptions, be permitted to pay dividends to NW Holdings. Under the OPUC and WUTC orders authorizing the holding company reorganization, NWW Natural may not pay dividends or make distributions
to NW Holdings if NW Natural's credit ratings and common equity levels fall below specified ratings and levels. If NW Natural’s long-term secured credit ratings are below A- for S&P and A3 for Moody's,
dividends may be issued so long as NW Natural's common equity is 45% or above. If NW Natural's long-term secured credit ratings are below BBB for S&P and Baa2 for Moody'’s, dividends may be
issued so long as NW Natural’s common equity is 46% or above. Dividends may not be issued if NWW Natural’s long-term secured credit ratings fall to BB+ or below for S&P or Ba1 or below for Moody's,
or if NW Natural's common equity is below 44%. The ratio is measured using common equity and long-term debt excluding imputed debt or debt-like lease obligations, and is determined on a preceding
or projected 13-month basis.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT RISK. The cost of providing pension and postretirement healthcare benefits is subject to changes in pension assets and liabilities, changing employee demographics and
changing actuarial assumptions, which may have an adverse effect on NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Until NW Natural closed the pension plans to new hires, which for non-union employees was in 2006 and for union employees was in 2009, it provided pension plans and postretirement healthcare
benefits to eligible full-time utility employees and retirees. Approximately 22% of NW Natural's current utility employees were hired prior to these dates, and therefore remain eligible for these plans.
Other businesses we acquire may also have pension plans. The costs to NW Natural, or the other applicable businesses we may acquire, for providing such benefits is subject to change in the market
value of the pension assets, changes in employee demographics including longer life expectancies, increases in healthcare costs, current and future legislative changes, and various actuarial
calculations and assumptions. The actuarial assumptions used to calculate our future pension and postretirement healthcare expenses may differ materially from actual results due to significant market
fluctuations and changing withdrawal rates, wage rates, interest rates and other factors. These differences may result in an adverse impact on the amount of pension contributions, pension expense or
other postretirement benefit costs recorded in future periods. Sustained declines in equity markets and reductions in bond rates may have a material adverse effect on the value of the pension fund
assets and liabilities. In these circumstances, NW Natural may be required to recognize increased contributions and pension expense earlier than it had planned to the extent that the value of pension
assets is less than the total anticipated liability under the plans, which could have a negative impact on NW Holdings’ and NW Natural's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

HEDGING RISK. NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s risk management policies and hedging activities cannot eliminate the risk of commodity price movements and other financial market risks, and hedging
activities may expose us to additional liabilities for which rate recovery may be disaflowed, which could resuit in an adverse impact on NW Holdings’ and NW Natural's operating revenues, costs,
derivative assets and liabilities and operating cash flows.

Our gas purchasing requirements expose us to risks of commodity price movements, while our use of debt and equity financing exposes us to interest rate, liquidity and other financial market risks. Ve
attempt to manage these exposures with both physical hedges, including our storage and gas reserves transactions, which are hedges backed by physical gas supplies, and financial hedges, such as
gas swaps and interest rate hedging arrangements. We may also enter into other types of financial and physical hedging arrangements from time to time. While we have risk management procedures
for hedging in place, they may not always work as planned and cannot entirely eliminate the risks associated with hedging. Additionally, our hedging activities may cause
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us to incur additional expenses to obtain the hedge. We do not hedge our entire interest rate or commodity cost exposure, and the unhedged exposure will vary over time. Gains or losses experienced
through NW Natural's hedging activities, including carrying costs, generally flow through NW Natural's PGA mechanism or are recovered in future general rate cases. However, the hedge transactions
NW Natural enters into for utility purposes are subject to a prudence review by the OPUC and WUTC, and, if found imprudent, those expenses may be, and have been previously, disallowed, which
could have an adverse effect on NV Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our actual business requirements and available resources may vary from forecasts, which are used as the basis for hedging decisions and could cause our exposure to be more or less than
anticipated. Moreover, if NW Natural's derivative instruments and hedging transactions do not qualify for regulatory deferral or hedge accounting treatment under U.S. GAAP, NW Holdings’ or NW
Natural’s results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

NW Holdings and NW Natural also have credit and performance exposure to derivative counterparties. Counterparties owing NW Holdings, NW Natural or their respective subsidiaries money, physical
natural gas, RNG or environmental attributes could breach their obligations. Should the counterparties to these arrangements fail to perform, we may be forced to enter into alternative arrangements to
meet our normal business requirements. In that event, NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial results could be adversely affected. Additionally, under most of NW Natural’'s hedging arrangements, a
downgrade of its senior unsecured long-term debt credit rating could allow its counterparties to require NW Natural to post cash, a letter of credit or other form of collateral, which would expose NW
Natural to additional costs and may trigger significant increases in borrowing from its credit facilities or equity contribution needs from NW Holdings, if the credit rating downgrade is below investment
grade. Further, based on current interpretations, each of NW Holdings, NV Natural and NVWWN Water is not considered a "swap dealer" or "major swap participant” in 2024, so we are exempt from certain
requirements under the Dodd-Frank Act. If we are unable to claim this exemption, we could be subject to higher costs for our derivatives activities, and such higher costs could have a negative impact
on NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s operating costs and financial results.

GAS PRICE RISK. Higher natural gas commodity prices and volatility in the price of gas may adversely affect our NGD business, whereas lower gas price volatility may adversely affect NW Natural’s
gas storage business, negatively affecting NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s results of operations and cash flows.

The cost of natural gas is affected by a variety of factors, including weather, changes in demand, the level of production and availability of natural gas supplies, transportation constraints, availability and
cost of pipeline capacity, federal, state and local energy and environmental policy, regulation and legislation, natural disasters and other catastrophic events, national and worldwide economic and
political conditions, and the price and availability of alternative fuels. In recent years, we have experienced increased pricing and volatility in the current and forward gas markets. In addition, potential
tariffs or trade restrictions could impact the price of natural gas that we import from Canada. At our gas businesses, the cost we pay for natural gas is generally passed through to customers through an
annual purchased gas rate adjustment. If gas prices were to increase significantly and remain higher, it could raise the cost of energy to our customers, potentially causing those customers to conserve
or switch to alternate sources of energy. Sustained significant price increases could also cause new home builders and commercial developers to select alternative energy sources. Decreases in the
volume of gas we sell could reduce NW Holdings or NW Natural’s earnings, and a decline in customers could slow growth in future earnings. Additionally, notwithstanding NW Natural’s current rate
structure, higher gas costs could result in increased pressure on the OPUC or the WUTC to seek other means to reduce NW Natural’s rates, which also could adversely affect NV Holdings’ and NW
Natural’s results of operations and cash flows.

Temporary gas price increases can also adversely affect NWW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s operating cash flows, liquidity and results of operations. In Oregon, a portion (10% or 20%) of any difference
between the estimated average PGA gas cost in rates and the actual average gas cost incurred is recognized as current income or expense.

Temporary or sustained higher gas prices may also cause us to experience an increase in short-term debt and temporarily reduce liquidity because it pays suppliers for gas when it is purchased, which
can be in advance of when these costs are recovered through rates. Significant increases in the price of gas can also slow collection efforts as customers experience increased difficulty in paying their
higher energy bills, leading to higher than normal delinquent accounts receivable resulting in greater expense associated with collection efforts and increased bad debt expense.

INABILITY TO ACCESS CAPITAL MARKET RISK. NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s inability to access capital, or significant increases in the cost of capital, could adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW
Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s ability to obtain adequate and cost effective short-term and long-term financing depends on maintaining investment grade credit profiles, perceptions of our business in
capital markets, and the existence of liquid and stable financial markets. NW Holdings relies on access to equity, debt, and bank markets to finance equity contributions to subsidiaries and other
business requirements. NW Natural relies on access to capital and bank markets, including commercial paper and bond markets, to finance its operations, construction expenditures and other business
requirements, and to refinance maturing debt that cannot be funded entirely by internal cash flows. Disruptions in capital markets, including but not limited to, pandemics, political unrest, inflationary
pressures, recessionary pressures, or rising interest rates could adversely affect our ability to access short-term and long-term financing or refinance maturing indebtedness. Our access to funds under
committed
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credit facilities, which are currently provided by a number of banks, is dependent on the ability of the participating banks to meet their funding commitments. Those banks may not be able to meet their
funding commitments if they experience shortages of capital and liquidity. Disruptions in the bank or capital financing markets as a result of economic uncertainty, changing or increased regulation of the
financial sector, or failure of major financial institutions, or disruptions in credit markets, could adversely affect NV Holdings’ and NW Natural’s access to capital and negatively impact our ability to run
our businesses, achieve NW Natural's authorized rate of return, and make strategic investments.

Furthermore, recent trends toward investments that are perceived to be “green” or “sustainable” could shift capital away from, or increase the cost of capital for, our natural gas business. We believe our
business is an important component of a lower carbon future and are striving to reduce emissions from our systems. Nevertheless, perceptions in the financial markets could differ or outpace our
progress toward reducing emissions and result in a shift funding away from, or limit or restrict certain forms of funding for, natural gas businesses. Similarly, public policy developments impacting natural
gas, including through local, state or federal laws or legislation or other regulation (including ballot initiatives, executive orders or regulatory codes) or litigation could impact our ability to access capital.

NW Natural is currently rated by S&P and Moody’s, and NW Holdings is currently rated by S&P. A negative change in their respective credit ratings, particularly below investment grade, could adversely
affect our cost of borrowing and access to sources of liquidity and capital. Such a downgrade could further limit our access to borrowing under available credit lines. Additionally, downgrades in NW
Natural’s current credit ratings below investment grade could cause additional delays in NW Natural's ability to access the capital markets while it seeks supplemental state regulatory approval, which
could hamper its ability to access credit markets on a timely basis. NW Holdings' credit profile is largely supported by NW Natural's credit ratings and any negative change in NW Natural’s credit ratings
would likely negatively impact NW Holdings’ access to sources of liquidity and capital and cost of borrowing. A credit downgrade could also require additional support in the form of letters of credit, cash
or other forms of collateral and otherwise adversely affect NW Holdings' or NW Natural's financial condition and results of operations.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS OR GOODWILL RISK. /mpairments of the value of long-lived assets or goodwilf could have a material effect on NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial
condition, or results of operations.

NW Holdings and NW Natural review the carrying value of long-lived assets other than goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the assets might not be
recoverable. The determination of recoverability is based on the undiscounted net cash flows expected to result from the operation of such assets. Projected cash flows depend on the future operating
costs and projected revenues associated with the asset.

We review the carrying value of goodwill annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying value may not be recoverable. A goodwill impairment analysis begins with
a qualitative analysis of events and circumstances. If the qualitative assessment indicates that the carrying value may be at risk, we will perform a quantitative assessment and recognize a goodwill
impairment for any amount in which the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value. NW Holdings' total goodwill was $183.8 million as of December 31, 2024 and $163.3 million as of

December 31, 2023, which all related to water and wastewater acquisitions. There have been no impairments recognized for the water and wastewater acquisitions to date. Any impairment charge taken
with respect to our long-lived assets or goodwill could be material and could have a material effect on NW Holdings’ or NW Natural’s financial condition and results of operations.

CUSTOMER CONSERVATION RISK. Customers’ conservation efforts may have a negative impact on NW Holdings’ and NW Natural’s revenues.

An increasing national focus on energy conservation, including improved building practices and appliance efficiencies may result in increased energy conservation by customers. This can decrease our
sales of natural gas and adversely affect NW Holdings’ or NW Natural's results of operations because revenues are collected mostly through volumetric rates, based on the amount of gas sold. In
Oregon, NW Natural has a conservation tariff which is designed to recover lost utility margin due to declines in residential and small commercial customers’ consumption. However, NW Natural does not
have a conservation tariff in Washington that provides it this margin protection on sales to customers in that state. Similar conservation risks exist for water utilities. Customers’ conservation efforts may
have a negative impact on NW Holdings' and NW Natural’s financial condition, revenues and results of operations.

ECONOMIC RISK. Changes in the economy and in the financial markets may have a negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

If an economic slowdown occurs, our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be adversely affected. Moreover, fluctuations and uncertainties in the economy make it challenging
for us to accurately forecast and plan future business activities and to identify risks that may affect our business, financial condition, and operating results. Changes in economic activity in our markets
and in global financial markets can result in lower demand for energy, increased incidence of customers’ inability to pay or delay in paying utility bills or increase in customer bankruptcies, less new
housing construction or fewer conversions to natural gas, higher levels of residential foreclosures or vacancies, uncertainty regarding energy prices and the capital and commodity markets, increased
credit risk and supply chain uncertainty. We are evaluating and monitoring current economic conditions, which include but are not limited to: inflation and interest rates, supply chain disruptions, and
other
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regulatory, physical or cyber related risks impacting our business. These and other macroeconomic conditions may adversely impact the markets in which we operate and could cause the local, national
or global economy to enter a period of recession. We cannot predict the timing, strength, or duration of any future economic slowdown or recession. If the economy or the markets in which we operate
decline from present levels, it may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

WEATHER RISK. Warmer than average weather may have a negative impact on our revenues and results of operations.

We are exposed to weather risk in our natural gas businesses. A majority of NW Natural’s gas volume is driven by gas sales to space heating residential and small commercial customers during the
winter heating season. Current NW Natural rates are based on an assumption of average weather. Warmer than average weather typically results in lower gas sales. Colder weather typically results in
higher gas sales. Although the effects of warmer or colder weather on utility margin in Oregon are expected to be mitigated through the operation of NW Natural's weather normalization mechanism,
weather variations from normal could adversely affect utility margin because NW Natural may be required to purchase more or less gas at spot rates, which may be higher or lower than the rates
assumed in its PGA. Additionally, extreme weather events, such as those that occurred in NW Natural’s service territory in February 2021 and January 2024 can result in the purchase of higher levels of
gas at significantly higher spot rates. Also, a portion of NW Natural’s Oregon residential and commercial customers (usually less than 10%) have opted out of the weather normalization mechanism, and
approximately 12% of its customers are located in Washington where it does not have a weather normalization mechanism. SiEnergy, our gas utility in Texas similarly maintains a weather normalization
mechanism, however, this mechanism may not fully mitigate the impact of warmer or colder than expected weather in Texas. These effects could have an adverse effect on NW Holdings’ and NW
Natural’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Water Business Risks
WATER SECTOR BUSINESS. NW Holdings' water, wastewater and water services businesses are subject to a number of risks in addition to the risks described above.

Although the water businesses are not currently expected to materially contribute to the results of operations of NW Holdings, these businesses are subject to risks, in addition to those described above,

including:
« contamination of water supplies, including water provided to customers with naturally occurring or human-made substances or other hazardous materials, or disruptions to water treatment
processes;

« interruptions in water supplies and service, weather conditions, natural disasters and droughts;

« insufficient water supplies, limitations on or disputes with respect to water rights or supplies, or the inability to secure water rights or supplies at a reasonable cost;
« disruptions to the wastewater collection and treatment process, including spills, overflows or system failures;

« wastewater discharges by third parties that contain unanticipated levels of chemical or other pollutants;

« reliance on third parties for water supplies and transportation of such water supplies;

« the ability to attract and retain customers to our water services business and competition for customers’ business;

« conservation efforts by customers;

« regulatory and legal requirements, including environmental, health and safety laws and regulations;

« operational risks, including customer and employee safety; and

« the outcome of rate cases and other regulatory proceedings.

Significant losses, liabilities or impairments arising from these businesses may adversely affect NW Holdings' financial position or results of operations.

INVESTMENT RISK. NW Holdings’ expectations with respect to the financial results of its investments in water, wastewater and water services operations are based on various assumptions and beliefs
that may not prove accurate, resulting in failures or delays in achieving expected returns or performance.

NW Holdings’ expansion into the water sector is an important component of its growth strategy. Although NW Holdings expects its water and wastewater utility operations and water services businesses
will result in various benefits, including expanding customer bases, providing investment opportunities through infrastructure development and enhancing regulatory relationships within the local
communities served, NW Holdings may not be able to realize these or other benefits. Achieving the anticipated benefits is subject to a number of uncertainties, including whether the businesses
acquired can be operated in the manner intended and whether costs to finance the acquisitions and investments will be consistent with expectations, as well as whether investments in the water sector
can reach scale in a reasonable period of time. Events outside of our control, including but not limited to regulatory changes or developments, could adversely affect our ability to realize the anticipated
benefits from building NW Holdings’ water platform. The integration of newly acquired water, wastewater or water services businesses, particularly over noncontiguous geographic regions, may be
unpredictable, subject to delays or changed circumstances, and such businesses may not perform in accordance with our expectations. In addition, anticipated costs, level of management'’s attention
and internal resources to achieve the integration of or operate the acquired businesses may differ significantly from our current estimates resulting in failures or delays in achieving expected returns or
performance. We have previously acquired, and from time to time may make further investments in unregulated businesses on the water platform, including wastewater and water services businesses,
which may result in additional uncertainty or volatility of earnings from these businesses. If NW Holdings'
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expectations regarding the financial results of its investments in water, wastewater or water services operations prove to be inaccurate, it may adversely affect NvWW Holdings' financial position or results
of operations.

Non-Regulated RNG Risks
INVESTMENT RISK. NW Holdings’ expectations with respect to the financial results of its investments in non-regulated RNG investments are based on various assumptions and beliefs that may not
prove accurate, resulting in failures or delays in achieving expected returns.

NW Holdings’ expansion into the non-regulated RNG business is an important component of its growth strategy. Although NW Holdings expects this expansion will result in various benefits, including
providing renewable fuels to support decarbonization in the utility, commercial, industrial and transportation sectors, NW Holdings may not be able to realize these or other benefits. Achieving the
anticipated benefits is subject to a number of uncertainties, including whether the investments can be made at an expected scale, whether the investments can be monetized in the manner intended,
and whether costs to finance the investments will be consistent with expectations. Events outside of our control, including but not limited to market or regulatory changes or developments, could
adversely affect our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from building NW Holdings’ non-regulated RNG platform. The establishment and growth of a non-regulated RNG business may be
unpredictable, subject to uncertainties or changed circumstances, and such business may not perform in accordance with our expectations. In addition, anticipated costs, level of management’s
attention and internal resources to achieve the integration of the acquired investments may differ significantly from our current estimates resulting in failures or delays in achieving expected returns or
performance. As part of our business model, we may purchase RNG from third parties in a variety of structures, including on a volumes-produced basis. Conversely, we may sell RNG in a variety of
structures, including on a fixed-volume basis. This model could result in a mismatch between our purchased RNG portfolio and RNG volumes we have contracted to sell at any one time, which could
result in our obligation to procure additional RNG at then-market prices or to pay damages to satisfy RNG sales contracts to which we are a party, which amounts could be significant. For example, the
RNG purchase contract between Ohio Renewables and a subsidiary of EDL is on a volumes-produced basis, whereas Ohio Renewables’ contract for the sale of RNG from 2025 through 2042 is a fixed-
volume contract. We could additionally experience technological challenges; ineffective scalability or inability to achieve production volumes consistent with our expectations and marketing
arrangements; construction delays or cost overruns; disputes with third party business partners; risks related to markets for RNG and its associated attributes (including changes in market regulation,
behavior, or prices); the inability to receive expected tax or regulatory treatment; unsuccessful business models; or unexpected operating costs. If NW Holdings’ expectations regarding the financial
results of its investments in non-regulated RNG prove to be inaccurate, it may adversely affect NW Holdings’ financial position or results of operations.

RENEWABLES BUSINESS RISK. NW Natural Renewables is an unregulated subsidiary of NW Holdings established to pursue unregulated renewable natural gas activities. These activities are subject
to a number of risks in addition to the risks described above.

Our Renewables business is subject to risks, in addition to those described above, including:

« unpredictable production levels or performance or gas quality below expected levels, which may impact our ability to accept or deliver RNG under our contractual agreements;

«  construction risks or delays, including due to inclement weather, supply chain or labor disruptions or otherwise;

«  cost overruns and the need to commit more capital than initially budgeted as a result of environmental, construction, technological or other complications;

« weather conditions;

« changes in energy commodity prices, including pricing of, and volatility in markets for, RNG and its associated attributes;

* equipment failure, difficulties or delays in repairing or replacing equipment, technical difficulties or otherwise higher than expected operating costs;

«  regulatory, policy, and legal requirements, including environmental, health and safety laws and regulations or regulations that may impact the value of RNG and its associated attributes or our ability
to deliver RNG in the manner contemplated under our contractual arrangements;

« changes to laws or policies that may reduce demand for, or desirability of, RNG or its associated attributes;

« reliance on third parties, including for pipeline interconnection and for a sufficient supply of waste for conversion to RNG;

« catastrophic events such as fires, explosions, earthquakes, droughts, acts of terrorism and other force majeure events that may impact the Renewables business, its customers, suppliers, or other
business partners; and

« failures or delays in obtaining necessary land rights, permits, approvals or other consents required to construct and operate projects.

Significant losses, liabilities or impairments arising from these businesses may adversely affect NW Holdings' financial position or results of operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have no unresolved staff comments.
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ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Processes of Addressing Cybersecurity Threats

Cybersecurity is critical to our business. As an energy infrastructure company, we face a variety of cybersecurity threats that range from attacks common to most industries, such as ransomware and
denial-of-service, to attacks from more advanced and persistent, highly organized adversaries, including nation state actors, that target critical infrastructure sectors. We recognize the critical importance
of maintaining the safety and security of our systems and data and have a holistic process for overseeing and managing cybersecurity and related risks. The process is supported by management and
overseen by our Board of Directors.

One of the tools used by management and our Board of Directors in managing business risks is an annual enterprise risk management (ERM) assessment to identify and manage key existing and
emerging risks our company faces. Our ERM process is designed to identify significant risks relevant to the company and assess the characteristics and circumstances of the risks to identify both the
potential impacts to our company of a particular risk and the velocity with which the risk may manifest. Cybersecurity is among the risks identified in our ERM assessment and has been embedded in the
Company'’s operating procedures, internal controls and information systems.

In addition to our overall ERM process, we have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program and processes intended to detect, assess, manage, and develop resiliency
against material risks from cybersecurity threats. Our cybersecurity program utilizes a risk-based approach and includes written cybersecurity and information technology processes and procedures,
including a cybersecurity incident response plan that involves procedures for responding to cybersecurity incidents. We design and assess our program informed by various cybersecurity frameworks,
such as the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) and leverage a widely-adopted risk assessment model to identify, measure and prioritize cybersecurity and technology risks. The goal
of our program is to prevent, identify, escalate, investigate, resolve and recover from identified incidents and security incidents in a timely manner.

Our cybersecurity program also incorporates intelligence sharing capabilities about emerging threats within the utility industry and other industries through collaboration with peer companies and
specialized consultants and advisors, public-private partnerships with government intelligence agencies, including the FBI, CISA, and the Department of Energy Office of Cybersecurity, Energy Security
and Emergency Response, and geopolitical briefings. We also leverage third-party benchmarking, the results from regular internal and third-party audits, technology partner resources, threat intelligence
feeds, and other similar resources to inform our cybersecurity processes and allocate resources.

Beginning in May 2021, the Department of Homeland Security’'s (DHS) and the Transportation Security Administration (TSA) released two directives, with several updates, applicable to certain owners
and operators of pipeline facilities, including NW Natural. These directives cumulatively require owners and operators to implement cybersecurity incident reporting to the DHS, designate two
cybersecurity coordinators, and perform a gap assessment of current entity cybersecurity practices against certain voluntary TSA security guidelines and report relevant results and proposed mitigation
to applicable DHS agencies; implement a significant number of specified cyber security controls and processes; and clarifying Operational Technology (OT) scope and providing a risk- and outcome-
based framework. VWe made significant additional and accelerated investments in cybersecurity in response to the TSA directives. In November 2024, the TSA proposed regulations with the aim of
making the security directives permanent by incorporating them into the US Code of Federal Regulations.

Our cybersecurity program has several fundamental tenants, including security governance, cybersecurity risk management, compliance, defensibility, zero-trust architecture and cloud security. Ve
utilize multilayered defenses and continuous monitoring with data analytics to detect anomalies and search for cyber threats in our system.

Key components of our cybersecurity risk management program include:
risk assessments designed to help identify cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information, services, and our broader technology environment;

« the use of external service providers with specific expertise, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise assist with aspects of our security processes;

«  cybersecurity awareness training of our employees, incident response personnel and senior management, as well as periodic experiential learning through “phishing simulations”;

*  segmentation of, and back-ups for, certain of our sensitive systems and data;

« third-party cyber risk management process for vendors including, among other things, a security assessment, contracting program, and ongoing monitoring for vendors based on their risk profile;
and

«  physical security around our sensitive infrastructure and cybersystems.

In accordance with our program and processes, we regularly assess risks from cybersecurity and technology threats and monitor our information systems for potential vulnerabilities. Ve conduct regular

reviews and tests of our information security program and also utilize audits by our internal audit team and third-party consultants, table-top exercises, penetration and vulnerability testing, data recovery
testing, simulations, and other exercises to evaluate the effectiveness of our information security program
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and improve our security measures and planning. We are continuously working to evolve our oversight processes to mature how we identify and manage cybersecurity risks, and we perform periodic
maturity assessments to measure our progress.

As a regulated energy infrastructure company, for decades we have used an incident command system (ICS) as a standardized approach to the command, control and coordination of a variety of
emergency situations. In the event of emergencies, including cybersecurity events, we stand up a cross-functional Incident Command Team (ICT) to respond to the emergency. We exercise and train
the ICT for a variety of emergencies, including cyber events on a regular basis.

At this time, we have not identified any risks from known previous cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our operations, business
strategy, results of operations or financial condition. With a majority of our business in energy and infrastructure, we face sophisticated and rapidly evolving attempts to overcome our security measures
and protections. The occurrence of both intentional and unintentional incidents could occur in the future. We face certain ongoing risks from cybersecurity threats that, if realized, are reasonably likely to
materially affect us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors” above for additional information on risks related to our business,
including for example risks related to cyber attacks, information and system breaches, technology disruptions and failures, and our reliance on technology.

Cybersecurity Governance
Our Board considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function and has delegated oversight of cybersecurity and other information technology risks to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee oversees management’s implementation of the cybersecurity risk management program.

The Audit Committee receives regular reports from management on our cybersecurity risks. Additionally, management updates the Audit Committee as necessary, regarding any cybersecurity incidents.
The Audit Committee reports to the full Board regarding the Audit Committee’s areas of oversight, including those related to cybersecurity. The full Board also receives briefings from management on our
cybersecurity risk management program periodically. Additionally, our Board receives presentations on cybersecurity topics from our IT management team or external experts as part of the Board's
ongoing education.

Our management team, including our Cybersecurity management team, has primary responsibility for our overall cybersecurity risk management program, and supervises both our internal cybersecurity
personnel and our retained external cybersecurity consultants. Our Cybersecurity management team is led by Brian Fellon, our Vice President, Chief Information Officer and Chief Information Security
Officer (VP, CIO and CISO). Mr. Fellon joined NW Natural and was appointed to his role by the Board of Directors in September 2024. Mr. Fellon reports to our Chief Financial Officer. He has 28 years of
experience in information technology. Prior to joining NW Natural, Mr. Fellon served as Director of Information Technology at Puget Sound Energy in Bellevue, Washington from 2016 to September
2024, where he was responsible for applications services, artificial intelligence and data.

Mr. Fellon is supported by our Director of Cybersecurity and Compliance, and his team. Collectively our team has certifications from various organizations such as American Society for Industrial
Security, AXELOS, Cloud Security Alliance, Information Systems Audit and Control Association, International Information System Security Certification Consortium and SANS Institute.

Our cybersecurity and compliance team regularly collects data on cybersecurity threats and risk areas, monitors our systems, and conducts testing to assess our processes and procedures and the
threat landscape. Our VP, CIO and CISO receives regular updates on cybersecurity matters, results of mitigation efforts and cybersecurity incident response and remediation.

In the event of an incident, we intend to utilize our ICT and follow our detailed incident program and processes, which outlines the steps to be followed from incident detection to mitigation, recovery and
notification, including notifying relevant functional areas, as well as senior leadership and the Board, as appropriate.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

NW Natural's Natural Gas Distribution Properties

NW Natural's natural gas pipeline system consists of approximately 14,400 miles of distribution mains, approximately 700 miles of transmission mains and approximately 10,300 miles of service lines
located in its territory in Oregon and southwest Washington. In addition, the pipeline system includes service regulators and meters, as well as district regulators and metering stations. Natural gas
pipelines are located in public rights-of-way pursuant to franchise agreements, ordinances, or other legal rights, or on lands of others pursuant to easements obtained from the owners of such lands. NW
Natural also holds permits for the crossing of numerous railroads, navigable waterways and smaller tributaries throughout our entire service territory.

NW Natural owns service building facilities in Portland, Oregon, as well as various satellite service centers, garages, warehouses, and other buildings necessary and useful in the conduct of its
business. Resource centers are maintained on owned or leased premises at convenient points in the distribution system to provide service within NW Natural's service territory.

NW Natural commenced a 20-year lease in March 2020 for a headquarters and operations center in Portland, Oregon.

NW Natural's Mortgage and Deed of Trust (Mortgage) is a first mortgage lien on certain gas properties owned from time to time by NW Natural, including substantially all of the property constituting NW
Natural's natural gas distribution plant balances.

These properties are used in the NGD segment.

NW Natural's Natural Gas Storage Properties

NW Natural holds leases and other property interests in approximately 12,000 net acres of underground natural gas storage in Oregon and easements and other property interests related to pipelines
associated with these facilities. NW Natural owns rights to depleted gas reservoirs near Mist, Oregon that are continuing to be developed and operated as underground gas storage facilities. NW Natural
also holds all future storage rights in certain other areas of the Mist gas field in Oregon in addition to other leases and property interests.

NW Natural owns LNG storage facilities in Portland and near Newport, Oregon.

A portion of these properties are used in the NGD segment.

NWN Water's Distribution Properties

NVWN Water owns and maintains water distribution pipes, storage, wells and other infrastructure and wastewater treatment facilities, and holds related leases and other property interests in Oregon,
Washington, Idaho, Texas, Arizona and California. Pipelines are located in municipal streets or alleys pursuant to franchise or occupation ordinances, in county roads or state highways pursuant to
agreements or permits granted pursuant to statute, or on lands of others pursuant to easements obtained from the owners of such lands. These properties are used by entities that are aggregated and
reported as other under NW Holdings.

We consider all of our properties currently used in our operations, both owned and leased, to be well maintained, in good operating condition, and, along with planned additions, adequate for our present
and foreseeable future needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Other than the proceedings disclosed in Note 17 to Consolidated Financial Statements, we have only nonmaterial litigation in the ordinary course of business.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
NW Holdings' common stock is listed and trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol NVWN.

There is no established public trading market for NW Natural's common stock.

As of February 18, 2025, there were 3,808 holders of record of NW Holdings' common stock and NV Holdings was the sole holder of NW Natural's common stock.

For more information regarding cash dividends declared on our common stock and dividend palicies, see "Financial Condition -
Liquidity and Capital Resources' in ltem 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On October 2, 2024, NW Holdings issued a total of 11,182 unregistered shares of NW Holdings common stock as holdback consideration payable to the sellers in connection with the acquisition of Rose
Valley Water Company in Arizona. On December 16, 2024, NW Holdings issued a total of 2,179 unregistered shares to the sellers as an earnout payment in connection with the same transaction. On
October 2, 2023 and December 22, 2023, NW Holdings issued a total of 175,674 and 141 unregistered shares of common stock, respectively, to the sellers as closing consideration and post-closing
purchase price adjustment payment in connection with the acquisition of Rose Valley Water Company. In aggregate, NW Holdings has issued 189,176 unregistered shares of common stock in 2023 and
2024 in connection with its acquisition of Rose Valley Water Company.

On December 30, 2024, NW Holdings issued a total of 22,965 unregistered shares of NW Holdings common stock as holdback consideration payable to the sellers in connection with the acquisition of
Hiland Water Corp. in Oregon. On October 31, 2023 and December 29, 2023, NW Holdings issued a total of 9,158 and 142,292 unregistered shares of common stock, respectively, to the sellers as
closing consideration in connection with the acquisition of Hiland Water Corp. In aggregate, NW Holdings has issued 174,415 unregistered shares of common stock in 2023 and 2024 in connection with
the acquisition of Hiland Water Corp.

These transactions were exempt from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as transactions not involving a public offering.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table provides information about purchases of NW Holdings' equity securities that are registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, during the
quarter ended December 31, 2024:

Total Number of Shares

Purchased as Part of Maximum Dollar Value of Shares that
Total Number Average Publicly Announced Plans or May Yet Be Purchased Under the

Period of Shares Purchased™® Price Paid per Share Programs® Plans or Programs®
Balance forward 2124528 % 150,000,000
10/01/24-10/31/24 — 3 — — _
11/01/24-11/30/24 — 3 = = -
12/01/24-12/31/24 — 3 — — _
Total — 2,124528 $ 150,000,000

™ During the quarter ended December 31, 2024, no shares of common stock were purchased on the open market to meet the requirements of NW Holdings' Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase Plan. During
the quarter ended December 31, 2024, no shares of NW Holdings common stock were purchased on the open market to meet the requirements of share-based compensation programs.

(2 During the quarter ended December 31, 2024, no shares of NV Holdings common stock were repurchased pursuant to the Board approved share repurchase program. Effective May 23, 2024, NW Holdings' Board
authorized a new share repurchase program under which NW Holdings may repurchase in open market or privately negotiated transactions up to an aggregate of 5 million shares or an amount not to exceed $150 million.
The new share repurchase program is authorized to continue until the program is used, terminated or replaced. The repurchase program replaces the Company’s previously authorized share repurchase program, which
commenced in 2000 and authorized the repurchase of up to 2.8 million shares, or an amount not to exceed $100 million, in the aggregate. For more information on our share repurchase program, see Note 5.

ITEM 6. RESERVED

Not applicable.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following is management’s assessment of NW Holdings' and NW Natural's financial condition, including the principal factors that affect results of operations. The discussion covers the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 and refers to the consolidated results of NW Holdings, the substantial majority of which consist of the operating results of NW Natural. When significant activity
exists at NW Holdings that does not exist at NWW Natural, additional disclosure has been provided. References in this discussion to "Notes" are to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in
Item 8 of this report.

NW Natural's natural gas distribution activities are reported in the natural gas distribution (NGD) segment. The NGD segment also includes NWWN Gas Reserves, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Energy Corp, the NGD-portion of NW Natural's Mist storage facility in Oregon, and NW Natural RNG Holding Company, LLC. Other activities aggregated and reported as other at NW Natural include the
non-NGD storage activity at Mist as well as asset management services and the appliance retail center operations. Other activities aggregated and reported as other at NV Holdings include NNG
Financial's investment in Kelso-Beaver Pipeline (KB Pipeline); NW Natural Renewables Holdings, LLC and its non-regulated renewable natural gas activities; and NVWN Water, which through itself or its
subsidiaries, owns and continues to pursue investments in the water, wastewater, and water services sectors. See Note 4 for further discussion of our business segment and other, as well as our direct
and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES. In addition to presenting the results of operations and earnings amounts in total, certain financial measures are expressed in cents per share, which are non-GAAP
financial measures. All references in this section to earnings per share (EPS) are on the basis of diluted shares. We use such non-GAAP financial measures to analyze our financial performance
because we believe they provide useful information to our investors, analysts, and creditors in evaluating our financial condition and results of operations. Our non-GAAP financial measures should not
be considered a substitute for, or superior to, measures calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Moreover, these non-GAAP financial measures have limitations in that they do not reflect all the items
associated with the operations of the business as determined in accordance with GAAP. Other companies may calculate similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures differently than how such
measures are calculated in this report, limiting the usefulness of those measures for comparative purposes. A recongiliation of each non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measure is provided below.

2024 2023 2022
Diluted EPS - Total™ $ 203 § 259 § 2.54
Diluted EPS - NGD segment® 1.98 259 2.34
Diluted EPS - NW Holdings - other® 0.05 — 0.20

(") Total Diluted EPS is equal to the sum of Diluted EPS - NGD segment and Diluted EPS - NW Holdings — other.
(2 Non-GAAP financial measure
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

NW Holdings' financial results and highlights for the year include:

*  Reported net income of $78.9 million or $2.03 per share (diluted) for 2024 compared to $93.9 million or $2.59 per share (diluted) in the prior year, a decline primarily due to a regulatory
disallowance and regulatory lag at NW Natural for the first 10 months of 2024 until new Oregon gas utility rates were effective on November 1, 2024;

+  Added nearly 10,000 gas and water utility connections in the last twelve months for a combined growth rate of 1.1% as of December 31, 2024 mainly driven by residential customer growth across
both our natural gas and water businesses;

+ Invested $394.4 million in our utility systems to support greater reliability and resiliency;

+  Filed an Oregon general rate case for NW Natural requesting a $59.4 million revenue requirement increase to support long-planned investments in safety and reliability;

+  Closed ICH water acquisition adding wastewater and recycled water customers across Oregon, Idaho and California;

*  Announced acquisition of SiEnergy, a high-growth gas utility located in Texas, in November 2024 and subsequently closed the acquisition in January 2025;

+  EDL completed two unregulated RNG facilities and commenced delivery of RNG to NW Natural Renewables; and

» Increased our dividend for the 69" consecutive year to an annual indicated dividend rate of $1.96 per share.

Key financial highlights for NW Holdings include:

2024 2023 2022
In miflions Amount Per Share Amount Per Share Amount Per Share
Consolidated net income $ 789 $ 203 % 939 % 259 % 86.3 $ 2.54
Key financial highlights for NW Natural include:

2024 2023 2022
In miflions Amount Amount Amount
Consolidated net income $ 89.0 % 1047 $ 916
Natural gas distribution margin 601.3 57510 505.9

2024 COMPARED TO 2023. Consolidated net income decreased $15.7 million at NW Natural primarily due to the following factors:

+  $18.2 million decrease in other income, net primarily due to higher pension costs, lower interest income from invested cash, lower regulatory interest income and a decline in the equity portion of
Allowance for Funds Used During Construction (AFUDC);,

+  $13.7 million decrease due to the disallowance of undepreciated line extension costs as ordered in the 2024 Oregon general rate case;

+  $10.1 million increase in depreciation expense from continued capital investments in our system for safety and reliability;

+  $2.7 million increase in interest expense, net primarily due to higher short and long-term debt balances; and

+  $2.0million increase in general taxes primarily driven by higher regulatory commission fees; partially offset by

+  $26.3 million increase in NGD segment margin driven by new rates on November 1, 2024 for Oregon, the amortization of deferred balances and customer growth; partially offset by lower usage
from warmer comparative weather for customers not covered under the weather normalization mechanism;

+  $3.1 million increase in gas storage revenue; and

+  $1.4 million decrease in operations and maintenance expenses (excluding the regulatory disallowance) due to lower contract labor costs and lower bad debt expense, partially offset by higher
amortization expense related to cloud computing arrangements.

Consolidated net income decreased $15.0 million at NV Holdings primarily due to the following factors:

+  $15.7 million decrease in consolidated net income at NW Natural as discussed above; partially offset by

+  $0.7 million increase in other net income primarily reflecting a $4.4 million increase in net income from water and wastewater subsidiaries, partially offset by $2.3 million of acquisition costs related
to SiEnergy and higher interest expense at the holding company.

2023 COMPARED TO 2022. Consolidated net income increased $13.2 million at NV Natural primarily due to the following factors:

*  $69.1 million increase in NGD segment margin driven by new rates in Oregon and Washington, actual gas prices that were lower than what was estimated in the 2022-2023 PGA, amortization of
deferred balances (which is mostly offset in operations and maintenance expenses and interest expense), and customer growth; and

+  $15.8 million increase in other income, net primarily due to interest income from invested cash and the equity portion of AFUDC, and lower pension costs; partially offset by

+  $39.8 million increase in operations and maintenance expenses due to higher payroll costs, higher contract labor, the amortization of deferred balances (which is mostly offset in revenues),
information technology costs and amortization expense related to cloud computing arrangements;

+  $14.3 million increase in interest expense, net primarily due to higher long-term debt balances;

37

T&W 000096



+  $6.5 million increase in depreciation expense due to additional capital investments;
+  $4.8 million increase in general taxes primarily driven by higher property and payroll taxes; and
*  $4.6 million increase in income tax expense due to higher pre-tax income.

Consolidated net income increased $7.6 million at NWW Holdings primarily due to the following factors:
+  $13.2 million increase in consolidated net income at NW Natural as discussed above; partially offset by
+  $5.6 million decrease in other net income primarily reflecting higher interest expense at the holding and water companies.

CURRENT ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL CONDITIONS. We continuously review and monitor current economic conditions, which include but are not limited to: inflation and interest rates, supply chain
disruptions, and other regulatory, physical or cyber related risks impacting our business. Over the prior two years, we experienced higher material and labor costs across our businesses resulting from
high levels of inflation. In 2024, inflation has come down from these prior year highs and we have started to experience more traditional price impacts in 2024. Lead times on materials have returned to
normal levels in 2024 for most inventory items. Ve continue to look for opportunities through advanced planning to ensure inventory levels are appropriately maintained. With the improved lead times
we have been able to also increase inventory turnover and reduce the amounts of inventory needed on hand in 2024.

NW Holdings and NW Natural monitor interest rates and financing options for all of its businesses. While short-term rates increased considerably starting in 2022 and through 2023, the U.S. Federal
Reserve started reducing short-term rates in the second half of 2024 from the highs experienced in 2023. Long-term interest rates also increased in 2022 from historically low levels, however long-term
rates have since stabilized and maintained a consistent level over the past two years and are down from their highest levels in 2023. NW Natural generally recovers interest expense on its long-term
debt through its authorized cost of capital. Certain working capital items, such as the cost of gas, are deferred and accrue interest in Oregon and Washington. Additionally, short-term debt is incorporated
in the capital structure in Washington. NW Natural Water's regulated water and wastewater utilities generally recover interest expense from long-term debt through their respective authorized cost of
capital.

We continue to monitor a wide range of new policies, executive orders, rules, initiatives and other changes to fiscal, tax, regulation, environmental, climate and other federal policies that may impact NW
Natural and NW Holdings under the new U.S. Governmental Administration. Similarly, we could face significant legislative, regulatory and other policy changes at the state level or in the local
jurisdictions in which we operate.

See the discussion in "Results of Operations", "Regulatory Matters" and "Financial Condition" below for additional detail regarding all significant activity that occurred during 2024.

DIVIDENDS

NW Holdings dividend highlights include:

Per common share 2024 2023 2022
Dividends paid 3$ 19525 ¢ 1.9425 ¢ 1.9325

In January 2025, the Board of Directors of NW Holdings declared a quarterly dividend on NW Holdings common stock of $0.4900 per share, payable on February 14, 2025, to shareholders of record on
January 31, 2025, reflecting an indicated annual dividend rate of $1.96 per share.

See "Financial Condition - Liquidity and Capital Resources" for more information regarding the NW Holdings and NW Natural dividend policies and regulatory conditions on NW Natural dividends to its
parent, NW Holdings.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Regulatory Matters

Regulation and Rates

NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTION. NW Natural's natural gas distribution business is subject to regulation by the OPUC and WUTC with respect to, among other matters, rates and terms of service, systems
of accounts, and issuances of securities by NW Natural. In 2024, approximately 88% of NGD customers were located in Oregon, with the remaining 12% in Washington. Earnings and cash flows from
natural gas distribution operations are largely determined by rates set in general rate cases and other proceedings in Oregon and Washington. They are also affected by weather, the local economies in
Oregon and Washington, the pace of customer growth in the residential, commercial, and industrial markets, federal, state and local energy, policy, customer preferences and NW Natural's ability to
remain price competitive, control expenses, and obtain reasonable and timely regulatory recovery of its natural gas distribution-related costs, including operating expenses and investment costs in plant
and other regulatory assets. See "Most Recent Completed Rate Cases" below.
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MIST INTERSTATE GAS STORAGE. NW Natural's interstate storage activity at Mist is subject to regulation by the OPUC, WUTC, and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) with respect to,
among other matters, rates and terms of service. The OPUC also regulates intrastate storage services at Mist, while FERC regulates interstate storage services at Mist. The FERC uses a maximum cost
of service model which allows for gas storage prices to be set at or below the cost of service as approved by each agency in our last regulatory filing. The OPUC Schedule 80 rates are tied to the FERC
rates, and are updated whenever NW Natural modifies FERC maximum rates. See "Most Recent Completed Rate Cases" below.

OTHER. The wholly-owned regulated water businesses of NVWN Water, a wholly-owned subsidiary of NW Holdings, are subject to regulation by the utility commissions in the states in which they are
located, which currently includes Oregon, Washington, Arizona, Idaho, and Texas. The wholly-owned regulated wastewater businesses of NWWN Water are subject to regulation by the utility commissions
in the states in which they are located, which currently includes Texas and Arizona.

Most Recent Completed Rate Cases

OREGON. On December 29, 2023, NW Natural filed a request for a general rate case (Rate Case) with the OPUC. On October 25, 2024, the OPUC issued an order approving two stipulations and
resolving the remaining open items in the Rate Case. The final order provided for a total revenue requirement increase of $93.3 million over revenues from existing rates, which includes $9.6 million
related to an updated depreciation study. The revenue requirement is based on the following assumptions:

«  Capital structure of 50% common equity and 50% long-term debt;

*  Return on equity of 9.4%;

*  Cost of capital of 7.056%;

*  Cost of long-term debt of 4.712%; and

«  Average rate base of $2.09 billion or an increase of $334 million since the last rate case.

In addition to the above, the OPUC ordered the phase out of NW Natural's line extension allowance by November 1, 2027. Additionally, the OPUC ordered a downward adjustment to rate base of $13.7
million of undepreciated line extension costs, which resulted in a non-cash, pre-tax charge of $13.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2024. In December 2024, NW Natural filed an appeal with the Oregon
Court of Appeals, challenging the determination and the authority of the OPUC to take these actions.

New rates authorized by the OPUC order were effective November 1, 2024.

On October 24, 2022, the OPUC issued an order for rates effective November 1, 2022, which authorized a return on equity (ROE) of 9.4%, a cost of capital of 6.836%, and a capital structure of 50%
common equity and 50% long-term debt. The OPUC further adopted an automatic adjustment clause that allows for NW Natural's RNG project costs to be added to rates annually on November 1st,

From November 1, 2020 through October 31, 2022, the OPUC authorized rates to customers based on an ROE of 9.4% and a cost of capital of 6.965% with a capital structure of 50% common equity
and 50% long-term debt. The OPUC also authorized NW Natural to recover the expense associated with the Oregon Corporate Activity Tax (CAT) as a component of base rates.

WASHINGTON. On October 21, 2021, the WUTC issued an order concluding NW Natural's general rate case filed in December 2020 (WUTC Order). The WUTC Order provides for an annual revenue

requirement increase over two years, consisting of a 6.4% or $5.0 million increase in the first year beginning November 1, 2021 (Year One), and up to a 3.5% or $3.0 million increase in the second year

beginning November 1, 2022 (Year Two). The increase is based on the following assumptions:

*  Cost of capital of 6.814%; and

+  Average rate base of $194.7 million, an increase of $20.9 million since the last rate case for capital expenditures already expended at the time of filing, with an additional expected $31.2 million
increase in Year One, and an additional expected $21.4 million increase in Year Two, with the increases in Year One and Year Two relating to expected capital expenditures in those years.

The WUTC Order does not specify the underlying inputs to the cost of capital, including capital structure and return on equity. New rates authorized by the WUTC Order were effective November 1,
2021. In September 2023, NW Natural received a letter of compliance from the WUTC acknowledging that the Year Two rates are no longer subject to review and refund.

FERC. NW Natural is required under its Mist interstate storage certificate authority and rate approval orders to file every five years either a petition for rate approval or a cost and revenue study to
change or justify maintaining the existing rates for its interstate storage services. NW Natural filed a rate petition with the FERC in August 2023 and the revised rates were effective beginning September
1, 2023.

NW Natural continuously evaluates the need for rate cases in its jurisdictions.
Regulatory Proceeding_Updates
2025 OREGON RATE CASE. On December 30, 2024, NW Natural filed a request for a general rate increase with the OPUC. The filing includes a requested $59.4 million annual revenue requirement

increase, or an approximate 5.79% increase over current customer rates. The request is based upon the following assumptions or requests:
«  Capital structure of 48% long-term debt and 52% equity;
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*  Return on equity of 10.4%,;
*  Cost of capital of 7.658%; and
«  Average rate base of $2.29 billion.

The filing includes approximately $10 million related to an updated depreciation study and an increase in average rate base of $204 million compared to the last rate case for several long-planned
investments by NW Natural including the following:

«  Supporting reinforcement, safety and reliability of NWW Natural's distribution systems and operating facilities;

«  Upgrading technology to, among other things, further modernize NW Natural's information technology infrastructure, and enhance cybersecurity protections, and

« Investing in components of NW Natural's Mist gas storage facility, which supports service during winter heating months.

NW Natural's filing will be reviewed by the OPUC and cther stakeholders. The process is anticipated to take up to 10 months with new rates expected to take effect November 1, 2025.

Rate Mechanisms
During 2024 and 2023, NW Natural's key approved rates and recovery mechanisms for each service area included:

Oregon Washington
2024 Rate Case (effective 2022 Rate Case (effective 2021 Rate Case
11/1/2024) 11/1/2022) (effective 11/1/2021)
Authorized Rate Structure:
Return on Equity 9.4% 9.4% >
Rate of Return 71% 6.8% 6.8%
Debt/Equity Ratio 50%/50% 50%/50% >
Key Regulatory Mechanisms:
Purchased Gas Adjustment (PGA) X X X
Gas Cost Incentive Sharing X X
Decoupling X X
Weather Normalization (WARM) X X
RNG Automatic Adjustment Clause X X
Environmental Cost Recovery X X X
Interstate Storage and Asset Management Sharing X X X

**The WUTC Order does not specify the underlying inputs to the cost of capital, including capital structure and return on equity.

Annually, or more often if circumstances warrant, NW Natural reviews all regulatory assets for recoverability. If NV Natural should determine all or a portion of these regulatory assets no longer meet the
criteria for continued application of regulatory accounting, then NW Natural would be required to write-off the net unrecoverable balances against earnings in the period such a determination was made.

PURCHASED GAS ADJUSTMENT. Rate changes are established for NW Natural each year under purchased gas adjustment (PGA) mechanisms in Oregon and Washington to reflect changes in the
expected cost of natural gas commaodity purchases. The PGA filings include costs for gas purchases, gas commodity derivative contracts, gas storage costs, gas reserves costs, pipeline demand costs,
renewable natural gas and its environmental attributes, including renewable thermal certificates, and temporary rate adjustments, which amortize balances of deferred regulatory accounts.

In September 2024, NW Natural filed its annual PGAs and received OPUC and WUTC approval in October 2024. PGA rate changes were effective November 1, 2024. Rates may vary between states
due to different rate structures, rate mechanisms and hedging policies.

Each year, NW Natural hedges gas prices on a portion of NW Natural's annual sales requirement based on normal weather, including both physical and financial hedges. NW Natural entered the 2024-
25 gas year with total forecasted sales volume hedged at approximately 80%, including 64% in financial hedges and 16% in physical gas supplies. The total hedged was approximately 86% in Oregon
and 32% in Washington.

For the subsequent two gas years, NW Natural was hedged in total between 13% and 31% for annual requirements, which consists of between 14% and 34% in Oregon and 0% and 10% in
Washington. Hedge levels are subject to change based on actual load volumes, which depend to a certain extent on weather, economic conditions, and gas reserve production. Also, gas storage
inventory levels may increase or decrease with storage expansion, changes in storage contracts with third parties,
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